

National Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et

des services bibliographiques

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

NOTICE

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 395, rue Weilington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Acore Addressed

Carlie Note electro

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments. La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

AVIS

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.

Canadä

Exposure characterization and risk assessment in pharmacoepidemiology: Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and gastro-intestinal bleeding

by

Yola MORIDE

Dept. Epidemiology and Biostatistics McGill University, Montreal

October, 1992

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor in Philosophy





National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

You he webereleterce

Contine. Notice enforcement

The author has granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons. L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à disposition la des personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission. L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-87896-7



Short title:

•

.

.

Exposure characterization and risk assessment in pharmacoepidemiology

Yola Moride Ph.D. thesis

•

Dept. Epidemiology and Biostatistics McGill University, Montreal

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many people have contributed to the accomplishment of this thesis. I am particularly indebted to my supervisor, Dr. Lucien Abenhaim, for his understanding and support in all times. He has been an insightful mentor and contributed to the growth of my professional attitude. I am also indebted to the members of my dissertation committee, Drs. John Esdaile, Kenneth Flegel, Samy Suissa, and wish to acknowledge their guidance, understanding, and support.

I am grateful to Mr. Dominique Carmichael, Pierre Lefebvre, Pascal Bossé and members of the Service d'Evaluation at the Régie de l'assurance-maladie du Québec, without whom this study would not have been feasible. I thank them for their understanding in the importance of this research and the time we spent to design the linkage procedures. I also appreciate the timeliness of their collaboration in providing us with the data as well as their help with the specifics of the databases.

I wish to thank the Medical Research Council of Canada, the Fonds pour la Formation de Chercheurs et l'Avancement de la Recherche and, the Pharmacoepidemiology Fellowship Programme administered by the Faculty of Medicine of McGill University, for their financial support.

I also wish to acknowledge Susan Scott and Yvette Bonvalot for their help in the analysis of the data, Denis Gobeille for his

i

contribution in the design of the data extraction forms and Dr. Marie Beaudet for proof reading sections of the manuscript. Advices from the members of the department of Gastroenterology of the Royal-Victoria and Notre-Dame hospitals for the definition of cases are gratefully acknowledged. I thank the Royal-Victoria, Notre-Dame, Maisonneuve-Rosemont and Jewish General Hospitals for providing discharge listings and access to medical charts. The help from the medical archivists at these hospitals (Mrs. Linda Cardinal, Marie-André Gagnon, Jacinthe Rodley and Claire Fortin) was greatly appreciated.

Finally, I wish to acknowledge my mother who generously volunteered for some of the field work, and my father for his emotional support. I also wish to thank my aerobics instructors, Ms. Jody Quint and Roxanne Nelson for their help in relieving the tension in times of adversity.

STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY

The primary goal of this thesis was to link the risk of upper gastro-intestinal bleeding to antecedent use of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). The data for this study are those of the RAMO, the prescription drug database of the Quebec government. In this study, novel hypotheses on the duration of antecedent use and both risk factors for bleeding and protective factors for bleeding were evaluated. The originality of the thesis does not methodological reside in its contributions to only pharmacoepidemiologic research but also in the uniqueness of its data sources.

This thesis was the first to provide a comprehensive assessment of exposure characterization in pharmacoepidemiology by identifying patterns of drug utilization, quantifying them, and evaluating their impact in risk assessment. The analyses appraise the role of duration and recency of NSAID use allowing for the assessment of past experience with the drug as an independent risk factor of adverse event. Although previous studies on patterns of drug use described the "switching" phenomenon, they did not assess its relationship to an outcome. In addition, the methodology to include these patterns in a protocol for data analysis had to be developed. The use of patterns of drug exposure in the framework of risk assessment was unprecedented. Furthermore, the multidimensional nature of exposure to drugs was also considered. This study was the first to address simultaneously several of its

iii

components in risk assessment, namely: past experience with the drug, patterns of drug utilization, concomitant medications. Furthermore, this study was the first to document the effect of past history of gastropathy on prescribing behaviours for NSAIL3 and protective agents.

This study was the first to use, for pharmacoepidemiologic purposes, the Quebec prescription database, the largest available to date on the elderly population (700,000). The feasibility of linking the Med-Echo hospital discharge database to the RAMQ databases was also demonstrated. The complex methodology for the linkage was designed and is documented.

This study was the first pharmacoepidemiologic study to use "hard" data collected over a long term (3 years). In addition, it was the first to exploit the strengths of two sources of data: automated databases and patients medical charts. Hard data on drug exposure were obtained from the database and patients charts were reviewed to validate the diagnosis and collect information on concomitant variables.

iv

Exposure characterization and risk assessment in pharmacoepidemiology: Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and gastro-intestinal bleeding

Abstract

Exposure to drugs is a complex phenomenon. A method to characterize long term patterns of drug use amenable to analysis in the framework of risk assessment was developed. The impact of patterns was assessed with the effect of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) on upper gastro-intestinal bleeding (UGIB). A hospital based case-control study was conducted (244 cases age 68 and over, 615 matched controls). Objective data on all medications dispensed during the three years preceding admission were obtained from the Quebec prescription database. Patterns were expressed in terms of recency, duration and switches. Past use of NSAIDs was associated with a lower risk of UGIB. The risk decreased as the duration of use increased. Patients who switched products were at greater risk. Concomitant use of protective agents, history of gastropathy and current smoking increased the risk significantly. Patterns of drug utilization should therefore be considered to identify groups at high risk for an adverse event.

v

Caractérisation de l'exposition et évaluation de risque en pharmacoépidémiologie: Anti-inflammatoires non-stéroidiens et hémorragies digestives

<u>Résumé</u>

L'exposition aux médicaments est un phénomène complexe. Une méthode de caractérisation des profils d'utilisation a été développée afin d'être utilisée dans l'évaluation de risque. L'impact de ces profils a été évalué avec les anti-inflammatoires non-stéroïdiens (AINS) et les hémorragies digestives (HD). Une étude cas-témoin en milieu hospitalier a été réalisée (244 cas âgés de 68 ans et plus, 615 témoins appariés). Des données objectives sur tous les médicaments dispensés durant les 3 ans précédant l'hospitalisation ont été obtenues à partir de la base de données de prescriptions du Québec. Les profils ont été mesurés en termes de délai, durée et transfert. L'utilisation antérieure d'AINS est associée à un risque plus faible d'HD. Ce risque diminue avec une augmentation de la durée d'exposition. Les patients ayant changé de produits ont un risque plus élevé. L'utilisation associée de protecteurs gastriques, un antécédent de gastropathie et le tabagisme augmentent de façon significative le risque. Les profils d'utilisation des médicaments devraient donc être pris en compte dans l'identification des groupes à risque d'événement indésirable.

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSi
STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITYiii
ABSTRACTv
RESUMEvi
LIST OF TABLESx
LIST OF FIGURESxiii

Chapter 1:	SCOPE AND CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK1
1.1	Introductionl
1.2	Main objective
1.3	Methodological problems in pharmacoepidemiology3
1.4	Sources of data on drug use16
1.5	The problem of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory druguse and gastropathy20
1.6	Rationale
1.7	Specific objectives24

Chapter 2:	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE ON NON-STEROIDAL
	ANTI-INFLAMMATORY DRUGS AND
	GASTROPATHY

2.1	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
2.2	Review of epidemiologic evidence
2.3	Summary of evidence on NSAID-gastropathy

Chapter 3:	METHODS55
3.1	Study design
3.2	Populations
3.3	Cases
3.4	Controls
3.5	Inclusion/exclusion criteria67
3.6	Matching
3.7	Sample size
3.8	Sources of data and record linkage
3.9	Validation of data and methods82
3.10	Study variables
3.11	Time window and exposure characterization

CHAPTER 4	E: RESULTS
4.1	Description of the study population
4.2	Causes of non-eligibility128
4.3	Description of diagnoses133
4.4	Symptoms
4.5	Comparison between cases and controls
4.6	Univariate and bivariate analyses139
4.7	Logistic regression analyses155
4.8	Sensitivity analyses160
4.9	Data truncation163
4.1	0 Patterns of non-aspirin NSAID use
4.1	1 Logistic regression and stratification analyses
	of patterns

4.12	Summary	of	results	.17	'7
------	---------	----	---------	-----	----

CHAPTER 5	: DISCUSSION
5.1	Study findings
5.2	Limitations of the study241
5.3	Strengths of the study253
5.4	Generalizability of the results
5.5	Recommendations for future research
5.6	Conclusions

BIBLIOGRAPHY	, 	 	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	••••	 	 . 26

APPENDICES

A	Literature review on NSAID-gastropathy: Tables of the elements to be considered in risk assessment
В	Descriptive analyses: Additional tables

LIST OF TABLES

PAGE

TABLE

<u>Chapter 1</u> :	
1.1	Examples of existing prescription drug databases25
<u>Chapter 2</u> :	
2.1	Estimates of relative risk for the effect of NSAIDs on gastropathy published in the literature
2.2	Time windows used in published studies on NSAID-gastropathy51
2.3	Age-specific odds ratios published in the literature
2.4	Sex-specific estimates of relative risk obtained from published studies on NSAID-gastropathy53
2.5	Effect of history of gastropathy in published studies

Chapter 3:

3.1	Controls used in published epidemiologic studies on NSAID-gastropathy117
3.2	Glossary for the variables used to characterize drug utilization and history of gastropathy119
3.3	Description of the variables considered in the data analysis122

<u>Chapter 4:</u>

4.1	Structure of the study population
4.2a	Causes of non-eligibility of potential cases and controls
4.2b	Non-eligibility by case ICD-9 diagnosis
4.2c	Most frequent cause of non-eligibility by case ICD-9 diagnosis

4.3a	Most frequent cause of non-eligibility by control ICD-9 diagnosis184
4.4	Distribution of the case diagnoses
4.5	Distribution of control principal diagnoses
4.6	Distribution of symptoms of cases
4.7	Distribution of comorbidity of cases and controls188
4.8	Medical history of cases and controls
4.9	Frequency distribution of the duration of individual non-aspirin NSAID and ASA prescriptions190
4.10	Distribution of new and renewed individual prescriptions191
4.11	Distribution of individual products, 3 years before admission192
4.12	Distribution of the forms of administration of non-aspirin NSAIDs and ASA, 3 years before admission193
4.13	Exposure to NSAIDs within 30 days prior to admission194
4.14	Distribution of individual non-aspirin NSAIDs products during the 30 days prior to admission195
4.15a	Crude odds ratio for the effect of non-aspirin NSAID use on upper gastro-intestinal bleeding at different time windows
4.15b	Crude odds ratio for the effect of aspirin use on upper gastro-intestinal bleeding at different time windows196
4.16	Association between recent use of protective agents and recent use of non-aspirin NSAIDs
4.17	Distribution of recent exposure to non-aspirin NSAIDs by smoking levels
4.18	Comparison between the four markers of history of gastropathy199
4.19	Summary of bivariate analyses
4.20	Multivariate logistic regression analysis - Independent predictors of upper gastro-intestinal bleeding

4.21	The relative risk for hospitalization for upper gastro-intestinal bleeding associated with recent use of non-aspirin NSAIDs for patients with and without past use of these drugs in the last 3 years202
4.22	Multivariate logistic regression analysis - Comparison between the 4 measures of history of gastropathy203
4.23	Distribution of average daily doses of ASA within 30 days prior to admission
4.24	Multivariate logistic regression analysis - Average daily doses of ASA
4.25	Sensitivity analysis - Effect of the control diagnoses206
4.26	. Sensitivity analysis - Effect of hospitals
4.27	Sensitivity analysis - Effect of study years208
4.28	Distribution of past exposure to non-aspirin NSAIDs into 3 different time windows
4.29	Effect of data truncation: history of upper gastro-intestinal procedures as a marker for history of gastropathy
4.30	The relative risk for hospitalization for upper gastro-intestinal bleeding associated with recent use of non-aspirin NSAID use for eachpatternofduration
4.31	The relative risk for hospitalization for upper gastro-intestinal bleeding associated with recent use of non-aspirin NSAIDs for each switching pattern
4.32	Association between recent use of protective agents and duration patterns of non-aspirin NSAIDs213
4.33a	Association between history of upper gastro-intestinal procedures and duration of past non-aspirin NSAID use during the year before admission
4.33b	Association between past use of protective agents and duration of past non-aspirin NSAID use during the year before admission
4.34	The relative risk for hospitalized upper gastro- intestinal bleeding according to recency of use of non-aspirin NSAIDs

LIST	OF	FIGURES
------	----	---------

FIGURE		PAGE
<u>Chapter 1</u>	:	
1.1	Examples of timing of drug effects	27
<u>Chapter 3</u>	:	
3.1	Logistics for the linkage of data	124
3.2	Dispensing patterns of non-aspirin NSAIDs	125
3.3	Switching patterns of non-aspirin NSAIDs	126

CHAPTER 1

SCOPE AND CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

1.1 INTRODUCTION

Unlike many risk factors for a health event, exposure to drugs is heterogeneous. Patients may use a drug only once, intermittently or continuously. A drug may be a risk factor for an adverse event (AE) as well as a marker for the presence of a disease. Although pharmacoepidemiologic studies are mainly non-experimental, exposure conditions are not truly "uncontrolled" as the prescription of the drug is determined by the prescriber based on certain patient characteristics. Exposure is intentional and occurs in populations of individuals who are already sick. As a result, the complexity and variation in drug use cannot solely be expressed as a dichotomous (exposed/unexposed) variable. Rather, drug exposure is characterized by patterns of use over time. Furthermore, adding to the complexity, patients often use more than one drug concomitantly.

In the context of risk assessment, the problem is further complicated if the interest resides in the comparison of individual drugs with respect to the risk of AE. Differences between patients in baseline susceptibility or disease severity may bias observed differences in toxicity between drugs. Some patients may switch to a drug because of intolerance to another, or some drugs may be

preferentially prescribed to sicker patients. These features, specific to pharmacoepidemiology (PE), generated methodological issues, some of which addressed in the literature.

The availability of automated databases that include information on drugs dispensed to well defined populations has increased the feasibility of conducting analytic studies in non-experimental settings. Although controversies exist regarding the use of these databases in risk assessment, they do provide longitudinal data on drug exposure on a long term basis. This feature provides the empirical base to characterize patterns of drug utilization over time. Patterns of drug utilization have recently been described using data from automated databases but their impact in risk assessment remains to be determined. At present, it is not known whether patterns should be considered to identify patients at high risk for an AE. This issue is central to the scope of this thesis.

It is now well recognized that the use of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) increases the risk of gastropathy. Several epidemiologic studies have been published on this issue. Although most results favour a positive association, the magnitude varies greatly between studies. Such an uncertainty justifies the need to identify subgroups of patients at high risk. NSAIDs are widely used in the population for various indications and thus, exhibit variable patterns of utilization. It has been suggested that part of the difference observed between the various studies

could be due to the different types of exposure that were actually considered (van Staa et al., 1991). However, this hypothesis remains to be verified. NSAID-gastrotoxicity therefore provides an appropriate empirical setting to evaluate the impact of patterns of drug utilization in risk assessment. NSAID use is the greatest in the elderly population. This population is also at highest risk for side effects. Interest should therefore focus on this high risk population. Yet, very few studies on NSAID-gastropathy were conducted in the elderly population.

1.2 MAIN OBJECTIVE

The main objective of the thesis is to evaluate the impact of patterns of drug utilization in non-experimental risk assessment.

1.3 METHODOLOGICAL PROBLEMS IN PHARMACOEPIDEMIOLOGY

1.3.1 Exposure characterization

In epidemiology "individuals are considered exposed if they have been exposed to a supposed cause of disease or if they possess a characteristic that is a determinant for the health outcome of interest" (Last, 1983). In pharmacoepidemiology (PE), the determinant of interest is a drug. More specifically, it refers to its ingestion or administration. According to the definition cited above, exposure is either an event that occurred in the past (eg. asbestos) or, is a characteristic that remains unchanged over time (eg. gender). In PE, exposure is intermediate between these two extremes and varies between individuals. Exposure to drugs is a complex phenomenon: over time, individuals may start and stop the drug several times and the duration of each episode may vary.

The multi-dimensional nature of exposure may affect the assessment of the risk of adverse events (AE) in non-experimental settings as it increases the complexity of the relationship between exposure and outcome. However, the dimensions remain to be identified and methods of characterization need to be developed. These are addressed in this thesis.

Patients not only start and stop treatment but they may also switch between drugs, doses and modes of administration. Among potential reasons for switching are indication, lack of efficacy, intolerance, marketing pressure and cost. So far, three studies have been published on the description of patterns of drug utilization over time (Leufkens et al., 1990; Abenhaim et al., 1991; Walker et al. 1992). Incidentally, they all involve NSAIDs.

In the Leufkens et al. (1990) study, patterns of NSAID utilization were described in an open population. Individuals who received at least one NSAID prescription in 1987 were followed prospectively

over the year. Patterns were described in terms of total duration of use during the year and switches between products, dosages and modes of administration. The objective of this study was to describe the population of users in order to identify groups of patients at high risk for an AE.

Abenhaim et al. (1991) conducted a study to identify the predictors of switching between the various NSAIDs. Among the independent variables examined were: demographic characteristics, length of the prescription, concomitant use of protective agents and history of switches. Thus in this study, the switch was the outcome of interest.

A methodology has been proposed by Walker et al. (1992) to study switching from one product to another for the purpose of comparing toxicity between products. This study was cross-sectional and patients were not followed for any length of time. The unit of analysis was the drug. Because survival on each drug was not considered on a long term basis for each individual, switches were treated as independent variables (i.e. no distinction was made between several switches occurring in the same individual and one switch in several individuals). The objective of this study was to describe the selection process of patients receiving therapy and to document the reasons for switching. In this study, 32.7% of the switches between NSAIDs were for a lack of efficacy.

Because the study of patterns of drug utilization is very recent, published studies remain descriptive and the effect of patterns on a health outcome has not yet been determined. So far, this concept has not been applied in the framework of risk assessment. It is studied in this thesis.

1.3.2 Sources of blases in the assessment of the risk associated with drug use

History of exposure to the drug: It has been proposed that past use of the drug may be a risk modifier for current exposure (Miettinen and Caro, 1989). The risk of experiencing an AE may not be the same for a patient who has taken the drug before as for a firsttime user. Presumably, past occurrence of symptoms of the AE constitutes a contra-indication for current exposure. Therefore, the population of exposed and unexposed patients may differ with respect to their baseline risk of AE due to their experience with the drug. Furthermore, methods to characterize past exposure have been inadequately described. This concept, which has not yet been studied empirically, is addressed in this thesis.

Channeling: The population of users may be heterogeneous with respect to baseline susceptibility for the AE. As a result, it is important to identify high risk groups. The selection of one drug over another is not a random process. It is the outcome of a

decision-making process based on several factors, one of which being susceptibility. This selective process has been referred to as "channeling" (Petri and Urquhart, 1991). Empirical evidence of the channeling phenomenon has been provided by Petri et al. (1991) with beta-2 agonists prescribed for the treatment of asthma. The populations of patients on each drug differed with respect to asthma severity. As a result, a higher risk of AE may wrongly be attributed to a given drug when in fact, the population of users of that drug was more susceptible to the event. History or concomitant drug use may be used as markers of disease severity. Findings from this study showed that drug history of each patient should be taken into account in the comparison of toxicity between drugs.

Protopathic bias: Exposure to a drug may be a determinant for an AE and it may also be a marker for a disease that this drug intends to treat. When an error is made in the timing between exposure and outcome, it results in a protopathic bias. One may wrongly conclude that a drug is a risk factor for the event when in fact it was prescribed because of the presence of the event. As a result, the assessment of the risk associated with drug exposure should also consider concomitant drugs as they may modify the risk of AE. An example is the concomitant use of gastro-protective agents in the treatment with NSAIDs. Protective agents (H_2 antagonists, antacids, anticholinergics) are prescribed for the treatment of

for gastropathy (Bigelow and Collins, 1987) or as a marker for history of gastropathy (Collier and Pain, 1985; Armstrong and Blower, 1987; Jick et al., 1987). However, the effect of the concomitant use of these drugs on the risk of AE has not been addressed. As a result, the presence of a protopathic bias has not yet been demonstrated. This phenomenon is studied in this thesis.

Indication bias: The International Study on Agranulocytosis and Aplastic Anemia Study has been conducted in order to quantify the risk of agranulocytosis and aplastic anemia associated with the use of analgesics. Published results (International Agranulocytosis and Aplastic Anemia Study, 1986) generated some criticisms that were subsequently raised in the literature (Kramer et al., 1987). It was felt that the indication for the use of analgesics may also be a risk factor for the AE of interest and that the risk should have been assessed conditionally on the patient's clinical characteristics and indications. The assessment of effect modification by these variables would have allowed the identification of high risk groups. According to the critiques, indication is important because it would generate differences in patterns of drug use. Analgesics are prescribed for numerous conditions, ranging from localized pain to rheumatoid diseases. These drugs are therefore used differently for the various indications. Differences between indications in the risk of AE may be attributable to differences in the risk between the treated conditions and/or differences between patterns of use. This

possibility was raised in the critiques but was not demonstrated empirically. Differences in risk between patterns will be examined in this thesis.

1.3.3 The adverse event

The characteristics of an event associated with drug exposure may vary with respect to severity and delay of onset. The problem is further complicated by variations in the risk between subgroups of the population (sex, age...) and between individuals (comorbidity, contra-indications...). The risk of AE is therefore a complex and multi-dimensional domain. The major challenge of pharmacoepidemiologic research is to quantify this risk.

The assessment of the risk associated with drug exposure is a twostage process that involves: 1) the identification of possible adverse drug reactions and, 2) the quantification of the risk. The first is a major activity in the area of pharmacosurveillance while pharmacoepidemiology focuses on the second. Several methods may be applied to quantify the risk of AE but common to all approaches is the assessment of the risk relative to a reference risk.

The risk associated with exposure to drugs differs according to the framework: it is perceived differently by clinicians, etiologists and public-health practitioners. The different viewpoints and

their methodological implications in risk assessment and selection of risk estimators have been described by Abenhaim and Moride (1992).

1.3.4 Risk measures

Adverse events occur in various patterns depending on the type of drug and event under study. Examples of timing of the event are shown in figure 1.1. For each situation, risk assessment involves: 1) the selection of an appropriate measure to quantify the risk of the event and, 2) the comparison of the risk in the exposed with that in a reference population.

Several measures may be used to quantify the risk. These have been described extensively by O'Neill (1988) and their applications in the framework of drug-induced illnesses were discussed. The measures were: crude risk, occurrence per unit time exposure, life table and hazard rates. The hazard rate may increase, decrease, remain constant, or have complex patterns while the crude risk and the occurrence per unit time assume that the AE follows a constant hazard rate for the period of time considered.

The selection of the risk measure is dependent on the type of exposure and the delay of onset of the event. Miettinen and Caro (1989) added to this the type of persons potentially exposed. The

following table summarizes the most appropriate measure to be used for several patterns of occurrence:

Duration of Exposure	Delay of onset	Hazard function	Risk measure
Short or Constant	Short	Peak at the beginning	Crude risk
Constant	Short	Constant	Occurrence per Unit time
Variable	Short or long	No assumption	Life table
Variable	Short or long	Variable	Hazard rate

1.3.5 Time window

Given that most AE do not follow a constant hazard the crude risk is not an adequate measure. The concept of incidence density (or hazard rate) is more appropriate to describe the risk (O'Neill, 1988; Miettinen and Caro, 1989). There are 2 major underlying assumptions:

1) The shape of the risk function of exposed and unexposed individuals are identical. In the case of drug-related AE, there is no reason to believe that it is the case. The concepts and methods of analysis have been described in great detail by Miettinen and Caro (1989). According to these authors, when the

hazard functions are not proportional, the relative risk could be obtained for various time intervals following the start of therapy,

2) In the context of non-experimental risk assessment, it is assumed that early stages of the AE do not lead to changes in the exposure. Quantitatively, incidence density assumes that subjects who withdraw from treatment would have exhibited the same event rate as the noncensored subjects had they not been censored. According to this, censoring is not related to the effects of the drug. This assumption is likely to be violated in the context of drug-induced illnesses given that patients may interrupt treatment because of early symptoms of the AE. These patients would select themselves out of the population at risk. Alternatively, they may switch between drugs or use concomitant therapy. This process has not been adequately studied. The effect of this selection process on the risk is addressed in this thesis.

As stated by Miettinen and Caro (1989), history of exposure to the drug is important to take into account because it affects the shape of the hazard function. The incidence density might initially increase with duration of exposure. Then, there may be a point beyond which a selection process operates. Individuals susceptible to the event have already experienced symptoms (not the event under study) and select themselves out of the population at risk before becoming a case. As a result, the slope of the risk function becomes negative. It is therefore critical to define the time

associated with the highest risk (in other words, the section of the risk function where the slope is positive). These concepts have been described theoretically and specifically for cohort studies. Given that their application in case-control studies has not been addressed, they constitute the framework of this thesis.

The time window is the time during which an individual is considered exposed. Although cohort and case-control studies are conceptually the same (Rothman, 1986), they differ with respect to the operational definitions of the time window found in the literature. The contrasts that are discussed below are based on operational considerations rather than design issues. In published cohort studies, the width is defined in relation to the start of treatment. It is often fixed and corresponds to a predefined number of days following the initiation of therapy. In the case of NSAIDs, van Staa et al. (1992) found that the predefined time window is often too wide relative to the length of the prescription. As a result, exposure is over-estimated. This study showed that it results in an under-estimation of the effect.

In published case-control studies, an individual is considered exposed if he(she) used the drug within a predefined number of days preceding the event. In contrast to cohort studies, the time window is selected in relation to the outcome and does not consider time since initiation of treatment because drug exposure preceding the event is usually not available on a long term basis. The time

window is defined according to what is known about the idiosyncratic mechanism of the AE. The most likely delay of onset is determined and a fixed time window selected. As a result, on the day of the event the patient may still be on the drug or may have discontinued it. Relative to a time window defined in relation to the initiation of treatment (published cohort studies), the time window defined in relation to the event (published casecontrol studies) would result in an over-estimation of exposure. This could explain in part the discrepancy in the estimates of relative risks found in the literature.

In summary, several concepts must be taken into account to assess the risk associated with drug exposure. Some of them have been addressed theoretically but all remain inadequately studied. These are listed below:

1) The shape of the hazard function in order to determine the appropriate time window for the assessment of the risk,

2) The duration of exposure to control or describe differences in baseline risk,

3) The selection process (termination of treatment or switching therapy) due to early signs of the AE,

4) The effect of co-medications on the risk of AE.

So far, some of these concepts have mainly been discussed in the context of clinical trials (O'Neill, 1988) or cohort study settings (Miettinen and Caro, 1989) where the study population is followed over time. The practical implication in case-control studies has not yet been addressed. Furthermore, they have only been considered theoretically and not empirically.

These issues have not been adequately addressed in empirical settings, especially with the case-control design, largely because of the three following limitations:

1) The shape of the hazard function is not always known. Casecontrol studies can be conceptualized as an efficient follow-up study where cases and controls are sampled (Rothman, 1986). However, in practice, this design is not amenable to describe the hazard function, likely to be non-proportional between exposed and unexposed, because there is no information on the patients lost to follow-up.

2) Because previous experience with the drug may have an effect on the risk, cases and controls may differ with respect to susceptibility. Intuitively, it may be that controls are no longer representative of the population that generated the cases given that they would include more non-susceptible individuals as well as

those who selected themselves out of the population at risk before developing the event. Cases, on the other hand, would include the most susceptible individuals.

3) Duration of drug use cannot be used as a marker for indication given that it is expressed in relation to an outcome and not to initiation of treatment. The implication is that duration subgroups are heterogeneous with respect to indication. For example, short-time users include patients who only require the drug for a short time as well as those whose indication is supposed to be chronic but they developed the event under study early in the course of the treatment.

In this thesis will be developed methods to identify high risk groups with respect to susceptibility to AE even in the absence of a hazard function (especially using the case-control design) and to quantify the selection bias attributable to susceptibility. Ultimately, conclusions regarding the impact of these methods in risk assessment will be made.

1.4 SOURCES OF DATA ON DRUG USE

Three major sources of data on drug use can be identified: 1) market surveys, 2) third-party automated databases, 3) institutional and ambulatory databases. These sources have been

described by Melnychuk et al. (in press). A summary of the strengths and weaknesses of each of these sources is found in table 1.1. Databases are only useful for analytic research if information on drug exposure can be linked to an outcome or a marker of it.

To these sources can be added information on drug use obtained by questionnaire to the patients. These are usually collected in the course of a specific epidemiologic study. Overall, the major sources of data used in current pharmacoepidemiologic research are third-party databases and patient interviews. Studies relying on patient interviews usually consider consumption as exposure while those relying on automated databases consider dispensing, a marker for consumption. Individually, none of these sources are comprehensive.

The use of third-party databases in pharmacoepidemiologic research has been criticized by Shapiro (1989). The main areas of criticism were:

1) Lack of information on potential confounders (such as indication, smoking, alcohol consumption and over-the-counter drug use),

2) No validation of the outcome which can only be achieved by chart review,

3) Accurate information on duration and timing (time between exposure and event) can only be obtained from the patient.

From this paper was initiated a debate in the literature (Faich and Stadel, 1989; Strom and Carson, 1989; Jick and Walker, 1989; Tilson, 1989). The responses to the criticisms may be summarized as follows:

1) It has not been documented that patient interviews are more appropriate to ascertain exposure to drugs (Faich and Stadel; Strom). A poor agreement between actual medication use and that ascertained by interviews was reported. Moreover, interviews are subject to recall bias (Strom),

2) Epidemiologic studies based on interviews are not likely to provide answers in a timely and cost-effective fashion (Faich and Stadel),

3) In the current settings, studies based on automated databases have access to medical records and thus, the diagnosis can be validated (Strom).

The major response to Shapiro was that his criticisms on databases were design issues and not inherent to the databases themselves.

It is true that some information on potential confounders (such as

smoking and alcohol consumption) cannot be obtained from automated databases. However, a strategy has been developed in an attempt to minimize the problem (Ray et al., 1989; Griffin et al., 1991). In studies where the diagnosis of cases is validated by chart review, information on potential confounders also available in the charts may be ascertained at the same time. The underlying hypothesis is that if there is no association between the potential confounder and exposure among the cases, then there is no association in the controls. This assumption allows to rule out confounding but not to assess effect modification.

Other important methodological issues have never been addressed in the debate and could be central to risk assessment:

1) It is feasible with databases to ascertain the study population on the basis of exposure and achieve a follow-up over time. If exposure data are linked to an outcome, then these offer the opportunity to describe empirically the hazard function of the AE following initiation of drug therapy. This would allow to define the most appropriate time window to estimate the risk,

2) An important feature of automated databases is the availability of longitudinal hard data on drug exposure for each individual. As such, it is possible to derive the various utilization patterns of drug use in terms of discontinuation (selection out of the population at risk), switches between products and co-
prescriptions.

So far, no published studies have used these features in the framework of risk assessment. In conclusion, the criticisms of automated databases have been more on design issues which are independent of the data source itself. Well designed studies based on automated databases can be found in the literature. The major caveat is that so far, pharmacoepidemiologic studies, in the most part, have not taken advantage of one of the major strength of automated databases: the availability of hard and longitudinal data on drug use.

1.5 THE PROBLEM OF NON-STEROIDAL ANTI-INFLAMMATORY DRUG USE AND GASTROPATHY

Some of the concepts and methodological problems specific to pharmacoepidemiology have been presented in the sections above. In order to gain empirical content, these will be applied to the problem of NSAIDs and gastropathy. This problem was specifically chosen because it has been widely studied and yet, uncertainties remain regarding the assessment of the risk. Furthermore, the patterns of drug utilization that have been described in the literature apply to NSAIDs. Although a variety of AE are associated with NSAIDs, the majority of published studies are on gastropathy.

It is now well recognized that NSAIDs increase the risk of upper gastro-intestinal bleeding (UGIB). However, there is a large variation in the estimates of relative risk (RR) published in the literature. Estimates obtained from case-control studies range from 1.1 (Henry et al., 1987) to 7.4 (Holvoet et al., 1991) while those obtained from cohort studies are smaller: 1.2 (Jick et al., 1987) and 1.5 (Carson et al., 1987). Such a large variation motivates the identification of high risk groups. NSAID use and NSAID side effects are the highest in the elderly population. Yet, only a limited number of studies have focused on this high risk population.

Patterns of NSAID use over time have been described empirically in terms of duration and switches between products (Leufkens et al., 1990; Abenhaim et al., 1991; Walker et al., 1992), doses and modes of administration (Leufkens et al., 1990). However, they have not yet been considered in an analytic framework, namely in risk assessment of an AE.

In a cohort study, it was found that the risk of UGIB appears to increase until the fourth prescription and decrease thereafter (Carson et al., 1987). Recently, in case-control studies, the risk of UGIB decreases as the duration of exposure increases (Levy et al., 1988; Griffin et al., 1991). So far, duration of past exposure was assessed only in patients who were currently exposed. As such, chronic users were more likely to be currently exposed

(length-biased sampling). If most cases of UGIB have their onset early in the course of the treatment, chronic users are likely to include mostly tolerant individuals. Consequently, it would bias the measure of the risk towards the null (Kramer et al., 1987). Because in these studies, duration of past exposure was not recorded in the unexposed, it was not possible to distinguish between the effect of current exposure to NSAIDs and the differences in baseline risk between the various duration subgroups. In this thesis, a method to partition both effects is proposed.

Only a limited number of studies have examined the effect of comedications, such as gastro-protective agents, but none were conducted in the elderly population. Timing of exposure to these drugs and exposure to NSAIDs varied between studies and none have examined their concomitant use.

1.6 RATIONALE

. . . .

Several methodological issues specific to pharmacoepidemiology have been raised in the literature. Some of them, such as indication and channeling biases, have been addressed empirically. It has been suggested that past experience with the drug of interest or co-prescriptions may have an effect on the risk of AE. However, such effects have not yet been demonstrated. In addition, an

increase in the resolution of the characterization of experience with a drug may be achieved by considering patterns of drug utilization over time. Such patterns have been described prospectively in a limited number of studies but their effect in the assessment of the risk of AE has not been addressed. Because of the lack of data on the long-term use of drugs, a comprehensive assessment of the effect of gastro-protective agents on the risk associated with NSAID use has not yet been obtained. NSAIDgastropathy has been widely studied but a great uncertainty remains concerning the magnitude of the risk and the identification of high risk groups. This study therefore intends to examine the effect of patterns of NSAID utilization on the risk of UGIB. A method to characterize patterns amenable to analysis in the framework of risk assessment is proposed.

A database on prescriptions dispensed to all Quebec elderly residents has been created by the Régie de l'assurance-maladie du Québec (RAMQ). Hard data on prescribed medications is available from the largest dataset extant in the elderly. The use of this database for pharmacoepidemiologic purposes is unprecedented. The variation in the mode of utilization of NSAIDs on a long term basis has not been previously quantified in this population.

1.7 SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES

The specific objectives of the thesis are to:

1) Characterize patterns of drug utilization that are clinically relevant, quantifiable and amenable to risk assessment studies,

2) Develop a database suitable for the quantification and the study of patterns in the province of Quebec,

3) Apply the concept of patterns in a well-studied problem in order to contribute to the comprehension,

4) Provide empirical evidence of the presence of biases described in theory in the literature but not yet demonstrated,

5) Determine if NSAIDs increase the risk of gastropathy in the Quebec elderly population, using a unique data source,

6) Describe the variation in the mode of utilization of NSAIDs in the Quebec elderly population.

24

Data Source	Size	Source Populations	Drug Range	Owner/Accessibility	Comments
<u>Market surveys</u> 1. IMS America Ltd. a) Nat'l prescriptions aid	1400 computerized pharmacies 600 non-computerized	Customers at sampled pharmacles	All prescribed medi- cations, No OTC	Private/Avallable for cost	- The prescription is the sampling unit - Representative sample - Number of users must be estimated - No information on indication - No information on usage of medical services - Cross-sectional, no history on drugs taken
 b) Nat'l disease therapeutic index 		Patlents of sampled physicians	All out-patients prescriptions No OTC	Privale/Available for cost	 The prescription is the sampling unit Number of users must be estimated Information on indication
2. Nat'i disease prescriptions card service	839 pharmacies 4 million prescriptions per month	Customers at sampled pharmacles	All out-patient prescriptions No OTC	Private/ Available for cost	- The prescription is the sampling unit - Number of users must be estimated
<u>Third party</u> RAMQ (Quebec)	700,000 elderly	Quebec elderly residents	Drugs included in formulary	Government/On demand with cost	 All Quebec elderly residents Longitudinal data Linkage with morbidity databases No in-patients prescriptions
Saskatchewan	1.1 million people 3.7 million prescriptions accumulated since 1975	Saskalchewan residents	Drugs included in formulary (1600)	Government/On demand with cost	 All Saskatchewan residents Longitudinal data Linkage with morbidity and mortality databases No in-patient prescriptions
CUMPASS	10 states approx. 8 million people	Medicald enrollees	All prescriptions	Government/On demand with cost	 Non uniform populations across states Skewed population Loss of follow-up because of eligibility changes

TABLE 1.1 Examples of existing prescription drug databases

Data Source	Size	Source Populations	Drug Range	Owner/Accessibility	Comments
<u>Hospital based</u>	Varlable	Hospital catchment population	In-patient prescriptions	Institution/Collaboration with institution	 Selected population Selected conditions Information on indications
<u>Diseaso-specific</u> ARAMIS	23,000 patients	Patients with rheumatologic conditions followed in 17 centers (U.S.A. and Canada)	All prescriptions Some OTC* but not systematic	American Rheumatism Association	 Prospective and systematic follow-up of patients cohorts Longitudinal data Comprehensive follow-up Laboratory, therapeutic and other quantitative data
HIVIS (Human Immunodeficiency Virus Information System)	3,000 PWA** 500 PWHIV	Maryland residents who are in the HIV registry	All prescriptions	Government	- Longitudinal - Linkage with: vital records, public/private Insurance companies, institution/community- based services, Medicald, Maryland Pharmacy Assistance Programme

TABLE 1.1 (cont'd) Examples of existing prescription drug databases

*OTC = over-the-counter drugs ** PWA = Persons with AIDS

Source: Melnychuk et al. (in press), reproduced with permission.

FIGURE 1.1

Examples of timing of drug effects



Acute, Immunologic/Idiosyncratic



CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE ON

NON-STEROIDAL ANTI-INFLAMMATORY DRUGS AND GASTROPATHY

2.1 NON-STEROIDAL ANTI-INFLAMMATORY DRUGS

Extent of use: NSAIDs are first-line therapy for the treatment of musculoskeletal diseases. They are one of the most commonly used groups of drugs in North America (Swift et al., 1989; Roth, 1989; Fries et al., 1989). In 1987 alone, 10.6 million NSAID prescriptions were written in Canada (Gabriel and Bombardier, 1990). In Quebec, 35% of elderly residents filled at least 1 NSAID prescription in 1988 (Moride and Abenhaim, 1990).

NSAIDs and gastrotoxicity: Despite their efficacy, a number of side-effects are associated with NSAIDs, the most well known being gastropathy. The association is widely recognized and has motivated a strong class labeling specific for chronic use by the Food and Drug Administration (U.S.A.), the Committee on Safety of Medicines (U.K.), the Health Protection Branch (Canada) and the Commission Nationale de Pharmacovigilance (France).

The magnitude of the problem in the U.S. has recently been documented by Fries et al. (1991). The current number of NSAID users is 13 million and the total annual number of GI

hospitalizations in these patients is 76,000 (at a cost of \$ 3.8 billion/year). The number of GI deaths ranges from 7,600 to 20,000 deaths per year. NSAID-gastrotoxicity has been referred to by Fries as the "second most deadly rheumatic disease". The wide use of NSAIDs due to the high prevalence of arthritic conditions among the elderly represents a serious public health problem.

Mechanism of toxicity: Two mechanisms of GI toxicity have been proposed: a local irritation and a systemic effect. Aspirin has been known for a long time to act as a mucosal irritant while the effect of non-aspirin NSAIDs (NANSAIDs) appears to be mainly systemic, through the inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis (O'Brien and Brunham, 1985; Cockel, 1987; Doherty, 1989).

2.2 REVIEW OF EPIDEMIOLOGIC EVIDENCE

A plethora of articles have been published on NSAIDs and gastropathy. However, only a limited number focuses on the elderly population. The purpose of this literature review is two-fold. First, it provides an update on the "state-of-the art" on this issue by reviewing the publications most frequently cited in the last 10 years, with the intent to identify the areas in need of further research. Second, the literature was reviewed in order to identify the variables that should be considered in an observational epidemiologic study on NSAID-gastropathy.

A thorough appraisal of the evidence would be lengthy and not directly related to the scope of this thesis. However, it was shown to be necessary to select the relevant covariates as well as to identify some of the deficiencies. A thorough review of the literature with an emphasis on the quantitative evaluation of the evidence can be found in appendix A. In this chapter are summarized the major elements to be considered in the study of NSAIDs in the elderly population. The evidence directly related to the scope of the thesis, i.e. exposure characterization, is described in greater detail.

2.2.1 Association between NSAIDs and gastropathy

It is now well recognized that NSAIDs increase the risk of gastropathy. A review of the estimates of relative risk obtained from various studies was done by Hawkey (1990) and Gabriel et al. (1991). However, the effect NSAIDs is not so well known in the elderly population. As shown in table 2.1, a large variation exists between the estimates of relative risk associated with nonaspirin NSAID use in the elderly published in the literature, ranging from 2.9 (Henry et al., 1991) to 11.54 (Collier and Pain, 1985). The risk associated with ASA in the elderly was quantified in only 1 study (Laporte et al., 1991) and could be computed from data published in another (Levy et al., 1988). Estimates of relative risk were 6.7 and 3.07, respectively. A number of factors

may be responsible for the discrepancy: study design, base population, definition and ascertainment of the outcome, definition and ascertainment of the exposure. Because several factors may contribute simultaneously to the difference, it is not possible to extract the independent effect of each. Studies have been compared with respect to these methodological elements and summary tables may be found in Appendix A. The major elements are discussed below.

2.2.2 Study design

Three designs have been identified among the studies reviewed: case-control, cohort and nested case-control. All studies conducted in the early 1980's were case-control, the majority being hospital-based. At the end of the 1980's, the emergence of automated databases made the conduct of cohort studies feasible.

2.2.3 Gastropathy

Definition: The term "upper gastrointestinal bleeding" is very broad and non-specific. The relative contribution of NSAIDs in the set of sufficient causes may vary according to the pathology considered. The conditions varied with respect to severity, ranging from GI bleeding (Bartle et al., 1986) to life threatening

(Armstrong and Blower, 1987) or fatal peptic ulcer complications (Henry et al., 1987).

Validation: UGIB may be caused by a variety of underlying pathologies, not necessarily a gastropathy. Rupture of oesophageal varices and Mallory-Weiss syndrome are examples of sufficient causes. In order to rule out these other pathologies, diagnostic confirmation procedures have been performed. Gastroscopy appeared to be the method of choice (Clinch et al., 1983; Bartle et al., 1986; Duggan et al., 1986; Guess et al., 1988; Laporte et al., 1991; Griffin et al., 1991; Holvoet et al., 1991). Other methods were surgery, autopsy, radiology and roentgenogram (Collier and Pain, 1985; Guess et al., 1988; Griffin et al., 1991). Some of the studies based on chart review used discharge summaries only, with no other documentation (Henry et al., 1987; Jick et al., 1987; Levy et al., 1988). There was no attempt to confirm the diagnosis in 4 studies (Coggon et al., 1982; Beard et al., 1987; Carson et al., 1987; Beardon et al., 1989). Griffin et al. (1991) reported that 43% of potential cases initially ascertained from discharge diagnoses were eligible after chart review, which emphasizes the importance of diagnosis validation in the study of gastropathy.

Method of ascertainment: In the majority of studies, the outcome was ascertained from admission or discharge diagnoses, which is consistent with the fact that most studies were hospital based. Other methods were billing data for medical services (Carson et

al., 1987; Bigelow and Collins, 1989), or referral to the gastroenterology clinic (Clinch et al., 1983).

Ascertainment from admission diagnoses may be subject to referral bias if NSAID users were more likely to be admitted. Ascertainment from billing data includes non severe events that could be subject to diagnostic bias (i.e., more likely to be diagnosed in NSAID users). On the other hand, it has been documented that NSAID-related ulcers tend to be silent (Hawkey, 1990). If cases of gastropathy are ascertained solely on the basis of gastroscopic findings, detection bias would occur if NSAID users were more likely to undergo gastroscopy, which would lead to the detection of more silent ulcers in exposed patients. As a result, the strength of the association between NSAID use and gastropathy would be biased away from the null.

In principle, studies should therefore be restricted to severe events with the presence of symptoms in order to: 1) minimize referral bias and, 2) minimize the over-representation of silent ulcers in exposed cases. However, the presence of such biases has only been hypothesized and never verified empirically. Moreover, it is necessary to validate the diagnosis in order to rule out bleeding of known etiology (eg. Mallory-Weiss syndrome etc.).

2.2.4 Exposure to NSAIDs

As well, differences in the definition, characterization and ascertainment of exposure to NSAIDs may contribute to the heterogeneity of the measures of association between NSAID use and gastropathy. A comparative table of the various methods of exposure characterization found in the reviewed studies is included in Appendix A.

Definition: There is a fair amount of variation between studies in what is defined as exposure to NSAIDs; the consequence being that an individual who is considered exposed in one study may not be in another. The definition usually includes the following 2 components: 1) inclusion or exclusion of aspirin, 2) the width of the time window.

Based on the difference in the mechanism of GI toxicity (systemic effect versus mucosal irritant), it seems relevant to distinguish between the effect of ASA and NANSAIDS. Some studies have considered NANSAIDs only (Somerville et al., 1986; Beardon et al., 1989; Griffin et al., 1991), while in others, ASA was distinguished from the rest of the NSAIDs (Henry et al., 1987; Laporte et al., 1991; Holvoet et al., 1991).

Exposure quantification: The resolution of exposure quantification varied between studies and can be described in terms of the number of categories of NSAID use. Although the use of individual products has been recorded in several studies (Somerville et al., 1986; Armstrong and Blower, 1987; Beard et al., 1987; Jick et al., 1987; Bigelow and Collins, 1988; Henry et al., 1991), the majority have expressed exposure to NSAIDs as a dichotomous variable (use and non-use) in the analysis.

In some studies, the resolution of exposure was higher by being multicategorical. Categories were created on the basis of the following axes: recency of use (Coggon et al., 1982; Griffin et al., 1991), product combination (Duggan et al., 1986), recency of use and frequency (Levy et al., 1988), mode of action (long- versus short-acting) (Bigelow and Collins, 1989). Other components such as dose (Carson et al., 1987; Bigelow and Collins, 1988; Laporte et al., 1991), route and duration (Armstrong and Blower, 1987; Jick et al., 1987; Griffin et al., 1991) have not been incorporated in the categories but have been considered as covariates in a multivariate analysis.

A greater number of categories allows to better define the risk associated with NSAID use but it also results in a loss of statistical power. The majority of studies that did consider multicategorical exposure had a limited number of study subjects and consequently, reported measures of association with very wide

confidence intervals.

Patterns of use: Exposure was characterized in greater details in 3 studies by considering patterns of NSAID use over time. Patterns have been described for NANSAIDs by Leufkens et al. (1990) and Abenhaim et al. (1991) in a sample of the Dutch population. In former studies, users were distributed as follows: 74.0% incidental (< 30 days/year), 21.2% regular (31-210 days/year) and, 4.8% heavy users (>210 days/year). Of patients with more than 1 prescription, 71.1% switched at least once during the year. The most common switch was towards another product (42.2%), followed by dose considerably less, towards another (36.2%)and form of administration (3.5%). Walker et al. (1992) described switches between NANSAIDs, using the prescription as the unit of analysis. It was found that 16% of repeat prescriptions were a switch. There was no association between switches and sex, and switches and indication. On the other hand, switches occurred more often in the young population. Compared to the Leufkens et al. study, an additional condition was imposed: the repeat prescription had to be dispensed within 60 days. This difference may explain in part the observed discrepancy between the 2 studies. Abenhaim et al. (1991) investigated the factors that predicted switching. Among them were previous switches and length of prescription. It was not influenced by age, sex, co-prescriptions and use of protective agents. Switching was also a predictor of future switch and change of physician. So far, patterns have not been adequately described

in the elderly population.

It is important to mention that none of these studies have quantified the effect of patterns of NSAID use on gastropathy. This creates a major deficiency as the relevance of this method of exposure characterization has not yet been investigated in the framework of risk assessment.

Exposure ascertainment: Exposure to NSAIDs has been ascertained from 3 different sources: 1) interview to the patients, 2) chart review and, 3) computerized databases.

Most case-control studies were based on interviews or case notes. For current drug exposure, a 97% agreement between interviews and records has been reported by Laporte et al. (1991). In some studies, the resolution of exposure quantification exceeded the accuracy of the information. For example, details on dose (Laporte et al., 1991) obtained by interview or request for information for up to 6 months (Bartle et al., 1987) are not expected to be as accurate, especially in the elderly population. When community controls were used (Coggon et al., 1982; Somerville et al., 1986), non-comparability of information occurs because of differences in interview settings. Blinding was not specified in any of the studies reviewed, which could result in non-differential misclassification of exposure between cases and controls.

Exposure to NSAIDs has also been ascertained from third-party computerized databases. This source was used in all cohort studies. It provides data that are non-differential between cases and controls but there is no information on over-the-counter (OTC) use of drugs. This source was only used in one study involving the elderly (Griffin et al., 1991).

2.2.5 Risk quantification

Time window: Not one study has described the hazard function of gastropathy related to NSAID use. This deficiency precludes the ability to define accurately a time window for the risk period following the initiation of therapy. At present, the cut-off point is selected semi-intuitively based on the mechanism of action and delay of onset of the events. The various time windows considered in the literature are shown in table 2.2. In case-control studies, the width was selected a priori in relation to the event, ranging from the day of the event to 1 year before. In cohort studies, a maximum was set after the initiation of treatment (usually 30 days) but the width varied within the defined time window according to individual follow-up. Usually, it was the time between the date of NSAID dispensing until the date of the next dispensing, the date of the event, the number of days of treatment prescribed or the maximum (Guess et al., 1988). If a time window of 30 days is indeed too wide according to van Staa et al. (1992), then the majority of

the studies underestimated the effect of NSAID use. Differences in the width of the window may partly explain differences in estimates of relative risk.

An attempt was made to partition the time window in order to find the periods at greater risk by including duration (Carson et al., 1987; Levy et al., 1988; Griffin et al., 1991) and recency (Levy et al., 1988; Griffin et al., 1991).

The risk of gastropathy following exposure to NSAIDs has been expressed as a function of recency, duration, frequency and dose. Each of these dimensions is discussed below.

Recency: Griffin et al. (1991) reported that recent users of NSAIDs (within 30 days of the event) were at greater risk than former users (discontinuation of therapy for more than 60 days before the event): The respective ORs were 4.1 (3.5-4.7) and 1.3 (1.1-1.6). A similar trend was reported for ASA by Levy et al. (1988): 15.0 (6.4-34.0) versus 1.6 (0.6-4.2) if the drug was discontinued for more than 7 days before. These results suggest that the risk function is non proportional for exposed and unexposed individuals, and that the magnitude of the association is greatly diminished after the interruption of treatment.

The results described above clearly indicate that there is a

39

 $\kappa = h$

critical time after discontinuation of the drug when the risk becomes almost non-existent. It is not clear, however, from published data what is the length of time after discontinuation.

Duration response: It has been hypothesized that the risk of gastropathy decreases with an increase in duration of exposure due to the depletion of susceptible patients (Miettinen and Caro, There may be a point beyond which a selection process 1989). operates whereby individuals susceptible to gastropathy have already experienced symptoms (not the event under study) and select themselves out of the population at risk before becoming a case. As a result, the slope of the risk function would become negative. Duration of use has been expressed as a categorical variable in month intervals (Levy et al., 1988), or as number of prescriptions (Carson et al., 1987). Results are somewhat conflicting. The selection process may occur after the first 4 prescriptions (Carson et al., 1987), after 11 months (Levy et al., 1988), or during the first 30 days of therapy (i.e. first prescription) (Griffin et al., 1991). Nevertheless, in all studies the risk was inversely proportional to duration, with the exception of the Holvoet et al. (1991) study where there was no difference between cases and controls in duration of exposure.

It is important to note that duration was only ascertained in the recently exposed individuals. The heterogeneity in the observed risk therefore reflects both the difference in baseline risk

between chronic and occasional users, as well as the difference in the relative contribution of current NSAID use on the risk of gastropathy. Data from the literature do not allow to partition the effect of current exposure and duration. In other words, it cannot be assessed whether duration is a confounder or an effect modifier. The independent effect of the selection of susceptible patients out of the population at risk on the occurrence of UGIB can therefore not be quantified from published data.

Frequency of use: In the context of NSAID use, a large variation exists in the frequency of use because of the wide variety of indications. Frequency was used to define exposure and baseline level (Duggan et al., 1986), or was used to create 2 categories of exposure (Jick, 1981; Levy et al., 1988): heavy and occasional. Heavy users were at greater risk than occasional users. Odds ratios of 15.0 and 5.6, respectively, were reported by Levy et al.(1988) which suggests an accumulation effect.

Dose response: The dose of individual units of administration was ascertained from computerized databases. Dose categories were either data-based (Carson et al., 1987), a fraction of the recommended daily dose according to the Physicians' Desk Reference (Bigelow and Collins, 1989), or a fraction of the minimum daily dose recommended for rheumatoid arthritis (Griffin et al., 1991). All studies agreed that the risk increases with increasing doses. The dose-response was linear in the Carson et al. (1987) study.

2.2.6 Confounders, risk and effect modifiers

Variables such as age, sex, comedications, indication, comorbidity, smoking, alcohol consumption and less frequently, SES, have been considered as potential confounders. A quantitative review of the literature was made in order to assess whether there is enough empirical evidence to support this practice (appendix A).

It is typical in epidemiologic studies to consider age and sex as stratifying variables. In the domain of pharmacoepidemiology, it is very intuitive to consider these variables because it is widely recognized that drug utilization and the risk of adverse events both vary with age. In addition, these variables are important because of their relevance in describing high risk groups.

Age: Age was considered in all studies reviewed. The proportion of NSAID use differed between the age categories, the heaviest use being found in the older age group (Armstrong and Blower, 1987; Carson et al., 1987). As well, as shown in table 2.3, estimates of relative risk are heterogeneous between age groups which suggests that age is a strong effect modifier in the association between NSAID use and gastropathy.

Sex: As shown in table 2.4, the association between NSAID use and gastropathy, the association seems greater for women, with the

exception of the Armstrong and Blower (1987) and Laporte et al. (1991) studies. However, there is not enough evidence to conclude that sex is an effect modifier. The absolute number of cases increases with age but the percentage of cases taking NSAIDs only increased in those age over 65, especially women (Collier and Pain, 1985). It was concluded that the elderly, especially women, appeared to be more susceptible to the effects of NSAIDs.

History of gastropathy: History of ulcer disease was considered in several studies, either by exclusion or stratification. Results, shown in table 2.5, seem to favour a positive association between prior history of gastropathy and UGIB, and a negative association between prior history and current NSAID use (Armstrong and Blower, 1987; Griffin et al., 1991). It did not appear to be an effect modifier in the Laporte et al. (1991) study (OR for NSAID use and UGIB: 7.4 versus 8.0, for negative and positive history, respectively). The confounding or modifying effect of this factor remains to be explored further.

Protective agents: Because the association between NSAIDs and gastropathy is now well recognized in the medical community, protective agents (such as antacids, H_2 antagonists, misoprostol, sucralfate etc.) are sometimes prescribed for prophylaxis in patients thought to be at risk for a gastropathy. As a result, current use of these drugs may modify the risk of gastropathy. On the other hand, history of gastropathy appears to increase the risk

of UGIB. Prior use of these agents have been used as a marker for history of gastropathy (Collier and Pain, 1985; Armstrong and Blower, 1987; Beard et al., 1987) or as outcome definition (Bigelow and Collins, 1987).

The effect of protective agents ever used during 1 year on gastropathy was significant in the Jick et al. (1987) study: 5.1 (2.6-10.0). However, the effect of protective agents used before NSAID exposure was not significant in the Carson et al. (1987) study: 1.1 (0.6-2.3). None of the studies examined the effect of the concomitant use of these agents on the risk of gastropathy.

Comedications: Some medications are known to predispose to gastropathy or GI bleeding. Anticoagulants and corticosteroids were usually the comedications of interest. In addition, Griffin et al. (1991) considered antineoplastic drugs. Carson et al. (1987) found that the use of anticoagulants increased the risk significantly (OR=2.8; 95% CI 1.4-5.6) while there was no risk associated with corticosteroid use. Griffin et al. (1991) found that the inclusion of these drugs in the multivariate model did not significantly affect the measure of association between NSAID use and UGIB.

Concomitant conditions: A limited number of studies have assessed the effect of other conditions that could potentially predispose to UGIB such as alcohol-related conditions (Armstrong and Blower,

1987; Carson et al., 1987; Guess et al., 1988). An adjusted relative risk of 3.1 (2.0-4.9) was reported by Carson et al. (1987). However, when this variable was added in the multivariate model, alcohol-related diagnoses were not confounders. Armstrong and Blower (1987) found that cardiovascular diseases were twice as common among NSAID users, which indicates an association between comorbidity and exposure. The validity of the assessment of the effect of comedications and comorbidity was compromised by the lack of a priori hypotheses and adjustment for multiple comparisons.

Indication was considered mainly by stratification. A greater proportion of osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis was found among elderly cases than controls (Collier and Pain, 1985). However, in the study by Bartle et al. (1986), there were no differences in indications between cases and controls. The addition of indication in the multivariate model did not change the effect of NSAIDs on UGIB (Carson et al., 1987). So far, findings from the literature do not provide empirical evidence of confounding by indication.

Alcohol consumption was recorded in several studies on NSAIDgastropathy (Coggon et al., 1982; Clinch et al., 1983; Bartle et al., 1986; Somerville et al., 1986; Levy et al., 1988). Although large amounts of alcohol consumption are associated with gastropathy (Tarnawski et al., 1982), its role as a confounder or

an effect modifier in the association between NSAID use and gastropathy remains unclear.

Smoking: The association between smoking and gastropathy remains unresolved. A positive association was found by Somerville et al. (1986) but the 95% C.I. included the null. The estimates of relative risk were: 1.30 (0.88-1.91) and 1.50 (1.00-1.25), respectively for hospital and community controls. In other studies, there was no significant difference between cases and controls in the proportion of smokers (Clinch et al., 1983; Bartle et al., 1986; Holvoet et al., 1991). There was no evidence that smoking was indeed a confounder or that it was interacting with another independent variable in a multiple logistic regression (Levy et al., 1988). None of these studies were conducted in the elderly population.

2.3 SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE ON NSAID-GASTROPATHY

The majority of published studies support a positive association between NSAID use and gastropathy. The elderly population appears to be at greatest risk and yet, only a limited number of studies have examined the risk in this population. Estimates of the magnitude of the association greatly vary between studies, ranging from 2.9 to 11.5. Because several factors may contribute simultaneously to the discrepancy between studies, it is not possible to extract the effect of each.

Exposure and outcome characterization: Exposure was ascertained either from interviews or computerized databases. None of these sources is comprehensive and accurate in itself which may pose a threat to the validity of the results. Studies based on interviews tended to report a greater magnitude of the association than those based on computerized databases. Databases were only used in one study conducted in the elderly population. Recall bias and availability of information on drugs acquired OTC may explain part of the discrepancy. In addition, there was a great variation in outcomes considered. Differences in the estimates of the association may reflect in part differences in the contribution of NSAIDs in the set of sufficient conditions to cause the GI event.

Methodological considerations: The hazard function of gastropathy has not been described. As a result, it was necessary to define a time window corresponding to the risk period. Often, the selection of the time window was based on a semi-intuitive judgement and varied between studies. It has been shown that the magnitude of the association is inversely proportional to the width of the time window. Recency was addressed in only 2 studies and there is no consensus on when, after discontinuation of therapy, the risk becomes non-existant.

High risk groups: Age is an important effect modifier. Elderly

women appear to be at greater risk. The effect of smoking is controversial and that of alcohol unclear. The confounding or modifying effect of these variables have not yet been well described in the elderly population. Apart from corticosteroids, comedications do not appear to be confounders. The validity of studies that did consider comedications and comorbidity was limited by the presence of multiple comparisons without adjustment in the analysis.

Summary of the deficiencies in exposure characterization:

1) History of NSAID use has been assessed in terms of duration of use. However, because duration was only ascertained in current users it is not possible to partition the effects of current and past NSAID use. So far, there is no empirical evidence to support the phenomenon of selection of susceptible patients previously hypothesized.

2) Patterns of NSAID use were considered in 3 studies and have not been adequately described in the elderly population. Furthermore, they consisted of descriptive studies designed to examine the factors influencing patterns. None have looked at the effect of patterns on the risk of gastropathy. This constitutes a deficiency as high risk patterns may exist and could be used to identify patients at greater risk.

3) Past use of protective agents has been considered in a few studies and results are controversial with respect to the effect on gastropathy. None examined the effect of current use.

Summary of the deficiencies in the risk assessment of NSAID use:

1) Only 5 studies focused on the effect of non-aspirin NSAIDs in the elderly population and only 2 on aspirin. Furthermore, estimates of relative risk obtained from these studies are highly variable,

2) The size of the study population in some of these studies was often limited,

3) Most studies were based on interview and were thus subject to recall bias,

4) Confounders have been inadequately explored in this population. The size of the study population was large in one study and an automated database was used but the source of data necessary to assess effect modification by some covariables (smoking, alcohol consumption...) was not available,

5) Patterns of NSAID use on a long term have not been described adequately in the elderly population.

Estimates of relative risk for the effect of NSAIDs

on gastropathy published in the literature

<u>Study</u>	Product	Age group	<u>Sample_size</u>	<u>OR (95% C.I.)</u>
Collier and Pain (1985)	NANSAIDS	≥ 65	168 cases 168 controls	11.54 (5.96-22.34)*
Henry et al. (1991)	NANSAIDs**	> 50	250 cases 250 controls	2.9 (1.8-4.8)
Laporte et al. (1991)	NANSAIDS	> 60	409 cases 1248 controls	7.7 (3.8-15.4)
Griffin et al. (1991)	NANSAIDS	≥ 65	1415 cases 7063 controls	4.1 (3.5-4.7)
Holvoet et al. (1991)	NANSAIDS	≥ 65	48 discordant pairs	7.0 (3.3-14.9)
Gabriel et al. (1991)***	NANSAIDS	≥ 60		5.52 (4.63-6.60)
Levy et al. (1988)	ASA	60-69	15 cases 310 controls	3.07 (1.09-8.66)*
Laporte et al. (1991)	ASA	> 60	men:241 cases 652 controls	6.7 (4.0-11.1)
 Crude OR derived from ** Excluding piroxicam 	m published d	walata	omen:168 cases 596 controls	6.4 (3.8-10.7)
*** Meta-analysis on 8 s	tudies			

Time windows used in published studies on NSAID-gastropathy

<u>Case-control studies</u>

<u>Study</u>	<u>Time window *</u>
Collier and Pain (1985) Somerville et al. (1986) Bigelow and Collins (1989)	on the day of the event
Jick (1981) Henry et al. (1987) Henry et al. (1991) Laporte et al. (1991) Holvoet et al. (1991)	7 days
Armstrong and Blower (1987)	30 days
Coggon et al. (1982) Duggan et al. (1986) Beard et al. (1987) Jick et al. (1987) Carson et al. (1987) Levy et al. (1988)	90 days
Griffin et al. (1991)	l year
Clinch et al. (1983) Bartle et al. (1986)*** Smedley et al. (1988)	unspecified

Cohort studies

References	<u>Maximum time window</u> **
Guess et al. (1988) Bigelow and Collins (1989)	30 days
Beardon et al. (1989)	until end of study period (3 years)

Defined in relation to the event
Defined in relation to initiation of treatment
Probably the day of admission

Age-specific odds ratios published in the literature

on NSAID-gastropathy

<u>Study</u>	Age group	<u>OR (95% C.I.)</u>
Collier and Pain (1985)	<65 years ≥ 65 years crude	2.34 (0.85-6.42) 11.54 (5.96-22.34) 4.51 (2.78-7.33)
Armstrong and Blower (1987)	<70 years >70 years crude	7.11 (2.16-23.40) 1.53 (0.69-3.38) 3.45 (1.85-6.48)
Levy et al. (1988)	18-39 40-59 60-69 crude	4.38 (1.87-10.24) 9.61 (3.45-26.79) 3.07 (1.08-8.73) 5.34 (3.10-9.18)
Laporte et al. (1991)*	≤ 60 years >60 years crude	9.14 (5.32-15.69) 10.32 (6.97-15.28) 8.53 (6.30-11.56)
Holvoet et al. (1991)	≤ 60 years >60 years	10.00 (1.50-64.60) 7.00 (3.30-14.90)

* Derived from published data: Mantel-Hanszael OR's adjusted for sex.



Sex-specific estimates of relative risk obtained from published studies on NSAID-gastropathy

Study	Men	ESTIMATE OF RELATIVE RISK <u>Women</u>	Crude
Clinch et al. (1983)	2.81 (0.55-14.32)	5.67 (1.50-21.40)	4.64 (1.69-12.77)
Armstrong and Blower (1987)*	4.35 (1.85-10.23)	2.09 (0.79-5.50)	3.45 (1.85-6.42)
Levy et al. (1988)*	4.44 (1.93-10.20)	6.05 (2.92-12.54)	5.34 (3.11-9.18)
Laporte et al. (1991)**	7.96 (5.19-12.20)	13.23 (8.35-20.96)	8.53 (6.30-11.56)
Holvoet et al. (1991)	6.7 (2.6-17.4)	8.3 (2.9-23.7)	7.4 (3.7-14.7)

Crude odds ratios derived from published data
 ** Derived from published data: Mantel-Hanszael odds ratio adjusted for age

Effect of history of gastropathy in published studies

Study	Definition of history	Relative risk (95% C.I.)
Carson et al. (1987)	Preexisting abdominal conditions	1.5 (0.9-2.5)
Laporte et al. (1991)	- Symptoms - Peptic ulcer disease - GI bleeding	2.6 (1.9- 3.5) 5.5 (2.8-11.0) 14.5 (7.5-28.2)
Jick et al. (1987)	Cimetidine, antacids (markers for history)	5.1 (2.6-10.0)
Holvoet et al. (1991)	Peptic ulcer disease	5.5 (3.2-9.6)

ана Ц. н. CHAPTER 3

METHODS

3.1 STUDY DESIGN

In order to address the objectives described in chapter 1, a hospital based case-control study was conducted. Ideally, a cohort study would have been more suitable for 2 major reasons: 1) the shape of the hazard function could have been described, thus allowing a better definition of the appropriate time window for risk assessment and, 2) the process by which NSAID users select themselves out the population at risk, or switch between products could have been quantified. In Quebec, there is a computerized database that includes information on all hospital discharges in the province: the Med-Echo database. In principle, it is possible to link the Régie de l'assurance-maladie du Québec (RAMQ) database (exposure) to the Med-Echo database (outcome) through a unique identifier. However, for confidentiality reasons, it is not feasible to engage in such a practice at present. Nevertheless, the RAMQ accepted upon request to provide information on dispensed medications for a list of identified patients. This constraint has motivated the choice of the case-control design. At present, linkage between data is unidirectional: from outcome to exposure.
Cases and their matched controls were assembled using the discharge listings from 4 hospitals in Montreal: Royal-Victoria, Notre Dame, Maisonneuve-Rosemont and Jewish General, For each selected patient, outpatient prescriptions (NSAIDs as well as all other medications) and medical services received during the 3 years preceding admission were obtained from the RAMQ databases. Information on concomitant variables were obtained from hospital charts (smoking, medical history etc.) as well as from the RAMO database (other prescribed drugs, medical procedures received etc.). The use of NSAIDs by cases was compared to that by controls to subsequently quantify the association between NSAID use and The study population was recruited from April 1st 1988 to UGIB. March 31st 1990. The entire study period (including ascertainment of exposure) was from April 1st 1985 to March 31st 1990.

A feasibility study was conducted in 2 of the hospitals (Royal-Victoria and Notre-Dame) in order to develop the logistics of the study.

3.2 POPULATIONS

Target population: The target population consisted of Quebec elderly at risk of developing a gastropathy and at risk of being exposed to NSAIDs.

Study population: Operational definitions as well as inclusion/exclusion criteria for sampling the study population from the target population were developed during the feasibility study. For feasibility reasons, the study population consisted of a sample of Quebec elderly who were hospitalized in the 4 hospitals listed above. Controls intended to be a sample of patients who belonged to the same source population as the cases.

Base population: The base population for the present study was defined secondarily to the selection of cases. It consisted of the catchment population for severe UGIB of the 4 hospitals. This population remains theoretical and cannot be described. It could, however, be approximated by the population living in the vicinity of each hospital (Kopec and Esdaile, 1990). Further discussion on the representativeness of the study population relative to the base population is found in section 3.4 on "controls".

3.3 CASES

Definition: The illness of interest was severe UGIB that required hospitalization. More specifically, it consisted of peptic, gastric or duodenal ulcer with hemorrhage or perforation, bleeding gastritis and/or duodenitis. The conditions were acute and incident (see below). The guidelines proposed by Jick and Vessey (1978) were used to construct the case definition. Cases were restricted to hospitalized conditions. Given that the effect of NSAIDs on GI distress has been extensively entertained in the literature and is well accepted within the medical community, detection bias may occur if patients who are NSAID users preferentially undergo diagnostic tests upon the presence symptoms or when asymptomatic. In order to minimize this detection bias, only mandatory hospitalizations (emergency admissions) for the condition were The illness would be severe enough that all patients considered. would be hospitalized regardless of NSAID use. It is likely that some cases were not admitted after having been to emergency. However, as stated by an emergency physician (Dr. Mlynaryk, Royal-Victoria hospital), it is very unlikely that the decision to admit would be differential with respect to NSAID exposure if there was bleeding in an elderly patient.

Ascertainment: The Med-Echo discharge listings at each hospital were examined. The hospitals were selected for the following reasons: 1) they are among the largest hospitals in Montreal, 2) they include populations of various socio-demographic and cultural backgrounds, 3) they were convenient in terms of location in the city. Listings sorted by International Classification of Diseases, 9th Revision (ICD-9) code were used to identify potential study subjects. Potential cases consisted of all patients 68 years old and over included in the following ICD-9 diagnostic categories:

531, 532, 533 (subcodes .0-.2, .4-.6), 578.0, 578.1 and 578.9. The diagnostic categories were selected based on 3 sources of information: 1) published literature (Guess et al., 1988), 2) expert opinion from gastroenterologists (Notre-Dame and Royal Victoria hospitals), 3) medical archivists. Charts of potential cases were reviewed and patients who met the inclusion/exclusion criteria described below were retained.

Accuracy of diagnosis: Charts of all patients retained from discharge listings were reviewed to determine if their illness complied with the case characteristics defined above. The summary sheet (filled by the physician) was used to determine the principal and secondary diagnoses. Consultation and progress notes were examined to obtain information on the onset of symptoms, characteristics of the bleed and diagnostic procedures conducted to confirm the diagnosis. If applicable, the date of the previous episode of GI illness was determined in order to apply the case definition.

In order to be eligible, the source of bleeding must have been identified as upper GI (probable or unknown were not eligible). Procedures for the validation of cases is found in section 3.9 on "validation of data and methods".

Acute: Given that the presence of a chronic ulcer would most likely influence NSAID intake, only acute cases were considered. Like in

the Levy et al. (1988) study, only conditions with symptoms present for less than 1 month prior to admission were retained in order to exclude chronic cases. ICD-9 subcodes exist for acute ulcers (.0-.2). However, as shown in the feasibility study, no patients were included in these diagnostic categories. They were all classified under: "chronic or unspecified perforation and/or hemorrhage" (sub-If chronic ulcer was specified in the discharge codes .4-.6). summary, the patient was not included. However, when there was no mention of chronicity, the date of the start of the symptoms was retrieved from the chart (case report or discharge summary). According to the feasibility study, 5.5% of the patients who met the case definition had an onset of symptoms of more than 1 month before. For the purpose of this study, chronicity was defined on the basis of the onset of the symptoms rather than on the characteristics of the ulcer. Only patients who experienced symptoms for 1 month or less prior to admission were retained.

Incident: One of the criteria of causality is that the exposure must precede the outcome (Kelsey et al., 1986). In this case, the presence of the illness should not influence the probability of being exposed to NSAIDS. Rothman (1986) stated that if exposure affects the duration of the illness, then case-control studies based on prevalent cases would be unable to distinguish an etiologic role for the exposure from its effect on duration unless the effect on duration was known. Based on this argument, it was preferable to select incident rather than prevalent cases. It has

been previously determined that the slow healing phase of an ulcer lasts about 7 weeks (Peltier, 1989). Consequently, a minimum period of 3 months between 2 consecutive hospitalizations for the same condition was considered to be sufficient to treat the 2 events as independent episodes; the second one being referred to as incident. The medical history of the case was examined in order to assess prior hospitalizations for gastropathy.

Other etiology: There must be a reasonable possibility that the condition has been induced by the drug. Patients with GI bleeding of natures other than the ones listed above such as: oesophageal varices, maliqnant disorders that involve the GI tract. Mallory-Weiss syndrome, inflammatory colitis (such as CROHN's disease), sigmoidal diverticulosis were not be eligible as cases. Although the concomitant presence of cirrhosis and chronic alcoholism are predisposing factors, it was not felt that they were sufficient causes of GI bleeding and were therefore retained as cases (unless they were accompanied by oesophageal varices that have ruptured).

In summary, for this study, a case was a patient with a discharge diagnosis of UGIB under either of the following ICD-9 codes: 531,532,533 (subdiv. .0-.2, .4-.6), 578.0, 578.1 and 578.9. After examination of the chart for confirmation of the source of bleeding and for characteristics such as prior hospitalization, onset of illness and presumed cause, only incident acute cases were

retained, i.e. no prior hospitalization for the same condition within 3 months and onset of symptoms within 1 month prior to admission.

3.4 CONTROLS

Definition: Controls were patients hospitalized for conditions believed to be unrelated to UGIB and to NSAID use. A pool of potential controls was assembled from selected acute discharge diagnoses. According to the definition by Pearce and Checkoway (1988), it was an incidence density sampling given that controls could eventually have become cases had they developed the disease at a later date within the study period. The methodological concepts and control selection strategy are described below.

Ascertainment: Jick and Vessey (1978) identified 2 mandatory exclusions concerning the use of hospitalized controls: 1) patients admitted for conditions that are indication or contraindication for the drug of interest and, 2) patients admitted for conditions that are caused or prevented by the drug. Because NSAIDs are used for a variety of indications and have several known or suspected side-effects, these criteria were difficult to apply. In order to minimize biases due to unknown associations with NSAID use, a pool of control diagnoses was created to avoid over-representing a particular disease. Diagnoses were chosen in order to meet the

following criteria:

1) Acute,

2) Thought to be unrelated to NSAID use and UGIB,

3) Relatively frequent in the elderly population.

Based on these criteria, 3 major categories of control diagnoses were retained: pneumonia, cholecystitis and trauma (including fractures). Others included urinary tract infection, appendicitis, pancreatitis, other biliary duct illnesses, diverticulum and cholangitis. Potential controls were selected from the hospital discharge listings. Charts were reviewed in order to verify that the condition was acute and incident. An attempt was made to replace controls who did not meet the eligibility criteria. However, the pool of eligible matched controls was very restricted and in many instances, it was not possible to replace ineligible controls.

As stated by Rothman (1986), controls should be chosen in such a way that they represent those who would have navigated the same pathway of selection forces as the cases had they been ill. This concept is theoretical and is difficult to apply given that the selective forces related to UGIB admission are not defined. It was assumed that the distribution of exposure was the same in the

control series as in the random sample of the secondary base, which was equivalent to assume that there was no relationship between NSAID use and the control diagnosis (Wacholder et al., 1992). Controls were specifically chosen to be unrelated to exposure in order to ensure that they were as likely to be NSAID users as the cases, under the hypothesis of no association (Miettinen, 1985; Jick and Vessey, 1978; Rothman, 1986; Wacholder et al., 1992). Unsuspected associations with NSAID use are conceivable and strategies are available to attempt to minimize the bias brought by the inclusion of such patients. These are described below.

The selection of controls was planned taking into account the fundamentals of the case-control design. A debate on this issue was published in 1985 in the Journal of Chronic Diseases, and was followed by a series of letters to the editors in 1987. No clear consensus emerged from the literature. Concepts on the unbiased selection of controls remain theoretical and are difficult to apply in a control selection protocol. While Miettinen (1985) described the methodological concepts of the selection of controls in case-control studies, Knottnerus (1987) and Wacholder et al. (1992) translated them into operational definitions or guidelines. Jick and Vessey (1978) also included a section on the selection of controls specific for the study of drug-induced illnesses. These guidelines made up the framework of the control selection strategy used in the present study. Types of controls used in the various published epidemiologic studies on NSAID-gastrotoxicity are

described in table 3.1.

Sampling frame: As stated by Kopec and Esdaile (1990), the validity of controls can be achieved when cases may be linked to an identifiable source population. In the literature on NSAIDs, only 3 studies drew their controls from a well defined primary base population (Jick et al., 1987; Carson et al., 1988; Griffin et al., 1991). In these settings, this approach was feasible because of the availability of population-based computerized databases. All hospital based case-control studies sampled controls from a secondary base. Because the secondary base is a concept that does not have an operational definition, 2 alternatives may be considered to catch some of its members: the use of other hospitalized patients or, individuals living in the community where cases originated from. In the literature on NSAIDs, only 2 studies used community controls (Coggon et al., 1982; Somerville et al., 1986).

In the present study, settings and arguments favoured the use of hospital controls. Community controls did not seem appropriate for 3 major reasons that are described below. The first concerns validity while the 2 others are operational considerations.

1) Controls would not have hospital charts. Thus, the use of different sources of data for cases and controls would have led to non comparable information,

2) Because cases were not contemporaneous, it would be difficult operationally and lengthy to find matched controls in the community,

3) For confidentiality considerations, it was not possible to use community controls because the RAMQ does not accept to release information to a third-party even with an informed consent from the beneficiary.

For these reasons, it was felt that hospital controls were more suitable, which is consistent with the majority of case-control studies found in the literature. Like the cases, the presence of a disease may have influenced exposure to NSAIDs in the controls. Hence, only acute diagnoses were retained. If there was no mention of chronicity, the onset of symptoms was used as an indication of acuteness. A 1 month period was used to distinguish acute from non acute conditions. To ensure that the illness was incident, patients with a chronic disease who were returning for an acute complication or follow-up related to their chronic disease were not eligible. However, patients with a chronic condition who were hospitalized for a reason unrelated to the disease were eligible.

3.5 INCLUSION/EXCLUSION CRITERIA

Inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied to both cases and controls. These were created for feasibility considerations: *Inclusion criteria:*

- 1) Patients had to be 68 years old and over,
- 2) They had to be residents of Quebec for at least 3 years.

The universal prescription programme is restricted to Quebec residents age 65 and over. In order to obtain information on drug consumption for 3 years prior to admission, patients must have been 68 years old and over and have been residents of Quebec for at least 3 years.

Exclusion criteria:

1) Patients with multiple or long-term admissions, or living in nursing homes in the previous 3 years,

- 2) Diagnosis of lower GI bleeding,
- 3) History of gastrectomy,
- 4) Cancer of the GI tract,
- 5) Allergy to acetyl salicylic acid (ASA),
- 6) Transfer from another hospital.

Information on dispensed medications was only available for outpatient prescriptions and extensive data truncation would occur if patients who had long-term or multiple hospitalizations before ascertainment were included. Individuals who had been admitted in a long-term care unit in the previous 3 years, hospitalized in the previous 30 days or, had individual admissions of more than 30 days were not considered. Individuals with lower GI bleeding were excluded because this condition was thought to be associated with NSAIDs and may not be independent of UGIB. Patients with a history of gastrectomy or cancer of the GI tract were excluded because the probability of a drug etiology for bleeding is minimal. Patients allergic to ASA were not considered because they were at a lower risk for exposure.

Patients transferred from another nospital were not eligible as cases for 3 reasons: 1) difficulty to find an appropriate control originating from the same base population, 2) incompleteness of medical history, 3) lack of information on time spent in the previous hospital.

3.6 MATCHING

Controls were individually matched to cases on: age (\pm 5 years), sex, hospital, study year and month of admission (\pm 2). A

control; case ratio of 4:1 was intended in order to maximize the power of the study (Schlesselman, 1982). Matching variables were selected according to literature findings and intuitive judgement. Age and sex appeared to be important confounders to consider. In addition, the 4 hospitals are known to differ with respect to socio-demographic characteristics and cultural backgrounds. The Royal-Victoria and Jewish General hospitals are mainly Anglophone and are located center-west of the city of Montreal, while Notre-Dame and Maisonneuve-Rosemont are primarily Francophone and are located in the center-east of the city. It is likely that the socio-demographic structure of the catchment populations varies between hospital. Hence, it was important to match for hospital. Because of time trends in prescribing behaviour, matching was also done on study year. Seasonal variations in admission conditions at the various hospitals, which could be differential with respect to NSAID exposure, has motivated matching on month of admission. Most hospital based case-control studies published in the literature have matched on this variable.

It was initially thought that patients not eligible as cases because of other etiologies leading to UGIB could potentially be used as controls to increase the efficiency of resource utilization. Only a limited number of these patients met all egibility criteria. None of them could actually be used because they did not meet the matching criteria.

3.7 SAMPLE SIZE

At the time the study was planned, there was little information available in the literature regarding the proportion of exposure to NSAIDs in the elderly population. The studies by Laporte et al. (1991) and Griffin et al. (1991) had not yet been published. The description of patterns of NSAID utilization by Leufkens et al. (1990) was published in Pharmaceutisch Weekblad but this journal is available in Canada only after a substantial delay. Moreover, it was not restricted to the elderly population. The estimates of relative risk found in the literature were highly variable. The summary OR specific to the elderly population of 5.52 produced by the meta-analysis of Gabriel et al. (1991) was not yet available.

As a result, the initial sample size calculation was conservative and the minimum relative risk to be detected was set at 1.5, which corresponds to the estimate obtained in published cohort studies. The percentage of exposed patients in the control population was based on a descriptive study conducted by Moride and Abenhaim (1990) where it was shown that 35% of the Quebec elderly received at least 1 NSAID prescription in 1988. In the present study, a 30-day time window between admission and exposure has been selected. As a result, the prevalence of exposure was unknown but was expected to be lower. According to the sample size calculation formula found in Kelsey et al. (1986), the number of cases required to study exposure to NSAID as a dichotomous variable with a prevalence of exposure of 35%, an alpha level of 0.05, a beta of 0.20, and 4 controls per case was 265 in order to be able to detect a relative risk of 1.5. With a control:case ratio of 4:1, the number of controls was 1060.

3.8 SOURCES OF DATA AND RECORD LINKAGE

Three major sources of data were used: 1) Med-Echo hospital discharge listings for the ascertainment of potential study subjects, 2) medical charts for the validation of the diagnosis and ascertainment of some study variables and, 3) RAMQ databases for the ascertainment of dispensed medications and medical services. Each of the data sources is described below.

Discharge listings: Discharge listings were only used for the initial ascertainment of cases and controls as well as matching. Items found in this source were not used for data analysis. The structure of the discharge listings varied according to the administrative system of the hospitals. Notre-Dame and Maisonneuve-Rosemont used the original Med-Echo database while Royal-Victoria and Jewish General used the one provided by the Health Maintenance Research Institute (HMRI) system. This distinction created some differences in logistics for the conduct of the study.

71

. .

All hospitals in the province of Quebec are required to send to Med-Echo information on every discharge. Some hospitals use the information collected in the Med-Echo database while others use information processed by HMRI, a private organization, that is the intermediate between the hospital and Med-Echo. Two differences between these databases influenced the present study: 1) the time of discharge and, 2) the number of diagnostic categories. In Med-Echo, discharge was expressed as a chronological date whereas in HMRI, discharge was expressed as a period. The fiscal year (April 1st to March 31st of the next year) was divided into 13 periods. This created logistic differences in matching procedures for month of admission. It was possible to derive from Med-Echo the date of admission by subtracting the length of stay from the date of discharge. However, only the month of admission could be approximated in HMRI records from the discharge period and the length of stay. In these hospitals, the date of admission was only known with certainty from medical charts. The initial matching on month of admission was therefore revised after chart review.

HMRI included 3 type_ of diagnosis (main, principal and secondary) while Med-Echo only considered 2 (principal and secondary). In practice, the main diagnosis of HMRI corresponded to the principal diagnosis of Med-Echo. Consequently, the 3 categories in HMRI were collapsed into the main and secondary diagnoses. The principal diagnosis of HMRI was treated as the first secondary diagnosis. The total number of secondary diagnoses also differed between the 2

sources. In Med-Echo, the maximum number was 15 while in HMRI, it was 4, which corresponded to the first 4 secondary diagnoses listed on the summary sheet of the chart. As shown in the feasibility study, all cases were included among the first 4 diagnoses. Therefore, no cases were missed with the use of HMRI. The sensitivity of the selected diagnostic codes for ascertainment of the cases is discussed in section 3.9 on the "validation of data and methods".

In both systems, the listing sorted by ICD-9 code was used to identify potential study subjects. A list of potential cases was drawn and consisted of all patients 68 years old and over included in the ICD-9 case diagnostic categories listed above. Principal, secondary and death diagnoses were considered. Unconfirmed diagnosis (letter P) or transfer diagnosis (letter H) were not retained. A pool of potential controls was created from the discharge listings. Matching for all variables was done directly from Med-Echo listings. A posteriori matching was necessary for those based on HMRI.

Medical charts: For each admission the following documents were first consulted to obtain the required information: summary sheet, Med-Echo sheet, case history, endoscopy sheet (when applicable), transfusion requisition (when applicable). If the information was incomplete then other sources were consulted: progress notes, nursing report, consultation sheets. The order and appearance of

each form varied between hospitals but the nature of the information was very similar. The summary sheet and case history are filled by the admitting physician and coded by medical archivists. The endoscopy sheet is filled by the physician who performed the examination. The Med-Echo sheet is an administrative document. Demographic information is filled at the admission office and, information related to hospitalization (diagnoses, procedures etc.) is supplied by medical archivists based on the information appearing in the summary sheet.

Second, the medical charts were consulted in order to validate the diagnosis and obtain information on covariates such as demographic characteristics, smoking, comorbidity and history of gastropathy. The process of validation of diagnosis of the cases is described in section 3.9 on "validation of data and methods". Information on inclusion/exclusion criteria was obtained from the case history. Admissions during the previous 3 years was ascertained from admissions appearing in the chart.

RAMQ prescription database: Data on all medications dispensed in the 3 years prior to admission were obtained from the RAMQ prescription database. The universal programme is restricted to elderly and welfare recipients and is a fee-for-service (the pharmacists claim reimbursement for the drugs dispensed). In this database, the unit of observation is the prescription. It is possible to use the patient as the unit of analysis by obtaining longitudinal information on drug exposure through a unique identifier. Key items found in this database were:

- Name of drug (generic and proprietory)
- Date of dispensing
- Number of units of administration
- Dose per unit of administration
- Prescribed number of days of treatment
- Form of administration (tablet, capsule, suppository etc.).

Drugs are grouped according to the American Hospital Formulary Service system of classification. Each code corresponds to a Individual drugs are coded according to a therapeutic class. system designed by the Health Protection Branch (Canadian government). This system differs from the other available databases (except the Saskatchewan database), which mostly use the ATC (Anatomical Therapeutic and Chemical) codes. Given the universal nature of this programme, the information is centralized and changes of pharmacist or address do not affect exposure ascertainment. The information available in the database pertains to out-patient prescribed medications that have been dispensed by the pharmacist and that are present on the list of drugs reimbursed by the RAMO (all NSAIDs available in Canada are reimbursed). Generic names were used to distinguish between the different NSAID products. The database does not include information on drugs purchased over-the-counter (OTC). However, if a drug available OTC is acquired with a prescription (eg. aspirin), then it is considered as a dispensing and it is included.

RAMQ medical services database: Data on all medical services received by the patients during the 3 years prior to admission were obtained from the RAMQ medical services database. The programme is universal for all Quebec residents and is a fee-for-service (the physician claims reimbursement for the medical service rendered). In the database, the unit of observation is the medical service. It includes information on the nature of the service rendered (examination, procedures etc.), the specialty of the physician, date of service and diagnosis (ICD-9 code).

Record linkage: Med-Echo and the RAMQ databases are administered by different organizations. Linkage between the RAMO prescription and medical services databases is done routinely. However, linkage between the RAMO and Med-Echo databases is unprecedented. As a result, the logistics to do so had to be developed. Data extracted from medical charts were linked to the RAMQ databases through a unique identifer: the Health Insurance Number (HIN). This number is acquired at birth or at the time of residency and remains unchanged throughout the life of the individual. Linkage was a two-stage process, described in figure 3.1. Patients initially ascertained in the discharge listings were identified by their chart number. Charts were consulted in order to obtain the HIN, which was subsequently submitted to the RAMQ to request information

on drugs and medical services.

The logistics for the conduct of an observational study using the Quebec databases had to be designed. The objectives of the process were: 1) the design of a feasible procedure for the linkage of data on exposure, outcome and covariates, 2) the consideration of confidentiality regulations.

The following components were addressed in chronological order: 1) initial contact with the RAMQ, 2) selection of the required variables from the prescription and medical services databases, 3) development of a strategy to link data from medical charts with those from the RAMQ databases taking into account the rules of confidentiality.

Previous work on a random sample of NSAID users (Moride and Abenhaim, 1990) allowed to make the initial contact with a PAMQ and to get acquainted with the structure and content of the databases. Members of the Evaluation Service Department of the RAMQ, who manage the RAMQ computerized databases, agreed to extract the data for the study if provided with a precise and detailed algorithm.

The procedure for data extraction for the present study was complex as it was necessary to design it in relation to confidentiality regulations. Data on outcome and some of the covariates were

obtained from the medical charts. The objective was to link these data to the information included in the RAMQ databases. The RAMQ has very strict confidentiality regulations for the release of It is not allowed to provide any information to a information. third-party even with patient's consent. As a result, neither the name of the patients nor the Health Insurance Number (HIN) could appear in the information provided by the RAMQ. However, it was possible to provide the HIN of the patients included in the study population to the RAMQ along with some information collected from the hospital charts. Linkage was then conducted on site at the RAMQ, the HIN was scrambled and an anonymous database was returned. A constraint was that it was not possible to send the original database containing all information abstracted from the medical charts in its integral form. Because the information was detailed and included numerous variables, it would have been possible in principle to trace a particular patient even in the absence of the HIN. As a result, two agreement have been reached with the RAMQ: 1) linkage would be done in two steps, 2) variables from the hospital database had to be restructured and grouped into broader categories. The steps and re-structuration of the variables are shown in the following pages:

<u>Step 1</u>

Before linkage		At the RAMQ
<u>Original database</u>	<u>Re-structured</u>	Linked databases
Sex	Sex	Sex
Age at admission (continuous)	Age group	Age group
HIN	HIN	Scrambled HIN
Date of admission	Date of admission	Removed
Study year	Study year	Study year
Outcome	Outcome	Outcome
Chart number	Chart number	Scrambled
Hospital	Hospital	Removed
-	-	Dispensings
-	-	Medical services (date expressed in number of days before admission)

Step 2

Befor <u>Original database</u>	re linkage <u>Re-structured database</u>	At the RAMQ Linked database
Scrambled HIN	Scrambled HIN	Scrambled HIN
Hospital	Hospital	Hospital
Smoking	Smoking	Smoking
History of gastropathy	History of gastropathy	History of gastropathy
Diagnosis	Diagnostic category*	Diagnostic category
		Data from step 1

* Categories of diagnoses were created for the purpose of the sensitivity analysis described in section 3.11.8. Categories were:

- 1: UGIB (given to all cases)
- 2: Respiratory illnesses
- 3: Cholecystitis
- 4: Trauma
- 5: Other urinary tract illnesses
- 6: Other GI conditions
- 7: Others



Before the original data were sent to the RAMQ, several validation procedures were conducted on the HIN. The HIN contains 12 digits which corresponds to the following information:

<u>Digits</u>	Information
1-3	First 3 letters of the surname
4	First letter of the given name
5-6	Year of birth
7-8	For men: month of birth
	For women: month of birth + 10
9-10	Day of birth
11-12	RAMQ code

Because the date of birth was recorded from the medical charts, it was possible to verify the consistency between it and digits 5 and 6 (year of birth), 9 and 10 (day of birth) of the HIN. Digits 7 and 8 (month of birth) were verified using the information from date of birth and sex collected from the hospital charts. In case of discrepancy, the hospital was contacted and the patient traced by the chart number. The information was thus verified either from the hospital computerized system or the chart was reabstracted. Despite these validation procedures, it was found by the RAMQ that some HIN were not valid. The RAMQ returned the erroneous HINs accompanied by the medical chart number and hospital. An attempt

was made to correct the number by using the hospital computerized system. With the exception of 1 patient, all errors were typographical and could be corrected. In one instance, it could not and therefore, the patient had to be deleted.

Confidentiality procedures: In order to protect the confidentiality of selected patients, the HIN and chart number were scrambled after linkage and the database became anonymous. The study was approved by the ethics committee of each hospital under the condition that patients names would not be divulged. Confidentiality and linkage procedures met the official criteria of the RAMQ.

3.9 VALIDATION OF DATA AND METHODS

Sensitivity of case diagnostic codes: The sensitivity of the selected ICD-9 codes for the cases was assessed by comparing admission records to discharge data. Admission records were reviewed in 2 hospitals (Royal-Victoria and Notre-Dame). Ninetytwo patients admitted for conditions related to the GI tract and abdomen (eg. acute abdomen, UGIB etc.) were retained. The medical charts of these patients were reviewed in order to determine the discharge diagnoses and ICD-9 codes. The codes corresponding to UGIB were all included in the list of codes for the case ascertainment (see above). All codes were either principal or among the first 4 secondary diagnoses. As a result, the selected

codes captured all potential cases (100% sensitivity).

Validation of case diagnosis: The selected ICD-9 categories were sensitive but not specific. Hence, the medical chart of each potential case identified in the discharge listings was examined in order to confirm that the diagnosis was indeed UGIB. The feasibility study has shown that most cases were diagnosed by the presence of endoscopic positive findings (87%). In a smaller proportion of patients, the diagnosis was established on the basis of occult blood positive stools or haematemesis (5%), during surgery on the digestive tract (5%) or autopsy (2.5%). The source of bleeding could not be identified in 4% of the patients.

When available, the gastroscopy report was examined in order to confirm that the source of bleeding was upper gastro-intestinal as opposed to lower and that there was bleeding. Patients who had a clot but no frank hemorrhage were also eligible as it indicated that bleeding had occurred at this location. The endoscopy report was also used to rule out other etiologies such as rupture of oesophageal varices. In rare instances, the location of the bleed had been identified during surgery. The surgery protocol was consulted as a confirmatory document.

Potential sources of errors and mitigation studies: There were 3 potential levels of errors for the diagnosis. Level 1: the diagnosis made by the physician. This component was intrinsic to

the system and was not validated. The study involved diseases as diagnosed by the physician and confirmed by one "objective" characteristic (see "validation of diagnosis" above). Level 2: completion of the summary sheet. On this sheet, the physician lists in order the diagnoses. At Notre-Dame or Maisonneuve-Rosemont hospitals, the principal and secondary diagnoses are found. At the Royal Victoria and Jewish General, it is the main, principal and secondary diagnoses. In the latter hospitals, the main diagnosis consists in the illness responsible for admission while the principal corresponds to the diagnosis that determines the length In order to avoid missing some cases, a sensitive of stay. approach was adopted. Primary and secondary diagnoses were considered. Diagnoses that did not meet the case definition were excluded after chart review. Level 3: coding by medical archivists. The diagnoses appearing on the summary sheet are coded by medical archivists and transmitted to Med-Echo or HMRI. A validation study was conducted in another study where a large sample of charts (over 1,000 patients) were reabstracted and the coding cross-checked (Delfino, personal communication). It was shown that the diagnosis, as coded by the medical archivists, was 90% concordant for respiratory diseases. In the present study, a small-scale validation was done during the feasibility study on 60 charts. Α 89.8% concordance between the description of GI illnesses found in the charts and in the hospital discharge system was obtained. Discrepancy was found in 7 charts. In 4 instances, the diagnosis was coded as GI bleeding (578.9) when there was no evidence of

bleeding in the chart. Conversely, in 3 cases, the ulcer was coded with a subcode corresponding to: "no evidence of perforation or hemorrhage" (subcode .3) when in fact, there was bleeding. However, because the diagnosis of GI bleeding (578.9) was also present among the secondary diagnoses these cases would not have been missed.

Validation of exposure ascertainment: The universal nature of the RAMQ database ensures that exposure ascertainment is independent of the disease status of the selected patients. Any misclassification that would have occurred is expected to be non-differential. Since pharmacists claims must be included in the database before is reimbursement received, the information should be both comprehensive and accurate. The process includes an internal A substitution rate of 5% has evaluation performed by the RAMQ. been estimated (the pharmacists claim reimbursement for a drug that differs from the one actually dispensed) (RAMQ, personal communication). Nevertheless, the drug remains within the same Substitution was therefore not a concern in the generic class. present study given that proprietary names were not considered. Most claims are processed rapidly, a 3-month period is required to ensure a comprehensiveness of 95% and a 6-month period for 99%. Thus, at the time of exposure ascertainment for the study (year 1991), it was expected that the ascertainment of exposure was complete.

Validation of covariables: The presence of data on covariables, such as smoking and alcohol consumption, was assessed in the feasibility study. It was not possible to validate these data but any misclassification was expected to be non-differential with respect to exposure. However, the proportion of missing values varied between diagnoses. It was often missing for patients admitted into the department of orthopaedics but not into gastroenterology. A detailed description of differences is found in chapter 4. All charts were reviewed in order to assess alcohol consumption. This information was missing for 16% of the patients. When present, 75.2% of the patients claimed they were not drinking. These results show that the reliability of this source of information is questionnable. It is likely that patients underestimate their alcohol consumption and their definition of drinking varies greatly. Alcohol was initially considered in the analysis but no effect was found (it did not increase the risk of UGIB and was not a confounder in the association between NSAIDs and UGIB). Due to the absence of effect and the inaccuracy of the source of information, alcohol was not considered as a covariate in the study. In addition, as shown in the literature review in chapter 2, none of the studies published on NSAIDs so far were able to find a significant effect.

Data on concomitant medications were also retrieved from the RAMQ prescription database and their validity was expected to be similar to that of NSAIDs.

A substantial amount of information was collected from admission notes in the charts. Of particular interest here was the history Intuitively, it was expected that admitting of GI illnesses. physicians were more likely to ask about history of GI problems to the cases than to the controls. In order to minimize this source of bias, hard data were sought in the RAMQ prescription database, using past exposure to protective agents as a proxy for history of This approach was also used by Jick et al. (1987). gastropathy. Two other markers were also used: history of upper GI procedures (gastroscopy, duodenoscopy, biopsy of the upper GI tract and upper GI X-ray), as well as past visit to a gastroenterologist. These were ascertained from the medical services database. The use of the latter measures is unprecedented. A comparison between the 4 measures of history (history assessed in medical charts, past visit to gastroenterologist, history of upper GI procedures and past use of protective agents) was subsequently made with respect to their independent effect on UGIB and their effect on the association between NSAID use and UGIB.

Validation of control diagnoses: Because of unsuspected associations with NSAID use, it was not known with certainty whether the selected control diagnoses were unrelated to NSAID use and to UGIB. A sensitivity analysis was conducted to assess the stability of the results by removing one major class of control diagnosis at a time.

3.10 STUDY VARIABLES

The variables considered in the present study are listed below. In order to maintain a logical sequence, variables are sorted by data source and by type (dichotomous, categorical, continuous). Each one is described in greater detail in the following sections.

RAMQ prescription database:

- Dichotomous variables:

- Recent exposure to non-aspirin NSAIDs (NANSAIDs)
- Recent exposure to aspirin (ASA)
- Recent exposure to protective agents
- Recent exposure to comedications (anticoagulants, corticosteroids, antineoplastic drugs)
- Past exposure to NANSAIDs
- Past exposure to ASA
- Past exposure to protective agents

- Categorical variables:

- Patterns of NANSAID use:
 - . Recency
 - . Duration

. Switching

- Continuous variables:

- Total duration of past NANSAID use
- Average daily dosage (ADD)
- Number of switches between products
- Number of switches between ADDs of the same product
- Number of switches between modes of administration of the same product
- Date of last switch

RAMQ medical services database:

- Dichotomous variables:

- History of upper GI procedures
- History of visit to a gastroenterologist

Medical chart:

- Dichotomous variables:
 - History of gastropathy
- Categorical variables:
 - Diagnostic category
 - Smoking



- Concomitant illnesses
- Past illnesses

- Continuous variables:

- Number of concomitant illnesses

3.11 TIME WINDOW AND EXPOSURE CHARACTERIZATION

3.11.1 Definition of the time window

Based on findings from the literature as well as on the physiopathologic process of this disease, a period of 30 days was Patients who had an NSAID prescription dispensed or selected. ending within 30 days prior to the event were considered as exposed. As mentionned in chapter 1, the operational definition of the time window in case-control studies is expressed in relation to the event and not in relation to initiation of therapy. If only current use (i.e. use on the day of the event) was considered as exposure, then some exposed patients would have been wrongly classified as unexposed if the drug was discontinued at the onset of symptoms (which, according to the case definition, could occur anytime from the day of the event to one month before). In order to avoid under-estimating the proportion of exposure a time window of 30 days was selected.

Relative to the initiation of therapy, this time window therefore included a period of exposure ranging from a minimum of 1 day after initiation of treatment to a maximum of 29 days after termination. It is conceivable that a shorter time period, eg. 7 days, would have been more adequate to avoid the under-estimation effect described in chapter 1. In order to determine the effect of the width of the time window on the risk, the measure of association obtained with 30 days and 7 days prior to admission were compared.

3.11.2 Exposure characterization

In the literature, exposure to NSAIDs has been referred to as the consumption or the dispensing of an NSAID during a specified risk period preceding the event. Studies relying on patient interviews usually considered consumption while those relying on automated databases considered dispensing as evidence of exposure. The 2 sources have advantages and disadvantages which have been described in chapter 1. Operationally, the use of automated databases requires to define several parameters. Detailed information on each dispensing is available (date of dispensing, duration of the prescription, units of administration number of etc.). Consequently, there is a great discrepancy between the resolution of this information and what is known about actual consumption. In the present study, the key problem was that it was not known what dispensing sequences meant in terms of actual drug consumption. Any
interpretation may not reflect the truth. Therefore, the adopted approach was consistency. Rules were developed for the purpose of exposure characterization and are described below.

Exposure: Exposure to NANSAIDS (or ASA) was defined as NANSAID (or ASA) use within 30 days prior to the event. Operationally, it consisted of the dispensing of an NANSAID (or ASA) during the 30 days prior to admission as well as those dispensed before but ending within the 30 days. Because of the availability of long term information on drug use (3 years before admission), data truncation was not a concern and it was possible to identify all prescriptions that started before and ended within the 30 days.

Because of differences in the mechanism of action and accuracy of data (wider availability of ASA over-the-counter), NANSAIDs and ASA were studied separately.

Average daily doses: The average daily dose (ADD) was estimated from the dose per unit of administration, the quantity and the number of days of therapy. The following relationship was used:

Individual NSAIDs were not compared to each other. Comparison of ADDs was only made within one product. Hence, no equivalence of

ADDs between products was necessary.

3.11.3 Characterization of past exposure to NSAIDs

Past NANSAID (or ASA) use: Past NANSAID (or ASA) use was defined as the use of an NANSAID (or ASA) anytime between 31 days and 3 years before admission. Past exposure was mutually exclusive with recent exposure. If a prescription started before 30 days and ended within the 30 days then it was considered as recent exposure and not as past exposure. Although data were ascertained on a long term basis, there was truncation of the data if the patient was exposed before the 3 years. It was not possible to obtain such information and the extent of misclassification could not be assessed. Entry in the cohort is determined by an event: becoming age 65. As described in section 3.11.8 below, a sensitivity analysis was conducted to assess the impact of data truncation on the results.

Patterns of NANSAID use: In order to evaluate the impact of patterns in risk assessment, it was necessary to develop the methodology to study this issue. Two major elements were addressed: 1) the method to measure patterns and, 2) the method to consider patterns in data analysis. The objective was therefore to characterize patterns of drug use over time in a way that was

amenable to data analysis in the framework of risk assessment.

1) Method to measure patterns: Patterns of NANSAID use over a period of 1 year prior to admission were characterized. As seen before, drug utilization over time is a complex process. It was therefore necessary to extract some of its dimensions. In the literature, 2 dimensions have been considered: duration (Leufkens et al., 1990) and switches (Leufkens et al., 1990; Abenhaim et al., 1991; Walker et al., 1992). These were retained in order to assess their relevance in risk assessment. As discussed previously in chapter 1, in the context of risk assessment it is necessary to also consider the timing of exposure relative to the event. Thus, the dimension of recency was added to the 2 previous ones. In order to measure these 3 dimensions, it was necessary to have longitudinal data on drug exposure for every individual.

Recency: Recency was defined as the time between the occurrence of the event (date of admission) and exposure to the drug. In the present study, "recent" users were patients who had an NSAID prescription ending within 30 days prior to the event and "former" users were those who only had a prescription ending between 31 and 365 days before admission.

Duration: As stated above, one of the objectives of the study is to partition the effect of duration of past NSAID use and recent NSAID exposure. The 2 variables were treated as mutually exclusive

in time. Duration was ascertained for a period of 11 months, between 31 and 365 days preceding admission.

Total duration of exposure during this time period was estimated dispensing and duration of from the date of individual prescriptions, both of which are readily available in the RAMQ prescription database. It was first expressed as a continuous variable. When more than one NSAID are dispensed to a patient during a given time period, the distribution of these dispensings in time raises some problems, especially if atypical. The next prescription is not necessarily dispensed the day after termination of the previous one. Often there is an overlap or a gap between two successive dispensings. Four types of sequences may be observed and are depicted in figure 3.2:

Consecutive dispensings: the first NSAID prescription starts and ends before the next one (figure 3.2a),

Overlapping dispensings: the next prescription starts before the end of the previous one (figure 3.2b),

Nested dispensings: the next prescription starts after and ends before the previous one (figure 3.2c),

Multiple dispensings: two prescriptions or more (same or different

products) are dispensed on the same date (figure 3.2d).

The dispensing sequences observed in an automated database are theoretical and are a proxy for actual consumption patterns. As a result, there are atypical sequences, which are difficult to interpret because the patient's behaviour is unknown.

The most sensible approach is to seek expert opinion regarding likely consumption behaviour corresponding to the dispensing sequences and to adopt consistency. The proposed rules should be drug-specific. For some individuals, duration may be shorter, for others it may be longer but on average it is expected that it corresponds to the prescribed duration.

For NSAIDs, it was assumed that consumption started on the day of dispensing. The date of termination corresponded to the day of the last unit of administration. Therefore, when boundaries were set, date of start and date of termination were inclusive:

- Date of start = Date of dispensing

- Date of termination = (Date of dispensing+Duration) - 1

For single or non-overlapping prescriptions, it was assumed that the patient was compliant to the entire treatment. Duration of exposure was the sum of the number of days of each prescription. When there was an overlap between 2 prescriptions, it was assumed that the patient did not finish entirely the first prescription. Total duration was the sum of individual durations minus the overlap. This approach was also adopted by Leufkens et al. (1990) and Strom (personal communication). In contrast, Griffin et al. (1991) used the total number of days of supply as the duration of exposure. In the present study, the maximum duration was, by design, 335 days (from 31 to 365 days prior to admission, inclusive).

Prescriptions that started before 365 days only contributed the number of days included in the year before admission. Those that started before the 30 days but ended after did not contribute any duration because they were considered as recent exposure.

Prescriptions dispensed on the same date were considered as multiple exposure. If one had a longer duration than the other, then the longest duration was retained.

Switches: A switch between products was considered to be a change in NANSAID product between 2 consecutive dispensings. In order to ensure that the medication was for the same treatment episode (indication), dates of dispensing had to be at most 60 days apart. This condition was designed by Walker et al.(1992). Two different products dispensed on the same date were not considered a switch but a multiple.

If three dispensings were considered at a time instead of 2 (figure 3.3), then two possible interpretations were possible. In the first, the patient switched from product 1 to product 2 and back to product 1. In the second, product 1 was not interrupted and product 2 was used concurrently for a short period of time (nested consumption).

Operationally, the interpretation of such scenario depends on whether a model with or without memory is used. In a model with memory, over time, the patient did not switch from product 1 to 2 because treatment with product 1 was not interrupted. Product 2 was simply incorporated and the individual was a multiple user for a short period of time (nested consumption). In the model without memory, the patient switched twice: between product 1 and 2, and between product 2 and 1. In the case of NANSAIDs, expert opinion was sought and a model without memory was the most appropriate to reflect consumption patterns. Patients who receive another dispensing before the termination of the first one most likely switched.

Several criteria were used to define a switch between products:

- 1) The drugs had to be different NANSAIDs,
- The next drug had to be dispensed after the first one (Date of dispensing 2 > Date of dispensing 1),

3) The dates of dispensing had to be 60 days apart or less.

There must not necessarily be termination of treatment 1 before the end of treatment with drug 2 (date of termination 2 > date of termination 1 or date of termination $2 \le$ date of termination 1). It was assumed that treatment 1 ended the day before treatment 2 was dispensed.

The same definition was applied to switches between average daily doses and modes of administration with the additional condition that the 2 consecutive dispensings had to be for the same product. Switches between ADDs could be an increase or a decrease. The direction of the switch was recorded.

For descriptive purposes, duration and switching were expressed as continuous variables (number of days, number of switches).

In summary, several assumptions were made in the study of patterns, namely:

1) The date of dispensing corresponds to the date of the start of treatment,

2) For non-overlapping prescriptions, all units that have been dispensed have been consumed for the prescribed number of days,

3) For overlapping prescriptions, the duration of each prescription is the number of days until the dispensing of the next one,

4) In the case of a switch, individuals interrupted treatment with the first product in order to start the second. It was assumed that there was no multiple use during the days where prescribed durations overlapped.

Patterns were assessed only during the year preceding admission for 2 reasons:

1) When very long time intervals are used (eg. 3 years), one must consider the distribution of total duration in time (for eg. 100 days 3 years ago may not be the same as 100 days during the year preceding admission, or 100 days distributed over 3 years). Timing of duration and switches would have to be considered as another dimension and it was felt that the current study did not have enough power to do so,

2) To remain consistent with the Leufkens et al. study which considered duration during 1 year but did not assess the effect of patterns on the risk of adverse event.

2) Characterization of patterns for risk assessment: As mentionned in chapter 1, patterns of drug utilization may be risk modifiers. Drug utilization, as described above, is a continuous variable. The objective of the analysis was to be able to identify patterns associated with a higher risk of UGIB. Patterns were characterized in order to meet the following criteria:

- Clinically meaningful,
- Interpretable,
- Amenable to identify high risk groups,
- Quantifiable in a relatively simple way so that they could be used routinely in pharmacoepidemiologic studies.

Based on these criteria it appears that the most appropriate way to characterize patterns for risk assessment is to express them as a categorical variable. Ultimately, the risk of UGIB would be reported for each pattern. Differences between patterns in the magnitude of the association would allow to identify high risk groups.

As discussed in chapter 2, a major deficiency in published studies is that duration of drug use was assessed in currently exposed patients only. In statistical terms, the model did not include 2 independent variables but rather, 1 exposure variable with several levels. The method of analysis used in these studies would therefore not allow to report a measure of association between NSAID and UGIB for each pattern.

As discussed above, patterns in the context of risk assessment were expressed as categorical variables. Levels for the dimension of recency were defined a priori and were based on the study by Griffin et al. (1991). For the dimensions of duration and switches, cut-off points for the various levels were based on results from the univariate analyses.

Recency: The effect of recency on the risk was assessed by characterizing this variable as 3 levels:

- None: no NANSAIDs dispensing during the year
 preceding the event
- Former use: NANSAIDs ending between 31 and 365 days before the event only
- Recent use: NANSAIDs dispensed or ending within 30 days prior to the event.

No use of NANSAIDs during the year prior to the event was the reference category.

Duration: Total duration of exposure between 31 and 365 days prior to the event was categorized into 4 levels:

- None: No NANSAIDs dispensed between 31 and 365 days prior to admission

- Short-term: 1-30 days of use between 31 and 365 days prior to admission
- Intermediate:31-120 days of use between 31 and 365 days prior to admission
- Long-term: >120 days of use between 31 and 365 days prior to admission

No use of NANSAIDs between 31 and 365 days preceding the event was used as the reference category.

In the Leufkens et al. (1990) study, 3 levels were considered. The lowest cut-off point (\leq 30 days) was selected a priori because it corresponded to the duration of most NANSAID prescriptions. The second (210 days) was data-based and corresponded to the 95th percentile of the distribution of duration in that study. In the present study, the same argument was used to determine the cut-off of 30 days because it was likely to include mostly first-time users. The second cut-off was selected to ensure an adequate sample size in each category. It also corresponded to the point in the Carson et al. (1987) study beyond which there was a decrease in the risk of UGIB (i.e., 4th prescription, which would correspond to approximately 120 days). Switches: The dimension of switching was expressed as a categorical variable. There were 3 levels that were data-based:

- None: No use of NANSAIDs between 31 and 365 days prior to admission
- Past use between 31 and 365 days prior to admission no switch
- Past use between 31 and 365 days prior to admission at least 1 switch between products

No use of NANSAIDs between 31 and 365 days before the event was the reference category.

3.11.4 Low doses of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs

Depending on the indication, NSAIDs are prescribed at different doses. For example, low doses of ASA are prescribed in the prevention of strokes. An analgesic dose of NANSAIDs is lower than an anti-inflammatory dose. Low doses of NSAIDs may not be associated with a greater risk of UGIB. This study did not offer sufficient power to assess the risk associated with various doses of individual NANSAIDs but an attempt was made to study the risk associated with various doses of ASA. In order to address this issue, a univariate analysis was conducted to describe the distribution of the estimated average daily doses (ADDs) of ASA. Because there was no a priori definition for low dose ASA, dose categories were data-based. The ADD of the last ASA prescription before admission was used. This approach was also used by Griffin et al. (1991). Based on the results of the univariate analysis, ADDs of ASA were categorized into 2 groups: < 650 mg/day and \geq 650 mg/day. No use of ASA within 30 days prior to admission was the reference category.

3.11.5 Other study variables

Factors other than NSAIDs are known to affect the occurrence of UGIB and may influence the measure of association between NSAIDs and UGIB. Variables that have been confirmed as confounders in the literature (age, sex) were matched for while the confounding effect of the others was assessed in the analysis stage. Risk or effect modification was described.

Other drugs: Other drugs that have been prescribed during the 3 years, such as H_2 antagonists, antacids and anticholinergics, were ascertained from the RAMQ prescription database and were considered as potential confounders or effect modifiers. Recent and past use of these agents were distinguished because the timing of exposure to these agents may reflect different underlying processes. Recent use of these agents may reflect a protective effect if used for prophylaxis, while past use may be a proxy for history of

gastropathy. Concomitant use of drugs, such as corticosteroids, anticoagulants and antineoplastics are known to predispose to UGIB. They were considered as potential confounders.

Other factors: Data from the literature suggest that smoking is a predisposing factor. Its independent and confounding effect was assessed in this elderly population. Although indication may be a potential confounder, it was not possible to obtain data on indication because it does not appear in the prescription database. Although the diagnosis for a medical service is present in the RAMO medical services database, it cannot be considered valid for the indication of a prescription (Strom and Morse, 1988). It was shown that the diagnosis appearing in the medical services database represented illnesses commonly found in the population and not necessarily the indication for prescribed medications. Moreover, the diagnosis was only present in approximately 50% of the medical services because this information is not required from the physicians in order to receive a fee-for-service. Contraindications for NSAID use were recorded. Among them were the use of anticoagulants, corticosteroids and antineoplastics, history of gastric problems and, diseases leading to contraindications for (cancer, aplastic anemia, renal failure, alcoholism, NSAIDs cirrhosis and hepatitis). Information on smoking, history of gastropathy and concomitant diseases was obtained from the charts.

History of qastropathy: For the purpose of this study, history of GI illnesses was assessed by chart review. Past use of protective agents (ascertained in the prescription database), history of upper GI procedures and past visit to a gastroenterologist (ascertained from the medical services database) were considered as suggestive History was considered positive if the patient had history. received an upper GI procedure or had visited a gastroenterologist between 61 days and 3 years preceding admission. All of them were characterized as dichotomous variables (i.e. positive and negative Each measure was treated as an independent variable. history). Sixty days before admission was chosen as a cut-off point in order to be reasonably certain that the procedure or visit did not pertain to the current episode of gastropathy. Past use of protective agents was defined as exposure to these drugs between 31 days and 3 years preceding admission. As with NSAID exposure, past and recent exposure were mutually exclusive. A prescription that was dispensed before the 30 days but that ended within was considered as recent exposure only. Unlike the 3 other measures, history assessed in the chart was not subject to data truncation because it was not restricted to 3 years before. It could go back very far in time and was limited by the patient's memory or information on prior admissions in the medical chart.

The variables used to characterize drug utilization and history of gastropathy are defined in table 3.2. The characterization of all study variables is summarized in table 3.3.

3.11.6 Univariate analyses

Univariate analyses were conducted in order to describe the variation in the mode of utilization of NSAIDs in the study population. A measure of central tendency was obtained for continuous variables (duration of past NANSAID use, number of days since last switch, ADDs etc.). Frequency distributions were obtained for categorical variables. The heterogeneity of the distribution of the study population into the various levels of a categorical variable was assessed by the chi-square test. No trend was assumed a priori for multi-categorical variables and, as a result, no chi-square test for trend was used. All probability (p) values were two tailed; a p value of 0.05 or less was considered to be significant.

3.11.7 Risk quantification

Bivariate analyses: Bivariate analyses were conducted in order to select potential confounders and/or effect modifiers. Variables were considered as potential confounders if they met the following conditions: 1) association with UGIB and, 2) association with recent exposure to NSAIDs in cases and controls. The covariates considered were all categorical and the heterogeneity of the distribution of cases and controls (condition 1) or exposed and unexposed (condition 2) across the various levels of the covariate

was assessed using the chi-square test. A crude odds ratio (OR) was obtained to assess the association between the variable and UGIB. The 95% confidence interval (CI) for the OR was calculated using Miettinen's test-based approximation (Kirkwood, 1988). Data manipulation and stratified analyses were conducted using the SAS statistical package (Anonymous a, 1987).

Multivariate analyses: The relative risk adjusted for selected covariates was estimated by the OR calculated from an unconditional logistic regression analysis. According to Breslow and Day (1980), the logistic regression is a valid multivariate method. Although data were matched, there was more than 1 case per combination of matching variables. Matching was therefore not considered as one to one. In this case, it is expected that estimates obtained from the conditional regression would not be biased but may be more conservative because of a greater variance. An unconditional logistic regression was therefore conducted and residual confounding was determined by fitting in the model the various matching variables.

For each variable included in the model, the estimated beta coefficient was obtained. For dummy variables and any dichotomous variable, the OR was obtained by exponentiating the beta coefficient. The 95% CI was computed by taking the estimated coefficient and adding and subtracting the proper normal deviation times the standard error, and finally exponentiating these values.

Multivariate analyses were conducted using the EGRET statistical package (Anonymous b, 1991).

Multivariate analyses were conducted to determine the extent to which various independent variables influenced the risk of UGIB in this population. A forward multivariate logistic regression strategy was adopted. The main determinants were recent NANSAID Covariates were initially selected use and recent ASA use. according to the results from the bivariate analyses. A11 independent variables fitted in the model were fixed effects and the risk type was multiplicative. The deviance was used as a measure of goodness-of-fit because it should approximately follow a chi-square distribution with the residual degrees of freedom. The significance of a parameter was assessed by the likelihood ratio statistic (LRS) which was the difference between the deviances of original and extended fitted models. The significance was assessed by the chi-square test and the number of degrees of freedom corresponded to the difference between the 2 models in the number of parameters. Only variables with a significant effect on UGIB were retained in the final model.

Collinearity between two parameters was assessed by examining the change in the beta coefficient and the OR of each parameter when the second was fitted. If each parameter alone had an effect but when both fitted none had an effect, then it is likely that there was collinearity between these parameters.

Interactions were fitted. The interaction terms were chosen on the basis of plausibility and statistical considerations. They always included recent NANSAID or recent ASA use as one of the interaction terms.

Strategy to assess confounding and effect modification: Confounding was assessed by comparing the crude OR with the OR obtained after the control of one or simultaneous risk factors. The significance of a risk factor was assessed by the chi-square test of the likelihood ratio. If the independent variable was a significant predictor of UGIB, then an interaction was fitted. If the interaction was significant, then the estimate of the OR for recent NANSAID or ASA use was reported for each level of the covariate.

Regression diagnostics: The unstandardized delta-betas are approximations of the amount that a given regression coefficient would change if that observation were eliminated from the regression (Anonymous b, 1991). Because all covariates were categorical, it was not appropriate to use a plot of the unstandardized delta-betas to assess the stability of the model. The deviance was used to assess the goodness of fit of the model.

Stratum-specific estimates of relative risk: A stratified analysis was conducted. In order to identify high risk patterns of NANSAID use, the magnitude of the association between recent NANSAID use

and UGIB corresponding to each duration and switching pattern was estimated by a crude OR. The Breslow-Day test was used to assess the homogeneity of the ORs. A significant heterogeneity of the ORs indicated the presence of effect modification by patterns.

Multivariate logistic regression models: The following models were fitted sequentially.

1) Exposure to NSAIDs: Recent exposure to NANSAIDs and to ASA within 30 days prior admission were the major determinants. The OR for each of the 2 classes of NSAIDs was obtained using the unexposed within 30 days as the reference category.

2) Past exposure to NSAIDs: An adjusted OR was obtained to measure the independent effect of past use of NANSAIDs and ASA, assessed over a period of 3 years prior to admission, on UGIB. The reference category was the unexposed between 31 days and 3 years prior to admission. Confounding was determined according to the strategy described above. A stratified analysis was conducted in order to obtain the crude ORs for the association between recent use of NANSAIDs and UGIB for patients who had never used the drugs in the 3 years before admission and those who did at least once during this time period. 3) Patterns of non-aspirin NSAID use

Recency: A multivariate logistic analysis was conducted to obtain an adjusted OR for the 2 levels of recency (recent and former), using the never exposed during the year as the reference category.

Duration: A stratified analysis was conducted to obtain a crude OR specific for each of the 4 patterns of duration, i.e. patients who did not use the drug between 31 and 365 days before admission, short-term, intermediate and long-term users. In contrast to the dimension of recency, the reference category for the association between recent exposure to NANSAIDs and UGIB was the unexposed within 30 days prior to the event.

Switches: Similarly, a crude OR was assessed for each switching pattern, i.e. patients who never used the drug, those who did but did not switch and, those who switched products at least once.

4) Concomitant use of protective agents: The independent effect of recent exposure to protective agents within 30 days prior to admission was assessed by fitting this variable in the multivariate logistic regression model. The reference category was no exposure to these agents during the time window. The assessment of confounding and effect modification on recent NANSAID and recent ASA use was done according to the strategy described above.

5) History of gastropathy: The independent effect of history of gastropathy was assessed by fitting the variable in the multivariate logistic model. One model was fitted for each of the four markers: History of upper GI procedures, past visit to a gastroenterologist, past use of protective agents, history assessed in the medical charts. The stability of the results was assessed.

6) Smoking: An adjusted OR was obtained for ex- and current smokers.

7) Average daily doses of ASA: An analysis was conducted to determine if there was difference in the risk between doses of ASA. An adjusted OR was obtained for each of the 2 categories of ADD of ASA (<650 , \geq 650 mg/day). No exposure to ASA within 30 days prior to the event was the reference category. There was no a priori hypothesis of a dose-response relationship (eg. linear). Doses were fitted as a categorical variable in the multivariate model.

3.11.8 Sensitivity analysis

Control diagnoses: As discussed in the section on the selection of controls, a major assumption was that the control diagnoses were unrelated to exposure to NSAIDs. If there were a positive association between NSAIDs and a control diagnosis, then the OR for

the effect of NSAIDs and UGIB would be biased towards the null. The converse would be true if there were a negative association between NSAIDs and the control diagnosis. A priori, it was felt that the selected control diagnoses were unrelated to NSAID use. However, unknown associations may exist. Six categories of control diagnoses were created: respiratory illnesses, cholecystitis, trauma, other urinary tract illnesses, other GI conditions and, the broad category of "other diagnoses". A sensitivity analysis was conducted in which each control diagnostic category was removed from the analysis one at the time. The stability of the results was assessed.

Hospital: Differences may exist between the catchment populations of the various hospitals, which would limit the generalizability of the findings. In order to appraise the extent of this selection bias, a sensitivity analysis was conducted where each hospital was removed from the analysis one at a time and the stability of the results was assessed.

Study year: Information bias due to OTC availability of drugs is of concern with the use of automated databases. It was not possible in the current settings to appraise the extent of the bias because no information on OTC drugs were available. Incidentally, ibuprofen was released OTC between the 2 study years. In order to appraise the extent of the bias for NANSAIDs, ORs were obtained specifically for each of the 2 years and the direction of the bias was determined. It was not possible to appraise the extent of the information bias for ASA.

3.11.9 Data truncation

Data on prescriptions dispensed were assessed for a period of 3 years prior to admission. The impact of data truncation was assessed. The purpose of this analysis was to predict the direction and appraise the extent of the bias attributable to the truncation of information prior to the 3 years. So far in published studies, the maximum period of time considered was 1 year (Griffin et al., 1991) which results in an even greater truncation. The effect of data truncation was examined for the following variables: past exposure to NANSAIDs, past exposure to protective agents and history of upper GI procedures. The impact of data truncation was appraised by comparing the independent effect of these variables on UGIB as well as their effect on the association between NANSAID use and UGIB when assessed for a period of 1 year, 2 years and 3 years. The direction of the effect of the truncation of data prior to 3 years before admission could therefore be predicted. Although the truncation effect could not be extrapolated beyond the 3 years, its magnitude could be appraised.



Controls used in published epidemiologic studies on NSAID-gastropathy

STUDY	METHOD	DESCRIPTION
Coggon et al. (1982)	Local general practices	Community
Clinch et al. (1983)	Endoscopy service	Patients without lesions
Collier and Pain (1985)	Admission registry (no diagnosis)	Admissions for surgical emergencies
Bartle et al. (1986)	Not specified	 Hospitalized medical patients Visitors
Duggan et al. (1986)	Not specified	Surgical or dermatological clinics (first time attendance)
Somerville et al. (1986)	 Not specified Listings of general practice of cases 	 Same acute medical intake as cases Community
Armstrong and Blower (1987)	Consecutive admissions	Not specified
Henry et al. (1987)	Health Statistics Unit (information on 4 public hospitals)	Patients with peptic ulcers who survived
Smedley et al. (1988)	Not specified	Not specified
Jick et al. (1987)	GHC pharmacy files	Unrestricted



TABLE 3.1 (cont'd)

Controls used in published epidemiologic studies on NSAID-gastropathy

Carson et al. (1988)	Members of COMPASS	Random selection of NSAID users who did not develop UGIB
Levy et al. (1988)	Selection of diagnoses (admission records)	Trauma, appendicitis, uterine prolapse, benign prostatic hypertrophy, hernia, hemorrhoids
Campbell and Steele (1991)	 Emergency admissions List of patients in the department of Surgery 	 Random Uncomplicated diverticular disease
Laporte et al. (1991)	Admissions	Non-alcohol related trauma, acute appendicitis, other abdominal emergencies, elective surgery for non-painful disorders
Henry et al. (1991)	New admissions	Primary diagnoses thought to be unrelated to NSAIDs (not specified)
Griffin et al. (1991)	Medicaid enrollees	Random selection of members alive on index date
Holvoet et al. (1991)	Admissions	Next patients admitted to department of Medicine

TABLE 3.2

Glossary for the variables used to characterize drug utilization and history of gastropathy

Recent NANSAID (or ASA) use:

Non-aspirin NSAID (ASA) prescription dispensed or ending during the 30 days prior to admission.

Past NANSAID (or ASA) use:

Non-aspirin NSAID (or ASA) prescription ending between 31 days and 3 years prior to admission.

Patterns of NANSAID use:

- Recency

- Recent: NANSAID prescription dispensed or ending during the
 30 days prior to admission
- Former: NANSAID prescription ending only between 31 and 365 days prior to admission (no recent use)
- None: No NANSAID prescription dispensed or ending during the year prior to admission (non-recent, non-former).

TABLE 3.2(cont'd)

Glossary for the variables used to characterize drug utilization and history of gastropathy

- Duration
 - None: No NANSAID prescription ending between 31 and 365 days prior to admission
 Short-term: NANSAID use for a duration ranging from 1 to 30 days, between 31 and 365 days prior to admission
 - Intermediate: NANSAID use for a duration ranging from 31 to 120 days, between 31 and 365 days prior to admission
 - Long-term: NANSAID use for a duration of more than
 120 days, between 31 and 365 days prior
 to admission
- Switching

• None:	No NANSAID prescription ending
	between 31 and 365 days prior to
	admission
• Past use - no switch:	NANSAID prescription ending between
	31 and 365 days prior to the event,
	no switch between products
• Past use - switch:	NANSAID prescription ending between
	31 and 365 days prior to the event,
	at least 1 switch between products.
	120

TABLE 3.2(cont'd)

Glossary for the variables used to characterize drug utilization and history of gastropathy

Recent use of protective agents:

Protective agent (anticholinergic, antacid or H_2 antagonist) dispensed or prescription ending within 30 days prior to the event.

<u>History of gastropathy</u>

- Past use of protective agents:

Prescription of a protective agent ending between 31 and 365 days prior to admission.

- Past upper GI procedure:

Upper GI procedure (gastroscopy, duodenoscopy, biopsy of the upper GI tract, X-ray of upper GI tract) received between 61 days and 3 years prior to admission.

- Past visit to a gastroenterologist:

Visit to a gastroenterologist between 61 day and 3 years prior to admission.

TABLE 3.3

Characterization of the variables considered in data analysis

<u>Variable</u>	Туре	Unit
Dependent:		
UGIB	Dichotomous	Dummy variable: 0=control 1=case
Independent:		
Recent exposure to NANSAIDs or ASA	Dichotomous	Dummy variable: O=unexposed l=exposed
Recency	Trichotomous	Dummy variable: 0=none in year prior to admission 1=exposed only between 31 and 365 days 2=exposed within 30 days prior to admission
Past exposure to NANSAIDs (ASA)	Dichotomous	Dummy variable: 0=never during 3 years prior to admission 1=at least once during 3 years prior to admission
Duration pattern	Polychotomous	Dummy variable: 0=none in year prior to admission 1= 1- < 30 days 2= 31-120 days 3= > 120 days
Switching pattern	Trichotomous	Dummy variable: 0=none in year prior to admission 1=exposed-no switch 2=exposed-at least 1 switch
Recent use of protective agents	Dichotomous	Dummy variable: 0=no use in 30 days prior to admission l=exposed within 30 days prior to admission

TABLE 3.3(cont'd)

Characterization of the variables considered in data analysis

<u>Variable</u>	Туре	Unit
Past use of protective agents	Dichotomous	Dummy variable O=none in 3 years prior to admission 1=at least once in 3 years prior to admission
Recent use of Corticosteroid Anticoagulants Antineoplastic	Dichotomous	Dummy variable O=no use in 30 days prior to admission l=use in 30 days prior to admission
Average daily dose of ASA	Polychotomous	Dummy variable: 0=none 1= < 650 mg/day 2= <u>></u> 650 mg/day
History of gastropathy	Dichotomous	Dummy variable: O=negative l=positive
Smoking	Trichotomous	Dummy variable: 0=never 1=ex-smoker 2=current smoker
Duration of past exposure to NANSAID	Continuous s	Days
Nbr.switches	Count	
Recency of switches	Continuous	Number of days since last switch
ADDs of ASA	Continuous	Multiples of 325 mg



FIGURE 3.1

Logistics for the linkage of data



* Dx confirmation = Confirmation of diagnosis of cases

FIGURE 3.2

Dispensing patterns of non-aspirin NSAIDs

Figure 3.2a Consecutive dispensings

Dispensing 1 x-----x x-----x Dispensing 2

Figure 3.2b Overlapping dispensings

Dispensing 1 x-----x x-----x Dispensing 2

Figure 3.2c Nested dispensings

x ---- x Dispensing 1 x --- x Dispensing 2

Figure 3.2d Multiple dispensings

x ----- x Dispensing 1 x ----- x Dispensing 2 or, x ----- x Dispensing 1 x ----- x Dispensing 1 x ----- x Dispensing 2

Note: These patterns all refer to consecutive dispensings of the same non-aspirin NSAID product

FIGURE 3.3

Switching patterns of non-aspirin NSAIDs

x ----- x Product 1a (1) x ----- x Product 2 (2) x ----- x Product 1b (3)

- (1) First dispensing of the first non-aspirin NSAID product
- (2) First dispensing of the second non-aspirin NSAID product
- (3) Second dispensing of the first non-aspirin NSAID product

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

In this chapter are reported results obtained in the study. There are 3 main sections. The first consists of the description of the study population in terms of structure, diagnoses, comorbidity etc. Second, results obtained from univariate and bivariate analyses are presented. This section also includes findings from multivariate logistic regression analyses. The third section focuses on the description of patterns of NSAID use and their effect on the risk of UGIB. Further descriptive analyses are presented in tables included in appendix B.

4.1 DESCRIPTION OF THE STUDY POPULATION

Description: The study population consisted of 244 cases and 615 controls. The sex, age group, hospital and study year distributions are displayed in table 4.1. The women:men ratio was 1.01:1 which differs from the sex ratio in the province of Quebec for people age 65 and over of 1.47:1 (according to the 1986 census). The greatest proportion of patients was found in the 75-79 age group (31.9%) and the least in the 68-69 years old (8.9%). The greatest proportion of patients was recruited at the Maisonneuve-Rosemont Hospital, and the least at the Royal-Victoria (35.6% and 15.1%, respectively). The 2 study years contributed the same
proportion of patients (51.1% versus 48.9% for the year 1988/89 and 51.1% for 1989/90).

Matching: The control:case ratio varied between matched sets and averaged 2.52:1. It was not feasible to recruit 4 matched controls per case because: 1) the pool of potential controls was not large enough initially, 2) it was not always possible to find a substitute who met all matching criteria to replace non-eligible controls.

The matching criteria of age (\pm 5 years), sex, hospital and study year were always met. That of month of admission had to be relaxed for 2 reasons: 1) the pool of eligible controls was not large enough, especially for very old patients, in particular men and, 2) as described in chapter 3, the exact dates of admission were not known a priori in the HMRI discharge listings (Royal-Victoria and Jewish General hospitals). An attempt was made to reorganize controls a posteriori but sometimes it was not feasible. As a result, matching was within \pm 2 months for 97.8% of controls and within \pm 3 months for the remainder (2.2%).

4.2 CAUSES OF NON-ELIGIBILITY

Non-eligibility was assessed at 2 levels: first, during chart review and then, during the cleaning up of the database. A total

of 1405 reviewed charts (532 potential cases and 873 potential controls) led to 252 eligible cases and 642 controls. During the cleaning up of the database, 4 other cases and 14 controls were lost for the following reasons: 1) duplication during the study period (2 cases and 9 controls) and, 2) no match (2 cases and 5 controls).

The following discussion will focus on non-eligibility at chart review. Frequencies reported below are based on the number of eligible patients before the loss during cleaning up of the database, i.e. 252 cases and 642 controls.

Sixty-four patients (12.1% of non-eligible) had up to 2 reasons to be ineligible. The unit of analysis was the cause of non-eligibility and all were treated independently.

4.2.1 Cases

The percentage eligibility was 46.6% for cases, which is consistent with the 43% obtained during the feasibility study. The relative importance of the various causes of non-eligibility is shown in table 4.2a. The most frequent causes were: 1) lower GI bleeding (21.6%), 2) unconfirmed diagnosis (20.4%) and, 3) chronicity (17.6%).

Diagnosis: The percentage eligibility varied between ICD-9 categories (table 4.2b). It was greater for all types of ulcers (approximately 70%), while it was much lower for gastro-intestinal This discrepancy reflects differences in bleeding (16.4%). specificity between diagnoses. As expected, the eligibility for melaena was only 7.7%. This category was selected at the design stage in order to ensure not missing any cases. The initial approach focused more on sensitivity than specificity. Table 4.2c reports the most common causes of non-eligibility by diagnosis. For all types of ulcer, it was chronicity (35.9% for gastric and, 25.0% each for duodenal and peptic ulcers) while for gastrointestinal bleeding, it was lower GI bleeding (30.0%), which is consistent with the fact that this category is non-specific with respect to the pathologies included.

4.2.2 Controls

The percentage eligibility for controls was 71.7%. According to table 4.2a, the 3 most frequent causes of non-eligibility were: 1) chronicity (27.5%), 2) cancer of the GI tract (15.0%) and, 3) transfer from another hospital (11.3%).

Diagnosis: Causes of non-eligibility were reported for each major control diagnosis (table 4.3). Chronicity was the major cause for pneumonia and cholecystitis (62.3% and 14.9%, respectively) while

for trauma, it was transfer from another hospital (30.8%).

Non-eligibility by sex, age groups and hospital for cases and controls is found in appendix B.

In summary, the most common cause of non-eligibility for cases was lower GI bleeding. These patients were mainly found in the nonspecific ICD-9 category of gastro-intestinal bleeding and melaena. For controls, the major cause was chronicity. The relative importance of the various causes varied between the selected ICD-9 categories but were similar for sexes, age groups, hospitals and study years.

In addition to non-eligibility at chart review and at cleaning up of the database, there were 17 patients (4 cases and 13 controls) who did not receive any pharmaceutical services during 3 years prior and 2 years after admission. These patients may not have received prescriptions or they may not have been in the system. Among the possible explanations for the latter are: living in a tertiary care hospital (where drugs are provided by the hospital and are not administered by the RAMQ) or, these patients paid for their prescribed medications. It was not possible to verify any of these hypotheses because of the confidentiality nature of the database (the patient identifier was scrambled). However, it is known that these patients received at least one medical services

database confirms their residency status. This pattern of services (presence of medical service, absence of pharmaceutical service) favours the hypothesis of data truncation rather than absence of medications, especially since these patients had received prescriptions outside the time window. As described in chapter 3, an exclusion criterion was created at the design stage to minimize such information bias whereby patients who had been admitted for long periods of time during the 3 years preceding admission were not eligible for the study. This information was perhaps not available in the chart and escaped the screening criterion. However, because it was unclear, these patients were not considered for analysis.

In accordance with confidentiality procedures, detailed information on diagnoses and hospitalization parameters was analyzed before linkage with the RAMQ databases. As a result, it was not possible to sort out these 17 patients from the initial study population for the descriptive analysis described below. However, it was taken into account in the bivariate analyses and in the analytic component of data analysis. As a result, the denominator for the description of the diagnoses (section 4.3) is based on 248 cases and 628 controls, while that of the univariate and bivariate analyses (section 4.6) is based on 244 cases and 615 controls.

4.3.1 Cases

All diagnoses: After chart review and cleaning up of the database, there were 248 eligible cases. The case diagnoses were listed either as principal, secondary or death. Thirty-three cases had 2 eligible diagnoses and 6 cases had 3. Consequently, the total number of eligible diagnoses was 293. The distribution by diagnosis (principal, secondary or death diagnosis) and by hospital is described in table 4.4. The greatest proportion of diagnoses was gastric ulcers (34.8%) followed by duodenal ulcers (30.4%). Peptic ulcers accounted for the least: 4.8%. Gastritis and duodenitis were included in the broad category of gastro-intestinal bleeding.

It was possible to identify patients who died during hospitalization from the discharge listings (HMRI or Med-Echo). Of the 248 cases, 51 (20.6%) died during the admission for the gastropathy.

4.3.2 Controls

The 3 major diagnostic pools of potential controls were: trauma, respiratory illnesses and cholecystitis. These diagnoses accounted

for 30.7%, 29.9% and 15.4% respectively of the control diagnoses. The distribution of all control diagnoses is found in table 4.5. In contrast to cases, only 63 controls died (10.0%) during admission.

4.4 SYMPTOMS

4.4.1 Nature of symptoms

There were 17 different symptoms related to gastropathy (table The majority of patients had more than 1 symptom. 4.6). The distribution of the number of symptoms was: 3 (30.6%), 2 (28.6%), 4 (22.2%), 1 (16.5%) and 0 (2.0%). Symptoms were treated independently for the analysis. Melaena was the most common symptom (21.7%), followed by abdominal pain (18.7%). Symptoms were distributed more or less equally across the other categories. The most common symptom for men was melaena (25.6%) and for women was abdominal pain (20.7%). There was no significant difference in the distribution of symptoms between patients with and without a positive history of gastropathy as determined from chart review Cases with a prior history experienced more coffee (p<.478). ground vomiting than those with no history (5.69% versus 3.23%). They also had slightly more haematemesis (8.11% versus 5.38%).

4.4.2 Onset of symptoms

The time of onset of symptoms leading to hospital admission was recorded for both cases and controls. As shown in the table below, the proportion of patients decreased as the duration of symptoms increased.

<u>Onset of symptoms</u> (no. days before admission)	<u>% савев</u>	<u>% controls</u>
<u>≤</u> l day	39.9	42.7
2-3 days	23.7	18.3
4-7 days	19.5	22.3
8-14 days	7.1	7.9
15-30 days	9.9	9.0

The distribution of onset of symptoms was similar for cases and controls. In approximately 40% of the patients, symptoms were reported to occur within 24 hours of the event, and in approximately 80% within 1 week.

4.5 COMPARISON BETWEEN CASES AND CONTROLS

4.5.1 Comorbidity

Because of the heterogeneity among hospitals in the number of coded

diagnoses, the secondary diagnoses appearing on the summary sheet of the medical chart were pooled with those appearing on the physician's admission notes in order to create a variable called "comorbidity".

Number of comorbid conditions: The number of comorbid conditions per patient ranged from 0 to 20 and the average was 5.31. Most patients had 2 to 8 comorbid conditions. Cases had an average of 5.74 comorbid conditions while controls had 5.14. Men had an average of 5.22 conditions while women had 5.40. The average number of comorbid conditions differed between age groups with a trend of increasing number with increasing age which is consistent with an increase in morbidity with age.

The average number of comorbid conditions differed between hospitals: RVH, 4.10; HND, 5.44; HMR, 5.10; JGH, 5.92. Differences in the age structure of the catchment populations may explain the discrepancy between hospitals. Compared to the other hospitals, a greater proportion of the study population at the JGH was 85 years old or more. Comparative figures for the proportions of patients aged 85 or more are: RVH 8.5%, HND 11.7%, HMR 14.3%, JGH 20.6%. In addition, these results may reflect differences between hospitals in the extent of history taken rather than true differences in morbidity between the various cat *h*ment populations.

136

 (a_1, b_2)

Types of comorbid conditions: There were a total of 1423 comorbid conditions for cases and 3231 for controls. Using the condition as the unit of analysis, the distribution is shown in table 4.7.

The trend in the prevalence of comorbid conditions was more or less similar for cases and controls, with cardiovascular disease being the most common (27.7%) (because it included hypertension), followed by respiratory illnesses (8.7%) and other GI conditions (8.6%). The prevalence of infections among controls was twice that of cases (3.0% versus 1.2%) because it was directly related to the prevalence of pneumonia (the type of infection was coded by medical archivists in the summary sheet). Differences in comorbidity between sexes is shown in appendix B.

4.5.2 Medical history

The medical history was assessed from the physician's admission notes.

Number of conditions: The minimum number of past conditions was 0 and the maximum was 18. The average was 2.2. The greatest proportion of patients (31.1%) did not have any medical history mentioned in the chart. Cases had an average of 1.75 conditions compared to 2.36 for the controls. Types of conditions: The distribution of diagnoses is shown in table 4.8. The most common type of past medical illness was cardiovascular disease (22.1% of patients), followed by other GI illnesses (13.3%) and diseases of the genito-urinary tract (10.1%). The distribution was similar for cases and controls. A greater percentage of controls hađ respiratory and genitourinary If history of such conditions was a risk factor for conditions. current episodes of these diseases, this was not unexpected given that many controls were selected in these diagnostic categories. However, a greater proportion of controls also had trauma in the This result was rather unexpected as it would be expected past. that episodes of trauma would be relatively independent from each other. However, these results suggest that the presence or absence of past illnesses in the chart is greatly influenced by the types of questions asked by the physician at admission. Probing for various diseases varies according to the admission diagnosis: orthopoedists are more likely to inquire about past trauma events, gastroenterologists about history of gastropathy etc.

The distribution of past illnesses by sex is shown in appendix B.

4.6 UNIVARIATE AND BIVARIATE ANALYSES

Univariate and bivariate analyses were based on the denominator of 244 cases and 615 controls (i.e. after excluding the 17 patients with unknown drug consumption).

4.6.1 Individual prescriptions

Duration: During the 3 years preceding admission, the total number of prescriptions dispensed to the entire study population was very similar for NANSAIDs and ASA: 3609 and 3423, respectively. For both classes, the duration of most prescriptions was 30 days. A frequency analysis, reported in table 4.9, revealed that 54.4% of NANSAIDs and 77.7% of ASA prescriptions were for 30 days.

Renewals: As shown in table 4.10, the ratio between new prescriptions and renewals was 1:1.20 for NANSAIDs and 1:2.23 for ASA. Hence, a greater proportion of ASA prescriptions were renewals compared to NANSAIDs.

Individual products: The relative importance of individual NANSAIDs during the 3 years before admission is described in table 4.11. Diclofenac accounted for the greatest proportion of NANSAID prescriptions (17.5%), followed by indomethacin (16.8%) and naproxen (16.5%).

Forms of administration: The forms of administration of the prescriptions received in the 3 years preceding admission are shown in Table 4.12. It can be noted that, for the most part, ASA was enteric-coated (98.5%). The most common forms of administration of NANSAIDs were tablets or capsules (60.2%), followed by enteric-coated capsules or tablets (20.7%). The mode of classification of the various forms of administration in the RAMQ database did not permit to distinguish between tablets and capsules. Long-acting preparations accounted for 9.9% of NANSAIDs prescriptions and suppositories for 9.2%.

4.6.2 Recent exposure to NSAIDs

Of the study population, 248 patients (28.9% of the study population) had an NSAID prescription that ended within 30 days prior to the event. Twenty seven patients (3.1%) were using NANSAIDs and ASA concurrently during this time window. The distribution of users among the various stratifying variables is shown in table 4.13. Almost twice as many cases were exposed to any NSAIDs than controls (40.6% versus 24.2%) (chi-square=22.73, p<.001). The difference between cases and controls was more important for NANSAIDs than for ASA. For NANSAIDs, the proportion of recent exposure was: 27.0% of cases versus 11.2% controls (chisquare=33.047, p<.001). For ASA, it was: 20.1% cases versus 14.8% controls (chi-square=3.577, p=.059). The crude ORs were 2.93

(2.01-4.27) and 1.45 (0.98-2.12), respectively.

There was little difference between men and women regarding recent exposure to all NSAIDs (chi-square=1.352, p=.245). However, when the 2 categories of products were considered separately, more men than women took ASA (20.6% versus 12.0%) (chi-square=11.566, p<.001), while less took NANSAIDs (13.6% versus 17.8%) (chisquare=2.916, p=.088). The greatest proportion of NSAID users was found among the 70-74 years old, both for ASA and NANSAIDs. However, the distribution was not significantly heterogeneous among age groups (chi-square=2.49, p=.115 for NANSAIDs and, chisquare=3.304, p=.552 for ASA).

The distribution of individual NANSAID products during the 30 days preceding the event is shown in table 4.14. For both cases and controls, diclofenac was the most frequent.

4.6.3 Comparison between the two time windows

As described in chapter 3, there is no consensus on the appropriate time window for the assessment of the risk of UGIB following NSAID use. In order to appraise the effect of the time window on the risk, a comparison was made between 7- and 30-day time windows.

Results obtained from both time windows are contrasted in tables

4.15a-b. As expected, for both cases and controls, the proportion of exposed patients was greater when a wider time window was considered. However, the difference was proportionally greater for controls than for cases. This discrepancy resulted in a lower estimate of relative risk for NANSAIDs as well as for ASA. These results indicate that an increase in the width of the time window has a greater influence on the proportion of exposure among controls than among cases which resulted in an under-estimation of the relative risk.

Bivariate analyses were conducted for various covariates and findings are summarized in table 4.19. Results are reported in greater detail below.

4.6.4 Past exposure to NSAIDs

Of the study population, 382 patients (44.5%) received at least 1 NANSAID prescription that ended between 31 days and 3 years preceding admission. The corresponding figure for ASA was 276 (32.1%). The distribution of past exposure among sexes and age groups is presented in appendix B.

Number of prescriptions: The total number of NANSAID prescriptions received by each patient during the 3 years preceding admission (excluding recent exposure) ranged from 1 to 62. The mean was 8.84 and the median was 4. The total number of ASA prescriptions ranged from 1 to 75. The mean was 11.6 and the median was 7.

Association with UGIB: The proportion of cases who received a NANSAIDs in the 3 years preceding admission was similar to that of controls (47.1% versus 43.4%) (chi-square= 0.977, p=.323). The crude OR associated with past use of these drugs was 1.16 (0.86-1.56). The association with past use of ASA was similar: chi-square= 2.420, p=.120 and the crude OR was 1.28 (0.94-1.75).

Association with recent exposure to NSAIDs: There was a strong association between past and recent use of NSAIDs. Of the patients who had been exposed to a NANSAID during the 3 years before, 33.0% were recently exposed, compared to 1.9% of those who had never been exposed before (chi-square=154.865, p<.001). The corresponding figures for ASA were 47.5% and 1.5% (chi-square=289.546, p<.001). Such a strong association is due to the fact that the 30-day time window is specific to this study and is arbitrary with respect to the course of treatment. Hence, long-term users were more likely to have been recently exposed.

4.6.5 Distribution of other potential confounders, risk and effect modifiers.

4.6.5.1 Concomitant exposure to protective agents

Recent use of protective agents was assessed. As described in chapter 3, it consisted of any prescription of these agents dispensed or ending within 30 Jays prior to the event. The distribution of recent use of protective agents for cases and controls is shown in table 4.16.

Association between recent use of protective agents and UGIB: Significantly more cases than controls were recent users of protective agents (18.0% versus 9.9%) (chi-square=10.720,p<.001). The crude odds ratio associated with recent use of protective agents was 2.0 (1.3-3.04).

Association between recent use of protective agents and NSAID exposure: The association with recent NSAID use was significant for NANSAIDs but not for ASA. Of recent NANSAID users, 24.4% were also using protective agents versus 9.9% of non-users (chisquare=22.296,p<.001). The association with exposure was present in both cases and controls (p=.002 and p=.009, respectively). Conversely, there was no association with ASA use: 15.0% of ASA users were also using protective agents compared to 11.7% of nonusers (chi-square=1.202,p=.273).

4.6.5.2 Smoking

Information on smoking was missing in the medical charts of 110 patients (18.4% cases and 10.6% controls). Of the remaining study population, 20.0% were smokers, 25.2% had quit smoking (ex-smokers) and 54.7% were non-smokers. The distribution of smoking among cases and controls is shown in table 4.17.

Association between smoking and UGIB: The distribution of cases and controls into the 3 levels of smoking was significantly heterogeneous (chi-square=12.709, p=.002). More cases were current smokers compared to controls (22.5% versus 15.4%). The proportion of ex-smokers did not differ to a great extent between the 2 groups (22.1% versus 22.0%, respectively). The crude OR for current smokers was 2.06 (1.37-3.09), and for ex-smokers it was 1.42 (0.96-2.10).

Association between smoking and recent exposure to NANSAIDs: Opposite trends were found for cases and controls. Among cases recently exposed to NANSAIDs, a greater proportion of patients were smokers (42.6%) compared to non-smokers (23.1%). In contrast, more unexposed cases were non-smokers (71.4%). For controls, results were similar for patients exposed and unexposed to NANSAIDs; the greatest proportion being non-smokers.

4.6.5.3 History of gastropathy

Bivariate analyses were conducted for each of the four markers of history of gastropathy namely, past upper GI procedures, past visit to a gastroenterologist, past exposure to protective agents and history of gastropathy assessed in the medical chart. The method of ascertainment and respective time windows were described in chapter 3. The association between each marker and UGIB is shown in tables 4.18.

A) History of upper GI procedures

Of the study population, 146 patients (17.0%) had received such a procedure between 61 days and 3 years preceding admission: 65.4% of the procedures were diagnostic gastroscopy, 33.8% upper GI X-ray, and 0.8% duodenoscopy. Slightly more men than women had received these procedures, 18.7% versus 15.3%, but the difference was not significant (chi-square=1.820, p=0.177). The distribution into age groups was not significantly heterogeneous (chi-square=5.673, p=0.225) but point estimates suggest a decreasing trend with increasing age: 22.7% for age 68-69, 18.4% for 70-74, 16.8% for 75-79, 17.9% for 80-84 and 10.8% for \geq 85 years.

Association between past upper GI procedures and UGIB: 24.2% of cases and 14.2% of controls had received such a procedure. The difference was highly significant (chi-square='2.467, p<.001). The crude OR for the effect of past upper GI procedures on UGIB was 1.93 (1.34-2.80).

Association between past upper GI procedures and recent exposure to NSAIDs: Patients who received such a procedure in the past were not significantly less likely to have used NANSAIDs recently than those who did not: 16.3% versus 17.1% (chi-square=0.056, p=.813). Similar results were obtained for ASA: 15.7% versus 17.3% (chisquare=0.195, p=.659).

B) History of visit to a gastroenterologist

Of the study population, 191 patients (22.2%) had seen a gastroenterologist between 61 days and 3 years preceding admission. The proportion of men and women was almost identical: 22.3% and 22.2%, respectively. Similarly, there was no difference between age groups (chi-square=1.788, p=.775).

Association between past visit to a gastroenterologist and UGIB: 30.7% of cases versus 18.9% of controls had seen a gastroenterologist before and the difference was significant (chi-

square=14.249, p<.001). The crude OR was 1.91 (1.36-2.68).

Association between past visit to a gastroenterologist and recent exposure to NSAIDs: There was no association with exposure. Findings were very similar for NANSAIDs (chi-square=0.207, p=.649) and ASA (chi-square=0.173, p=.678). These findings suggest that past visit is associated with UGIB but does not influence NSAID prescribing practices.

C) Past use of protective agents

Of the study population, 160 patients (18.6%) were exposed at least once to a protective agent between 31 days and 3 years preceding the event. There was no difference between sexes: 26.0% versus 28.9% (chi-square=0.931, p=.334) nor age groups (chi-square=6.508, p=.164).

Association between past use of protective agents and UGIE: Significantly more cases than controls had received a protective agent before: 38.5% versus 23.1% (chi-square=20.887, p<.001). The crude odds ratio was 2.09 (1.52-2.87).

Association between past use of protective agents and recent exposure to NSAIDs: 19.9% of patients who had received a protective agent at least once before had recently used NANSAIDs compared to 14.1% of those who had not. This difference was significant (chisquare=4.332, p=.037). However, there was no association between past exposure to protective agents and recent exposure to ASA: 17.4% versus 15.9% (chi-square= 0.276,p=.352).

D) History of gastropathy assessed in the charts

History of gastropathy was missing in the chart of 21 patients (2.4% of the study population), all of them controls. This finding was not surprising given that this question was always asked to patients admitted with a gastropathy but not necessarily to others. Among patients with available information, 170 (20.3%) had a positive history. A positive history was found in 23.8% of men and 16.8% women and the difference between sexes was significant (chi-square=6.287, p=.012). The distribution across age groups was not significantly heterogeneous (chi-square=4.172, p=.383) but, as with history of upper GI procedures, point estimates indicated a decreasing trend with increasing age: ranging from 26.7% for the 68-69 year old to 16.5% for the \geq 85 year old.

Association between history and UGIB: According to the information appearing in the charts, 41.4% of cases had a positive history compared to 11.6% of controls. This association was highly significant (chi-square=94.834, p<.001). The crude OR was 5.37 (3.76-7.68).

Association between history and recent NSAID use: There was no significant association between history of gastropathy and exposure to NANSAIDS. 18.8% of patients who had a positive history were using NANSAIDs compared to 15.3% of those who had a negative history (chi-square=1.274, p=.259). Results were similar for ASA: 17.1% versus 16.5% (chi-square=0.034, p=.853).

In summary, the percentage of patients with a positive history was very similar between the various measures, ranging from 17% to 22.2%. All measures agreed that history of gastropathy was associated with a greater risk of UGIB and the crude ORs were similar. An exception was history obtained from the medical chart where it was 5.37. Further comparisons of these measures are found below in the section on multivariate analyses. When history of upper GI procedures, visit to a gastroenterologist and history assessed in the charts were used as markers, there was no association with recent NANSAID use. However, when past use of protective agents was used, there was an association between past use of these drugs and recent use of NANSAIDs.

4.6.5.4 Co-prescriptions

Anticoagulants: There was no association between recent use of these drugs and UGIB: 2.9% of cases and 2.3% of controls had recently been exposed (chi-square=0.257, p=.612). The crude OR was

1.3 (0.51-3.18). There was no association between the use of these drugs and exposure to NANSAIDs (chi-square=0.180, p=.671). None of the patients exposed to ASA were using an anticoagulant compared to 2.9% of patients who were not using ASA.

<u>Corticusteroids</u>: 7.8% of the cases and 6.3% of the controls were recent users of corticosteroids. The difference was not significant (chi-square=0.580, p=.446). There was a strong association between recent use of corticosteroids and recent exposure to NANSAIDs: 12.6% of those exposed to a NANSAID were also recently exposed to a corticosteroid compared to 5.7% of the unexposed (chi-square=8.678, p=.003).

Antineoplastic drugs: 1.6% of cases and 2.6% of controls had been recently exposed to these agents and there was no association with UGIB (chi-square=0.711, p=.399). Similarly, there was no association between the use of these drugs and recent exposure to NANSAIDs (chi-square=1.332, p=.248).

In this study population, there was no evidence of an association between the use of these drugs and UGIB. A significant association with recent exposure to NANSAIDs was only found with recent use of corticosteroids.

In summary, as shown in table 4.19, past NANSAID use between 31 days and 3 years prior to admission was associated with recent use

of NANSAIDs but according to the crude OR it was not significantly associated with UGIB. Past and recent use of protective agents as well as recent use of corticosteroids were associated with recent NANSAID use but not with recent ASA use. Recent and past use of protective agents were the only variables significantly associated with both recent use of NANSAIDs and UGIB. Smoking, past upper GI procedure, past visit to a gastroenterologist and history of gastropathy assessed in the charts were associated with UGIB but not with recent NANSAID or ASA use.

4.6.6 Association between independent predictors of UGIB

Association between history of gastropathy and use of protective agents:

Past upper GI procedures: Patients who had received such procedures in the past were more likely to be recent users of protective agents than those who did not: 28.1% versus 9.0% (chisquare=41.230, p<.001). Similarly, these patients were more likely to have used protective agents in the past: 67.8% versus 19.2% (chi-square=143.613, p<.001).

<u>Past visit to a gastroenterologist</u>: There was a very strong association between past visit to a gastroenterologist and recent use of protective agents. Of patients who had seen a specialist,

26.7% were using protective agents compared to 8.1% of those who had not (chi-square= 47.984, p<.001). Similarly, the association was very strong for past use of protective agents: 58.6% versus 18.6% (chi-3quare=119.721, p<.001).

Past use of protective agents: 37.7% of patients who had used protective agents during the 3 years prior to admission had been recently exposed to them compared to 2.6% of those who did not (chi-square=197.027,p<.001). These results are similar to the association between past and recent use of NSAIDs given that the 30 day time window was arbitrary. Long-term users were more likely to be recent users.

<u>History assessed in charts:</u> 29.4% of patients who had a positive history of gastropathy according to the charts were recent users of protective agents versus 8.23% of those with a negative history. The difference was highly significant (chi-square=55.457, p<.001). Of those who had a positive history, 58.8% had used protective agents in the past compared to 19.9% of patients with a negative history (chi-square=102.225, p<.001).

Results obtained from the various markers of history of gastropathy appear to be consistent. In this study population, patients with a positive history of gastropathy were more likely to use protective agents than to decrease NANSAID use.

Association between history of gastropathy and past NANSAID use: The association between history of gastropathy and past NANSAID use during the 3 years before admission was assessed for all measures of history.

Upper GI procedures: Patients who had used NANSAIDs in the past were not significantly more likely to have received an upper GI procedure than those who did not: 18.0% versus 15.6% (chisquare=0.795, p=.373).

<u>History of visit to gastroenterologist:</u> 24.3% of patients who had used NANSAIDs in the past had seen a specialist versus 19.3% of non-users. This difference was non significant (chi-square=2.935, p=.087).

<u>Past use of protective agents:</u> 31.6% of patients who had been exposed to NANSAIDs before also used protective agents in the past compared to 21.3% of those who were not. The difference was significant (chi-square=11.383, p<.001).

History assessed in charts: 61.8% of patients with a positive history had used NANSAIDs before compared to 58.4% of those with a negative history. The difference was non-significant (chi-square=0.641, p=.423).

These results are difficult to interpret because the timing of the

marker of history relative to past NANSAID use was not taken into account. Nevertheless, only past use of protective agents seemed associated with past NANSAID use maybe because of prophylactic purposes. As a whole, there appeared to be no collinearity between history of gastropathy and past NANSAID use.

4.7 LOGISTIC REGRESSION ANALYSES

Results from the logistic regression analyses are reported in the following section. The overall model will first be presented and then followed by a description of the effect of each variable.

4.7.1 Exposure to NSAIDs

For both NANSAIDS and ASA, the following analyses were designed to partition the effects of "recent" exposure and "past" exposure during the 3 years prior to admission. The 2 effects were fitted as independent variables in the model. The reference category consisted of patients who had not been exposed within 30 days prior to the event. Results of the multivariate logistic regression model are presented in table 4.20. Past use of ASA, recent use of corticosteroids, anticoagulants and antineoplastic drugs were not significantly associated with the risk of UGIB and were not confounders in the association bewteen NANSAID, ASA and UGIB.

Consequently, they were not retained in the final model.

The crude OR associated with recent NANSAID use was 2.93 (2.01-4.27) and that of ASA was 1.45 (0.99-2.12). In addition to recent exposure to NANSAIDs and ASA, other significant predictors of UGIB were: past exposure to NANSAIDs, history of gastropathy, and smoking. A comparison between the crude and adjusted OR showed that these parameters biased the effect of NSAID use on UGIB towards the null. The adjusted OR for NANSAIDs was 3.36 (2.05-5.52) and that for ASA was 1.65 (0.96-2.82). The addition of the matching variables in the model (i.e. sex, age group, hospital and study year) did not affect the estimates and did not improve significantly the goodness-of-fit of the model. Thus, they were not retained.

Below is described in greater details the effect of each concomitant variable on UGIB.

Past cxposure to NANSAIDs: Past exposure to NANSAIDs between 31 days and 3 years preceding admission was associated with a lower risk of UGIB. It was an independent predictor and the adjusted OR was 0.66 (0.44-0.97).

The interaction between recent NANSAID use and past NANSAID use was significant (p=.015). Effect modification was evaluated by stratification. The crude OR associated with recent exposure to

NANSAIDs for patients with and without past experience with these drugs in the 3 years before admission is shown in table 4.21. Patients who had not used the drugs during the 3 years before had a greater risk of experiencing UGIB than those who had used the drugs during this time period. According to the Breslow-Day test, the ORs were significantly heterogeneous (p=.032). The wide 95% C.I. in the first estimate is due to the very small number of patients who did not use these drugs during the 3 years before but who were recently exposed (8 cases and 1 control). These results would suggest effect modification by past NANSAID use. However, a misclassification of only 1 patient in the exposure groups could change the conclusion. A sensitivity analysis was conducted in order to assess the significance of the results when the size of the smaller cell (1 patient) was increased. The OR for patients who did not use the drug in the past decreased from 22.94 (2.84-185.32) to 11.49 (2.40-55.56) when the cell size was increased to The Breslow-Day test and the interaction were no longer 2. significant (p=.088 and p=.062, respectively). These results favour an absence of effect modification. However, given the large sample size for the control group, only 1 exposed control out of 615 suggests that the true value may be 0 instead of 1. In this case, the OR would even be greater. Results from this sensitivity analysis suggest that misclassification of only 1 patient would change the significance of the results. To assess effect modification from the Breslow-Day test may be questionable. On the other hand, only 1 exposed controls out of 615 would suggest that

there may be a true effect.

History of gastropathy: The stability of the results between the various markers of history of gastropathy was assessed by comparing results from the logistic regression. The regression coefficients and estimates of relative risk obtained with each measure are shown in appendix B. In table 4.22 are summarized the estimates of relative risk obtained from each of the markers of history of gastropathy. The ORs for past upper GI procedures and past visit to a gastroenterologist were very similar: 2.02 (1.32-3.09) and 2.05 (1.38-3.04), respectively. However, when assessed in the charts, the effect of positive history was much greater 5.26 (3.47-7.95).

The magnitude of the association between recent NANSAID and ASA use and UGIB remained fairly stable across markers. So did the effect of past NANSAID use and smoking. Based on these results, history of upper GI procedures was selected as the marker for history of gastropathy in the final model.

Recent use of protective agents: Recent use of protective agents increased the risk of UGIB even when past upper GI procedures was included in the model. There was no collinearity between the 2 parameters. The OR associated with recent use of protective agents was 1.66 (1.03-2.67).

Smoking: Only current smokers had a significant risk of UGIB. The adjusted OR was 2.40 (1.57-3.67). The OR for ex-smokers was above unity but the 95% confidence interval included the null: 1.46 (0.97-2.20).

Co-prescriptions: Results indicate that the concomitant use of corticosteroids, anticoagulants or antineoplastic drugs did not have a significant effect on UGIB and did not affect the estimate of relative risk associated with NSAID use.

In summary, the effect of NANSAIDs on UGIB was greater than that of Past use of NANSAIDs in the 3 years preceding admission was ASA. an independent predictor of UGIB and it was associated with a lower risk. Stratum-specific ORs indicated that the magnitude of the association between recent NANSAID use and UGIB was greater for patients who had not used the drugs before than those who had. However, it cannot be concluded if past use of NANSAID is a true effect modifier. A positive history of gastropathy increased the risk of UGIB, whatever the marker used. Recent exposure to protective agents increased the risk independently of history of gastropathy, which indicates an absence of collinearity between the 2 variables. However, there was collinearity between past and recent use of protective agents.

4.7.2 Average daily doses of ASA

The distribution of ADDs for the 140 patients exposed to ASA is shown in table 4.23. There were no ADDs below 325mg/day. Based on these results, the ADDs were grouped into 2 categories: <650mg/day and ≥650mg/day. The distribution of patients into the 2 dose categories was assessed and results from the logistic regression are reported in table 4.24. ASA was significantly associated with UGIB only when used at the lowest ADD category. These results do not support a dose-response relationship. Possible explanations for these results are found in the discussion (chapter 5).

4.8 SENSITIVITY ANALYSES

In this section are reported results from the sensitivity analyses conducted on control diagnoses, hospitals and study years.

Control diagnoses: The distribution of patients among the diagnostic categories was described in section 4.3.2. Results of the sensitivity analysis in which each control diagnostic category was removed one at a time are presented in table 4.25. The OR for NANSAIDs obtained by including all patients was: 3.36 (2.05-5.52). The greatest OR was obtained when controls with trauma were removed and the lowest when those with cholecystitis were removed. As a whole, results remained stable with the selective exclusion of each

of the major control diagnostic categories.

For ASA use, results were fairly stable ranging from 1.41 (0.89-2.24) when respiratory illnesses were removed to 1.65 (1.06-2.57) when the category "others GI illnesses" was removed.

The stability of the results indicates that none of the control diagnostic categories were associated more or less with NSAIDs. Such consistency suggests that it is likely that control diagnoses are not associated with NSAID use. NSAID use in the control group is thus representative of the base population.

Matching variables (age group, hospital, sex and study year) were included in each model in order to ensure that the selective removal of diagnoses did not introduce confounding by these variables. None were significant and they did not alter the results.

Hospitals: Because the study was not population-based, results may have been biased due to differences in the structure of the hospital catchment populations. In order to appraise the extent of the bias, a sensitivity analysis was conducted by removing one hospital at a time. Results are reported in table 4.26. The estimates of relative risk remained stable.

Study year: The analysis was conducted for each of the study years and results are reported in table 4.27. The estimate of relative risk associated with NANSAID use was smaller in 88/89 than in 89/90: 3.16 (1.59-6.29) and 3.75 (1.78-7.93), respectively. If the misclassification of exposure due to OTC availability of ibuprofen was non-differential among cases and controls, then the OR would have been biased towards the null in 89/90. The direction of the results did not support this hypothesis. Hence, misclassification was most likely differential. If it mainly occurred among controls (i.e. more controls were in fact using NANSAIDs), then the OR would have been biased away from the null. On the other hand, misclassification occurring mainly among cases would have under-Based on the results, the first situation estimated the OR. appeared to be the most likely. Nevertheless, the magnitude of the bias, if present, was not too important because of the extensive overlap between the 95% C.I. of 88/89 and 89/90 estimates.

Results remained stable with the exception of smoking and history of gastropathy where the magnitude of the association was considerably greater in 1989-90. The actual sample size was somewhat reduced in each analysis because of missing values for smoking. Consequently, estimates are unstable.

4.9 DATA TRUNCATION

In order to appraise the direction and extent of misclassification due to the absence of data on a longer term than 3 years, the frequency of past exposure to NANSAIDs was assessed for a time window of 1 year, 2 years and 3 years preceding the event. The distribution of exposure for the 3 different time windows is presented in table 4.28. The effect of past exposure on the association between NANSAIDs, ASA and UGIB obtained from each time window is displayed in table 4.29.

The magnitude of the association between NANSAIDs, ASA and UGIB increased slightly with a wider time window. For NANSAIDs, the estimate of relative risk increased from 3.07 to 3.36. For ASA, the estimates remained stable. The effect of ASA became statistically significant (the 95% C.I. did not include the null) only when a 3 year time window was used. According to the point estimate of relative risk, there was no such trend for the independent effect of history of upper GI procedures. Past NANSAID use was associated with a lower risk of UGIB in all time windows considered. However, it became significant only when it was assessed for 3 years. As well, the interaction with recent NANSAID use was only present when data were available for 3 years.

From this analysis, it can be concluded that the effect of NANSAID and ASA use is slightly under-estimated when history of drug
exposure and gastropathy are assessed for a short period of time. An extrapolation of these results suggests that data truncation due to restricting the entry in the cohort at age 65 slightly biases the results towards the null. However, the extent of the bias is expected to be very small and it is not likely that it would have a clinical or public health significance. If the interest is on the independent effect of the other parameters, data truncation under-estimates to a significant extent the effect of past NANSAID use. It only affects slightly the effect of history of gastropathy, assessed by past upper GI procedures.

In summary, the lack of longitudinal data on individuals biases the results slightly towards the null. It can also be observed that the magnitude of the effect of past exposure to NANSAIDs increases as the time window increases.

4.10 PATTERNS OF NON-ASPIRIN NSAID USE

Bivariate analyses of patterns are first presented and are followed by an assessment of their effect on the risk of UGIB.

4.10.1 Duration

Of the study population, 80 cases (32.8%) and 151 controls (24.5%) were exposed at least once to NANSAIDs between 31 days and 1 year before admission. Duration of NSAID use between 31 days and 1 year preceding hospital admission was assessed. By definition the maximum was 335 days. The distribution of duration is shown below:

<u># pa</u>	<u>tients</u>	Minimum	<u>Maximur</u> (1	n <u>Mean</u> 10. days	<u>Mode</u> 3)	<u>Std Dev.</u>	Median
Cases	80	5	312	132.7	30	97.3	102
Controls	151	1	325		30	85.9	52

Levels of duration: Duration of exposure to NANSAIDs during the year before was expressed as a variable with 4 levels: none in the past year, short-term (\leq 30 days), intermediate (31-120 days) and long-term (>120 days). The distribution of the study population into the 4 levels is presented in appendix B. It was heterogeneous among sexes (chi-square=10.009, p=.018). More men than women had never been exposed during the year (75.9% versus 70.4%). The proportion of women in the long-term use group was approximately

twice that of men (11.3% versus 5.4%). The proportion of men and women in the other categories was similar. The distribution was not significantly heterogeneous among age groups (chi-square=8.046, p=.782).

Association between duration and UGIB: The association between duration of NANSAID use in the past year and UGIB is presented in table 4.30. The distribution of cases and controls into the 4 levels of past exposure to NANSAIDs was significantly heterogeneous (chi-square= 18.352, p<.001). A greater proportion of cases were long-term or intermediate users while more controls were short-term users.

Association between duration and recent exposure to NANSAIDs: As shown in table 4.30, there was a strong association between levels of NANSAID use during the year before admission and recent exposure to NANSAIDs (chi-square=406.362, p<.001). The proportion of patients exposed within 30 days prior to the event increased as the duration of exposure during the year increased. There were more long-term users among the recently exposed and the reverse was true for the unexposed. These results provide an evidence of lengthbiased sampling (i.e. the probability of being recently exposed was greater for long-term users).

4.10.2 Switches between products

Switches between products were assessed between 31 days and 1 year before admission according to the method described in chapter 3. During this time period, 20 cases (25.0% of past NANSAID users during the year) and 30 controls (19.9%) switched at least once between products between 2 consecutive NANSAID dispensings less than 60 days apart.

Number of switches: The number of switches ranged from 1 to 7; the majority of patients switching only once:

Number of switche	<u>s <u>Cases</u> n(%)</u>	<u>Controls</u> n(%)
1 2 3 4 5 6 7	12 (60.0) 3 (15.0) 1 (5.0) 2 (10.0) 1 (5.0) 0 (0.0) 1 (5.0)	17 (56.7) 7 (23.3) 3 (10.0) 2 (6.7) 0 (0.0) 1 (3.3) 0 (0.0)
То	tal: 20	30

Date of last switch: The distribution of the date of the last switch before the recent exposure is reported below:

	<u>No. patients</u>	<u>Minimum</u> (no. days	<u>Maximu</u> before	<u>m Mean</u> admission)	<u>Std Dev.</u>	<u>Median</u>
Cases	20	67	333	166.7	94.5	114
Controls	30	53	346	192.9	97.0	228

The distribution of switchers into genders and age groups is shown appendix B. The association between switching and recent exposure to NANSAIDs and UGIB is shown in table 4.31.

Association between switching and UGIB: 25.0% of cases who were NANSAID users during the year had switched once before compared to 19.9% of controls. However, the heterogeneity of the distribution of switchers and non-switchers between cases and controls was nonsignificant (chi-square=0.812, p=.367).

Association between switching and recent exposure to NANSAIDs: Among those who used NANSAIDs during the year, 64.0 % of switchers were also recent users of NANSAIDs compared to 45.3% of those who never switched. The association was significant (chi-square=5.479, p=.019).

According to these results, switching between NANSAIDs was not associated with UGIB but was associated with recent exposure to NANSAIDs. Patients who switched products were more likely to be recent users of NANSAIDs.

The distribution of switchers into the various levels of NANSAID use is shown below:

	Short-term <u>1-30 days</u>	Intermediate <u>31–120 days</u>	Long-term <u>>120 days</u>	<u>Total</u>
Switched Never switched	3 (4.1) 71 (96.0)	24 (28.2) 61 (71.8)	23 (31.9) 49 (68.1)	50 181
Total:	74	85	72	231

The distribution was highly heterogenous (chi-square=20.182, p<.001). As expected, short-term users switched the least probably because they only had 1 prescription. The difference in the proportion of switchers between intermediate and long-term use was very small (28.2% and 31.9%, respectively).

4.10.3 Switches between average daily doses

Twelve cases (15% of past NANSAID users during the year prior to admission) and 12 controls (7.9%) increased the ADDs of the same product. The number of patients who decreased the ADDs was: 6 (7.5%) and 9 (6.0%), respectively for cases and controls. For each direction, the maximum number of switches was 3. Three patients switched both ways on separate occasions.

Date of the last increase in ADD: The distribution of the date of the last increase in ADD of NANSAIDs is found below:

	<u>No. patients</u>	<u>Minimum</u> (no. days	<u>Maximum</u> before	<u>Mean Std. Dev.</u> admission)	<u>Median</u>
Cases	12	70	355	192.6 105.2	205.0
Controls	12	81	338	220.6 89.3	216.5

Date of the last decrease in ADD: The distribution of the date of the last decrease in ADD of NANSAIDs is found below:

	<u>No. patients</u>	<u>Minimum</u>	Maximum	<u>Mean</u>	Std. D	ev. Median
		(no. days	before	admissic	n)	
Cases	6	94	172	121.2	35.4	99.0
Controls	9	79	348	208.5	89.9	189.0

Association between switching ADDs and UGIB: Among NANSAID users during the year prior to admission, 12 cases (15%) and 12 controls (8.0%) had increased the dose at least once. This difference was not significant (chi-square=2.794, p=.095). Six cases (7.5%) had decreased the dose versus 9 controls (6.0%) which was not significant either (chi-square=0.204, p=.651).

Association between switching ADDs and recent exposure to NANSAIDs: All patients who had increased the ADD before were recently exposed to NANSAIDs compared to 43.5% of those who did not increase the dose. Similarly, all patients who had decreased ADD were recently exposed compared to 45.8% of those who had never decreased.

It appears that switching ADDs of NANSAIDs, whether increasing or

decreasing, was highly associated with recent exposure to NANSAIDs. Switching ADDs was not associated with UGIB, although an increase in dose may be closer to reaching significance than a decrease. Numbers were very small and thus, leading to unstable results.

4.10.4 Switches between forms of administration

Only 10 patients (\vec{e} cases and 4 controls) switched between forms of administration of the same product during the year preceding the event. The maximum number of switches between forms was 4. The types of switches encountered are described in appendix B.

Date of last switch The distribution of the date of the last switch between forms of administration is found below:

	<u>No. patients</u>	<u>Minimum</u> (no. days	<u>Maximum</u> before a	<u>Mean</u> dmission)	<u>Std.Dev.</u>
Cases	6	19	343	124.2	120.8
Controls	4	46	246	165.3	86.1

Association between switching forms and UGIB: Among the 231 users of NANSAIDs during the year before admission, a slightly greater proportion of cases switched between forms of administration than controls (6.3% versus 4.0%) but the difference was not significant (chi-square=0.598, p=.440).

Association between switching forms and recent exposure to NANSAIDs: 63.6% of those who switched between forms of administration had recently been exposed to NANSAIDs compared to 48.6% of those who did not switch. Because numbers were very small, the difference was not significant (chi-square=0.943, p=0.332).

Because very few patients switched between forms of administration of the same product, it was not possible to make statistical inferences on the effect of this type switching on UGIB.

4.10.5 Multiple users

Among past NANSAID users between 31 and 365 days prior to admission, 24 patients received a prescription for a NANSAIDs and an ASA on the same day at least once: 12.5% of cases versus 4.0% of controls (chi-square=8.891, p=.003). However, it is likely that these proportions under-estimate the truth. Although small shifts in dates of dispensing were sometimes observed, it was obvious upon closer examination of data that the patient used NANSAIDs and ASA concomitantly. These patients were not recorded as multiple users.

Among past users, 22 patients (9.5% of past NANSAID users during the year) had received multiple NANSAIDs prescriptions (same or different) on the same date (7.8% cases and 10.9% controls). Only 8 patients received a prescription for 2 different NANSAIDs on the

same day (3.5% past NANSAID users). There was no association with UGIB (3.75% cases and 3.31% controls, chi-square=0.030, p=.862).

4.10.6 Association between independent variables

Association between duration of NANSAID use and recent use of protective agents: The distribution of recent exposure to protective agents into the various levels of past exposure to NANSAIDs during the year before admission is described in table 4.32. The distribution highly heterogeneous (chiwas square=29.727, p<.001). The proportion of recent exposure to protective agents increased with duration of past exposure to NANSAIDs. It ranged from 9.2% for those who have not been exposed to NANSAIDs during the year to 27.8% for long-term users. This association was present for both cases and controls (p=.07 and p<.001, respectively).

Association between duration of NANSAID use and history of gastropathy: When history of upper GI procedures was used as a marker of gastropathy, there appeared to be no association between levels of past NANSAID use and history of gastropathy (chisquare=3.341, p=0.342) (table 4.33a). However, when history was assessed by past use of protective agents during that time period, the distribution was significantly heterogeneous (chisquare=18.223, p<.001) (table 4.33b). Approximately twice as many

intermediate or long-term users of NANSAIDs were using protective agents compared to those not exposed during the year before or exposed for a short term.

Association between switching and recent use of protective agents: 32% of patients who switched products at least once during the year had recently been exposed to protective agents compared to 17.1% of patients who were exposed but did not switch. This association was highly significant (chi-square=27.508, p<.001).

Association between switching and past exposure to protective agents: Among past users of NANSAIDs, switchers were more likely to have used protective agents than non-switchers (34% versus 24%). However, the difference was not significant (chi-square=1.893, p=.169).

4.10.7 Summary of bivariate analyses of patterns of NANSAID use

In summary, patterns of NANSAID use assessed between 31 and 365 days prior to admission were different for cases and controls. A greater proportion of cases were long-term or intermediate users while more controls were short-term users. Only 50 patients switched products. Switching was not associated with UGIB but was strongly associated with recent NANSAID use and recent use of protective agents. Switching average daily doses or forms of

administration of the same product occurred infrequently in this population of elderly and was not associated with UGIB.

4.11 LOGISTIC REGRESSION AND STRATIFICATION ANALYSES OF PATTERNS

4.11.1 Recency

Exposure to NANSAIDs was categorized into 2 levels: "recent" exposure (last prescription ending within 30 days of the event), and "former" exposure (last prescription ending between 31 and 365 days preceding admission). The unexposed during the year was the reference category. The proportion of exposure for cases and controls as well as results from the logistic regression analysis are presented in table 4.34. Compared to controls, a greater proportion of cases had recently been exposed to NANSAIDs while the converse was true for former exposure. Recent use of NANSAIDs was associated with a greater risk of UGIB. There was no significant risk associated with former use.

4.11.2 Duration

The association between NANSAID use and UGIB corresponding to each category of duration of exposure is shown in table 4.30. Point

estimates of relative risk suggest that the association decreases as the duration of exposure increases. Long-term users appear to be at lower risk than short-term users: 1.47 (0.32-6.68) and 5.58 (1.58-19.64), respectively. According to the Breslow-Day test, the ORs were not significantly heterogeneous (chi-square=2.693, p=.441).

4.11.3 Switches between products

According to the point estimates of relative risk displayed in table 4.31, patients who had switched in the past year appeared to be at greater risk for UGIB than those who used NANSAIDs but did not switch. However, because of the small number of switchers, the 95% CI of the OR was very wide and, as a result, estimates of relative risk were not significantly heterogeneous (Breslow-Day test: chi-square=3.039, p=.219).

In summary, duration of past NANSAID use during the year preceding admission or switching between products appear to affect the estimate of relative risk associated with recent NANSAID use. Because of overlapping 95% C.I., it is not possible to conclude that there is effect modification. As seen in section 4.7.1, a greater effect is obtained by ascertaining past NANSAID use on a longer term (3 years before admission).

176

. 1

4.12 SUMMARY OF RESULTS

1) Exposure to NSAIDs: Recent exposure to NSAIDs increases the risk of hospitalization for UGIB in the Quebec elderly population. The magnitude of the association was greater for NANSAIDs than for ASA. The adjusted ORs were 3.36 (2.05-5.52) and 1.56 (1.00-2.42), respectively.

2) Past use of NANSAIDs: Past use of NANSAIDs between 31 days and 3 years preceding admission was associated with a lower risk of UGIB. The independent effect was significant only when controlling for other factors. There was a significant interaction between past and recent use of NANSAIDs. The estimate of relative risk associated with recent NANSAID use was significantly greater for patients who were using these drugs for the first time in 3 years.

3) Recency: The risk associated with recent NANSAID use was significant while that associated with former use was not (in the latter, the number of days after interruption of treatment was 30 days or more).

4) Duration: Significantly more cases than controls were long-term or intermediate users. The risk associated with recent NANSAID use decreased as the duration of past NANSAID use increased. However, the difference between duration patterns was not significant. 5) Longth-biased sampling: The probability of being recently exposed increases with duration of exposure.

6) Switching: Switching products did not occur frequently in this elderly population. Switchers were at a greater risk than nonswitchers but because of the small frequency of switches, the difference was not significant.

7) Protective agents: Recent use of protective agents was associated with a greater risk of UGIB. The estimate of relative risk was 1.66 (1.03-2.67). Furthermore, long-term users of NANSAIDs as well as patients who switched products were more likely to use these drugs.

8) Past history of gastropathy: Past history of gastropathy was an independent predictor of UGIB. The estimates of relative risk for the effect of history of gastropathy remained fairly stable when the different markers of history were used (upper GI procedures, visit to a gastroenterologist or past use of protective agents). All increased the risk by a factor of approximately 2. An exception was history assessed in the charts where it was much greater (OR=5.35). There was no association between past upper GI procedure, past visit to a gastroenterologist and history assessed in the chart and recent use of NANSAIDs. However, past users of protective agents were more likely to have used NANSAIDs recently.

9) Average daily doses of ASA: This study did not detect a doseresponse relationship for the effect of recent ASA use. Low ADDs of ASA (ADDs <650 mg/day) were associated with a significant risk of UGIB but not those greater or equal to 650 mg/day.

10) Other risk factors: Among the other potential risk factors for UGIB, only smoking was associated with an increase in the risk. Recent use of comedications, such as corticosteroids, anticoagulants or antineoplastic drugs did not have an effect on UGIB and were not confounders.

Structure of the study population

	<u>No. patients</u>	<pre>% Study population</pre>
Cases	244	28.4
Controls	615	71.6
Men	427	49.7
Women	432	50.3
68-69	75	8.7
70-74	201	23.4
75-79	274	31.9
80-84	179	20.8
≥ 85	130	15.1
Total:	859	

.

~

Causes of non-eligibility of potential cases and controls

	FREQUENCY n (%)		
	Cases	<u>Controls</u>	
Lower GI bleeding Unconfirmed diagnosis Chronic Cancer of the GI tract Transfer Past gastric surgery Allergic to ASA Long-term or multiple	71 (21.6) 67 (20.4) 58 (17.6) 27 (8.2) 23 (7.0) 18 (5.5) 13 (4.0) 9 (2.7)	1 (0.4) 2 (0.8) 75 (30.4) 37 (15.0) 28 (11.3) 22 (8.9) 15 (6.1) 7 (2.8)	
admissions in past 3 years Non-incident Cirrhosis Non-resident Alcoholism Elective admission NSAIDs side-effect Error in coding of diagnosis Cause missing	7 (2.1) 6 (1.8) 2 (0.6) 2 (0.6) 2 (0.6) 1 (0.3) 0 (0.0) 13 (3.8)	$ \begin{array}{c} 8 & (\ 3.2) \\ 3 & (\ 1.2) \\ 11 & (\ 4.5) \\ & & \\ 5 & (\ 2.0) \\ & & \\ 3 & (\ 1.2) \\ 16 & (\ 6.5) \end{array} $	
For cases: other pathologies responsible for UGIB	20 (6.1)		
For controls: gastropathy		13 (5.3)	
Total:	342	247	



TABLE 4.2b

Non-eligibility by case ICD-9 diagnosis

<u>Diagnosis</u>	<u>No. charts reviewed</u>	<u>No. eligible</u>	<u>Eligibility</u> %
Ulcer: - gastric	138	97	70.3
- duodenal	109	77	70.6
- peptic	20	13	65.0
Haematemesis	72	27	37.5
Melaena	39	3	7.7
GI bleeding	214	35	16.4
	592	252	42.6

Most frequent cause of non-eligibility by case ICD-9 diagnosis

Diagnosis	Cause	<u>Relative importance</u>
- Gastric ulcer	chronicity	35.9%
- Duodenal ulcer	chronicity	25.0%
- Peptic ulcer	chronicity	25.0%
- GI bleeding	lower GI bleeding	30.0%

Most frequent cause of non-eligibility by control ICD-9 diagnosis

<u>Diagnosis</u>	Cause	Frequency (%)
Cholecystitis	Chronic Transfer Past stomach surgery	62.3 10.7 10.7
Pneumonia	Chronic Cancer of the GI tract Past stomach surgery	14.9 13.5 12.2
Trauma	Transfer Cancer of the GI tract Gastropathy Multiple admissions Long-term or multiple admissions	30.8 15.4 7.7 7.7 7.7



Distribution of the case diagnoses

Diagnosis * <u>(ICD-9)</u>	<u>RVH</u> (1)	<u>HND(2)</u>	<u>HMR(</u> 3)	JGH(4	1)	<u>Total</u>
531.0 531.1 531.2 531.4 531.5 531.6	1 0 0 12 1 0	1 0 13 4 0	1 0 27 8 0	6 6 0 19 0 2		9 6 1 71 13 2
					Subtotal	102
532.0 532.1 532.2 532.4 532.5 532.6	0 0 17 2 1	1 0 9 3 0	1 2 13 2 0	7 3 0 22 3 1		9 5 2 61 10 2
					Subtotal	89
533.0 533.1 533.2 533.4 533.5 533.6	0 0 1 0 0	0 0 2 0 0	0 0 4 1 0	3 0 3 0 0		3 0 10 1 0
					Subtotal	 14
578.0 578.1 578.9	0 3 8	0 0 19	34 2 8	2 4 9		36 9 44
					Subtotal	89
No. of dx	46 	52 	105	90 	Total	293
No. of cases	40	45	83	80		248
* 531 532 533 578.0 578.1 578.9	Gastric ulc Duodenal (Peptic ulce Hamateme Malaena Gastro-inte	er ulcer er esis estinal bleedir	ng (unspecified)			
(1) Royal-Victor (2) Hôpital Not	ria Hospital re-Dame	(3) (4)	Hôpital Maisonneu Jewish General He	rve-Rosemo ospital	ont	1 5

÷.

Distribution of control principal diagnoses

<u>Diagnostic category</u>	<u>No. Controls (%)</u>
Trauma	189 (30.7)
Respiratory	184 (29.9)
Cholecystitis	97 (15.4)
Urinary tract	56 (9.1)
Other GI	33 (5.4)
Other	65 (8.8)
Missing	4 (0.7)
Total:	628

Other GI tract disorders consisted of:

<u>No</u> .	<u>Patients</u>	<u>% Patients</u>
Appendicitis	19	3.0
Hernia	5	1.0
Occlusion	1	0.2
Diverticulum	2	0.3
Peritonitis	2	0.4
Cholangitis	2	0.3
Other biliary duct cond.	. 1	0.2
Pancreatitis	1	0.2
Total:	33	

.

Distribution of symptoms of cases

Nature of symptom	Frequency
	(१)
Melaena	21.7
Abdominal pain	18.7
Nausea	7.4
Vomiting	6.7
Hematemesis	6.5
Dizziness	5.9
Coffee ground stool	5.5
Anemia	5.2
Shortness of breath	5.2
Weakness	4.4
Coffee ground vomiting	4.3
Bloody diahrrea	2.1
Loss of appetite	1.9
Syncope	1.7
Diarrhea	1.7
Constipation	0.8
Weight loss	0.2





Distribution of comorbidity of cases and controls

	CASES		CONTROLS	
	Number	<u>% comorbidity</u>	Number	<u>%comorbidity</u>
Gastric ulcer	35	2.5	-	-
Duodenal ulcer	19	1.3	-	-
Peptic ulcer	13	0.9	-	-
Gastr./duoden.	62	4.4	-	-
GIB	59	4.1	5	0.2
CVD	383	26.9	906	28.0
Other GI illnesses	121	8.5	277	8.6
Respiratory	119	8.4	285	8.8
Endocrinologic	99	7.0	262	8.1
Osteo-muscular	91	6.4	177	5.5
Genitourinary	80	5.6	202	6.3
Sensory organs	77	5.4	230	7.1
Trauma	39	2.7	216	6.7
Mental disorder	33	2.3	131	4.1
Infection	17	1.2	97	3.0
Tumour	24	1.7	55	1.7
Hematologic	55	3.9	68	2.1
Other	97	6.8	320	9.9
Total:	1423		3231	

Legend	Gastr .:	Gastritis
	Duoden .:	Duodenitis
	GIB:	Gastrointestinal bleeding
	CVD:	Cardiovascular disease

Medical history of cases and controls

<u>Diagnosis</u>	<u>All patients combined</u> १	<u>Cases</u> १	Controls १
CVD*	22.1	24.3	21.5
Other GI	13.3	14.2	13.0
Genito-urinary	10.1	6.7	11.1
Trauma	7.8	3.7	9.1
Tumour	7.3	7.8	7.1
(other than GI)			
Respiratory	6.9	3.0	8.0
Sensory organs	6.1	3.0	7.0
Musculo-skeleta	al 2.0	2.3	2.0

* Cardio-vascular disease

Frequency distribution of individual non-aspirin NSAID

and ASA prescriptions

Prescribed		
Duration	NANSAIDS	ASA
(days)	n=3609	n=3423
	(%)	(የ)
7	6.2	4.6
10	6.5	1.0
15	9.1	1.4
20	3.4	0.6
25	4.5	3.8
30	54.4	77.7
>30	6.0	8.7

Note:	Frequency	distribution of the total number of prescriptions
	dispensed	during the 3 years prior to admission

.

Distribution of new and renewed individual prescriptions

Product	<u>New</u> n(%)	<u>Renewed</u> n(%)	<u>Total</u>
NANSAIDS	1639 (45.4)	1970 (54.6)	3609
ASA	1061 (31.0)	2363 (69.0)	3425

Note: Frequency distribution of the total number of prescriptions dispensed during the 3 years prior to admission



Distribution of individual products, 3 years before admission

Product	No. prescriptions (%)
Diclofenac sodium	632 (17.5)
Indomethacin	606 (16.8)
Naproxen	594 (16.5)
Ibuprofen	533 (14.8)
Ketoprofen	372 (10.3)
Piroxicam	372 (10.3)
Sulindac	256 (7.1)
Flurbiprofen	102 (2.8)
Diflunisal	49 (1.4)
Tiaprofenic acid	37 (1.0)
Tolmetin	26 (0.7)
Fenoprofen	22 (0.6)
Mefenamic acid	2 (0.1)
	*
Total:	3609



Note: Total number of non-aspirin NSAID prescriptions dispensed to the study population during the 3 years prior to admission

Distribution of the forms of administration of non-aspirin NSAIDs

and ASA, 3 years before admission

	<u>NANSAIDs</u> (n=3609)	<u>ASA</u> (n=3423)
Tablets or capsules	60.2	1.3
Enteric-coated	20.7	98.5
Long-acting	9.9	0.2
Suppositories	9.2	N/A [*]

- * N/A: Non-applicable
- Note: Total number of prescriptions dispensed to the study population during the 3 years prior to admission



Exposure to NSAIDs within 30 days prior to admission

All NSAIDS			ASA n (% study population)			<u>NANSAIDs</u>		
99 149	(40.6) (24.2)	49 91	(20.1) (14.8)	66 69	(27.0) (11.2)			
131 117	(30.7) (27.1)	88 52	(20.6) (12.0)	58 77	(13.6) (17.8)			
18	(24.0)	10	(13.3)	12	(16.0)			
68	(33.8)	39	(19.4)	40	(19.9)			
8T	(29.6)	47	(1/.2)	41	(15.0)			
49 32	(27.4) (24.6)	26 18	(13.8)	26 16	(14.5) (12.3)			
	<u>99</u> 149 131 117 18 68 81 49 32	<u>All NSAIDs</u> 99 (40.6) 149 (24.2) 131 (30.7) 117 (27.1) 18 (24.0) 68 (33.8) 81 (29.6) 49 (27.4) 32 (24.6)	All NSAIDs ASI 99 (40.6) 49 149 (24.2) 91 131 (30.7) 88 117 (27.1) 52 18 (24.0) 10 68 (33.8) 39 81 (29.6) 47 49 (27.4) 26 32 (24.6) 18	All NSAIDs ASA n (% study population 99 (40.6) 49 (20.1) 149 (24.2) 91 (14.8) 131 (30.7) 88 (20.6) 117 (27.1) 52 (12.0) 18 (24.0) 10 (13.3) 68 (33.8) 39 (19.4) 81 (29.6) 47 (17.2) 49 (27.4) 26 (14.5) 32 (24.6) 18 (13.8)	All NSAIDs ASA NAM n (% study population) n (% study population) 66 149 (24.2) 91 (14.8) 69 131 (30.7) 88 (20.6) 58 117 (27.1) 52 (12.0) 77 18 (24.0) 10 (13.3) 12 68 (33.8) 39 (19.4) 40 81 (29.6) 47 (17.2) 41 49 (27.4) 26 (14.5) 26 32 (24.6) 18 (13.8) 16	All NSAIDsASA n (% study population)NANSAIDs99 (40.6)49 (20.1)66 (27.0)149 (24.2)91 (14.8)69 (11.2)131 (30.7)88 (20.6)58 (13.6)17 (27.1)52 (12.0)77 (17.8)18 (24.0)10 (13.3)12 (16.0)68 (33.8)39 (19.4)40 (19.9)81 (29.6)47 (17.2)41 (15.0)49 (27.4)26 (14.5)26 (14.5)32 (24.6)18 (13.8)16 (12.3)		



Distribution of the individual non-aspirin NSAID products

during the 30 days prior to admission

Product	<u>All_patients</u> n(%)	<u>Cases</u> n(%)	Controls n(%)
Diclofenac	55 (23.8)	30 (24.6)	25 (22.9)
Naproxen	38 (16.5)	17 (13.9)	21 (19.3)
Ketoprofen	33 (14.3)	20 (16.4)	13 (11.9)
Indomethacin	29 (12.6)	15 (12.3)	14 (12.8)
Piroxicam	27 (11.7)	18 (14.8)	9 (8.3)
Ibuprofen	25 (10.8)	7 (5.7)	18 (16.5)
Sulindac	9 (3.9)	4 (3.3)	5 (4.6)
Flurbiprofen	8 (3.5)	6 (4.9)	2(1.8)
Diflunisal	3 (1.3)	2 (1.6)	1 (0.9)
Tolmetin	2 (0.9)	2 (1.6)	0 (0.0)
Tiaprofenic acid	2 (0.9)	1 (0.8)	1 (0.9)
Total:	231	122	109

Note:

The number of prescriptions exceeds the number of exposed individuals because some patients had more than 1 prescription that ended within 30 days prior to the event

TABLE 4.15a

Crude odds ratio for the effect of non-aspirin NSAID use on upper gastro-intestinal bleeding at different time windows

Time window	Cas	A S	Crude Controls Odds ratio 959			
	Exposed	Unexposed	Exposed	Unexposed		
7 davs	56	188	48	567	3.52	2.31 - 5.35
30 days	66	178	69	546	2.93	2.03 - 4.24

TABLE 4.15b

Crude odds ratio for the effect of aspirin use on

upper gastro-intestinal bleeding at different time windows.

Time window	Cas	es	Cont	rols	Crude ls Odds ratio 95%			
	Exposed	Unexposed	Exposed	Unexposed				
7 days	44	200	76	539	1.56	1	.04 -	2.34
30 days	49	195	91	524	1.45	0	.99 -	2.12



Association between recent use of protective agents and

recent use of non-aspirin NSAIDs

Use of protective	Ca	ses	Controls			
agents *	Exposed**	Unexposed	Exposed	Unexposed		
······································		n (%)		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
None	46 (69.	7) 154 (86.5)	56 (81.2)	498 (91.2)		
Recent	20 (30.	3) 24 (13.5)	13 (18.8)	48 (8.8)		
Total	66	178	69	546		

- * Recent exposure to protective agents (prescription ending within 30 days prior to admission
- ** Recent exposure to NANSAIDs (prescription ending within 30 days prior to admission)



Distribution of recent exposure to non-aspirin NSAIDs

by smoking levels

Cases		Controls		Cruđe		
Smoking level	Exposed	Unexposed	Exposed	Unexposed	Odds ratio	95% C.I.
		n	(%)			
Smokers	46 (42.6)	9 (9.9)	7 (10.8)	88 (18.1)	2.06	1.37-3.09
Ex-smokers	37 (34.3)	17 (18.7)	14 (21.5)	121 (24.9)	1.42	0.96-2.10
Non-smokers	25 (23.1)	65 (71.4)	44 (67.7)	276 (56.9)	Reference	
Total:	108	91	65	485		

٠

.



Comparison between the four markers of history of gastropathy

.

	H: Case	istory of a	g <mark>astropat</mark> h Con	y trols			
	<u>Positive</u>	<u>Negative</u>	<u>Positive</u>	<u>Negative</u>	<u>Crude</u>	OR (95% C.I.)	
Upper GI procedure (1)	59	185	87	528	1.93	(1.34-2.80)	
Visit to gastroenterologist (2)	75	169	116	499	1.91	(1.36-2.68)	
Past use of protective agents (3)	94	150	142	473	2.09	(1.52-2.87)	
History assessed in charts (4)	101	143	69	525	5.37	(3.76-7.68)	

(1) Upper gastro-intestinal procedure received between 61 days and 3 years prior to admission

(2) Visit to a gastroenterologist between 61 days and 3 years prior to admission
(3) At least 1 prescription for a protective agent between 31 days and 3 years prior to admission
Summary of bivariate analyses

	Association with						
<u>Covariate</u>	<u>NANSAIDs</u>	<u>ASA</u>	UGIB		Crude	OR (95% C.I.)	
Past NANSAID use	**	N.A.	N.S.		1.06	(0.86-1.56)	
Past ASA use	N.A.	**	N.S.		1.28	(0.94-1.75)	
Concomitant use of	**	N.S.	**		2.00	(1.30-3.04)	
Smoking	N.S.	N.S.	*	Ex:	1.42	(0.96-2.10)	
<u>ononing</u>				Current:	2.06	(1.37-3.09)	
History of gastropathy:							
a) past UGI procedure	N.S.	N.S.	**		1.93	(1.34-2.80)	
b) visit to gastroenterologist	N.S.	N.S.	**		1.91	(1.36-2.68)	
c) past use of protective agents	*	N.S.	**		2.09	(1.52-2.87)	
	NG	NG	بد بد		e		
d) history assessed in charts	N.S.	N.S.	* *		5.37	(3./6-/.68)	
Comedications:							
a) anticoagulants	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.		1.03	(0.50-2.11)	
b) corticosteroids	*	N.S.	N.S.		0.94	(0.60-1.47)	
c) antineoplastic drugs	N.S.	N.S.	N.S.		1.45	(0.72-2.90)	

Significant at the .05 level Significant at the .01 level *

**

N.S.

Non-significant Non-applicable N.A.

Multivariate logistic regression analysis

Independent predictors of upper-gastrointestinal bleeding*

<u>Parameter</u>	<u>B coefficient</u>	<u>8td. 1</u>	Error <u>P value</u>	Cr OR	ude (95% C.I.)	Adjusted OR (95% C.I.)
NANSAIDS	1.212	.253	<.001	2.93	(2.01-4.27)	3.36 (2.05-5.52)
ASA	0.499	.274	.069	1.45	(0.99-2.12)	1.56 (1.00-2.42)
Past NANSAID use	-0.412	.204	.043	1.16	(0.86-1.56)	0.66 (0.44-0.97)
Protective agents	0.510	.244	.037	1.28	(0.94-1.75)	1.66 (1.03-2.67)
Ex-smokers	0.382	.209	.067	1.42	(0.96-2.10)	1.46 (0.97-2.20)
Smokers	0.878	.217	<.001	2.06	(1.37-3.09)	2.40 (1.57-3.67)
Hx of gastropathy**	0.700	.218	.001	1.93	(1.34-2.80)	2.02 (1.32-3.09)

Deviance 741 DF = 808.777

Interactions:

Recent NANSAID use * Past use of NANSAIDs in previous 3 years: LRS(1df)=5.95, p=.015
Recent NANSAID use * Recent use of protective agents: LRS(1df)=0.64, p=.423
Recent NANSAID use * History of gastropathy: LRS(1df)=0.12, p=.725
Recent NANSAID use * Smoking: LRS(2df)=1.31, p=.519

201

Non-use during the 30 days preceding the event is the reference category
 History of gastropathy assessed by past upper GI procedures



The relative risk for hospitalization for upper gastro-intestinal bleeding

associated with recent use of non-aspirin NSAIDs

for patients with and without past use of these drugs in the last 3 years

Use of NANSAIDs in past 3 years	Cases Controls			Crude Odds Ratio	95% CI	
	Exposed	Unexposed	Exposed	Unexposed		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
None	8	121	1	347	22.73	2.84 - 200.00
At least once	58	57	68	199	2.98	1.88 - 4.72

Breslow-Day test for homogeneity of ORs: chi-square=4.575, p=.032





Multivariate logistic regression analysis

Comparison between the 4 measures of history of gastropathy

Parameter	UGI procedures	Past visit to a <u>Gastroenterologist</u>	Past use of protective agents	<u>Hx assessed in charts</u>
NANSAIDS	3.36 (2.05-5.52)	3.43 (2.08-5.65)	3.34 (2.05-5.49)	3.58 (2.14-6.01)
ASA	1.56 (1.01-2.42)	1.55 (1.00-2.40)	1.58 (1.02-2.44)	1.57 (1.00-2.47)
Past NANSAID use	0.66 (0.44-0.97)	0.65 (0.44-0.97)	0.61 (0.41-0.92)	0.68 (0.45-1.02)
Protective agents	1.66 (1.03-2.67)	1.57 (0.96-2.54)	1.16 (0.68-1.97)	1.08 (0.64-1.81)
Ex-smoker	1.46 (0.97-2.20)	1.42 (0.95-2.14)	1.44 (0.96-2.17)	1.30 (0.84-2.00)
Smoker	2.40 (1.57-3.67)	2.39 (1.56-3.66)	2.25 (1.47-3.45)	2.24 (1.44-3.49)
Positive history of gastropathy	2.02 (1.32-3.09)	2.05 (1.38-3.04)	2.26 (1.50-3.41)	5.26 (3.47-7.95)

Distribution of average daily doses of

ASA within 30 days prior to admission *

<u>Average</u> (mg/day)	<u>Multiple of 325mg/day</u>	No. prescriptions	<u>Percent</u>
325	1	61	43.6
650	2	35	25.0
975	3	7	5.0
1300	4	26	18.6
1625	5	0	0.0
1950	6	4	2.9
2275	7	2	1.4
2600	8	l	0.7
2925	9	2	1.4
3250	10	1	0.7
3575	11	1	0.7
Total		140	



* Last ASA prescription before admission

Multivariate logistic regression analysis

Average daily doses of ASA

Average Daily Dosage * (mg/day)	Ca	ases	Cor	ntrols	Odds Ratio ^{**}	95% CI
e		n (%)			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
≥650 <650 Unexposed	25 24 195	(10.2) (9.8) (79.2)	54 37 524	(8.8) (6.0) (85.2)	1.32 1.92 Reference	0.74 - 2.33 1.05 - 3.51

 Estimated from dose per unit of administration, prescribed duration of treatment and quantity.

****** Adjusted odds ratio



Sensitivity analysis

Effect of control diagnoses

	All included (n=749)	Respiratory illnesses (n=582)	Cholecystitis (n=675)	'Trauma (n=593)
NANSAIDs ASA Drotost og *	3.36 (2.05-5.52) 1.56 (1.01-2.42)	3.16 (1.86-5.36) 1.41 (0.89-2.24)	3.05 (1.82-5.10) 1.60 (1.02-2.51) 1.06 (1.02-2.51)	3.81 (2.24-6.47) 1.57 (0.99-2.49)
Hx of NANSAIDs	1.66 (1.03-2.67) 0.66 (0.44-0.97) 1.46 (0.97-2.20)	1.66 (0.33-2.73) 0.64 (0.42-0.96) 1.77 (1.14-2.75)	1.96 $(1.19-3.24)0.67$ $(0.45-1.01)1.52$ $(0.99-2.31)$	1.48 (0.89-2.46) 0.64 (0.42-0.96) 1.31 (0.85-2.00)
Smokers Hx of UGI proc.**	2.40 (1.57-3.67) 2.02 (1.32-3.09)	2.48 (1.58-3.89) 2.02 (1.27-3.20)	$\begin{array}{c} 2.14 & (1.39 - 3.30) \\ 2.14 & (1.38 - 3.33) \end{array}$	2.82 (1.77-4.49) 1.83 (1.16-2.87)
	Urinary tract (n=697)	Other GI illnesses (n=718)	Other (n=698)	Missing (n=745)
NANSAIDS	3.38 (2.04-5.60)	3.48 (2.11-5.77)	3.19 (1.92-5.28)	3.36 (2.04-5.52)
Protect, ag.	1.65 (1.02-2.68)	1.64 (1.01-2.66)	1.63 (1.00-2.66)	1.64 (1.02 - 2.65)
Hx of NANSAIDs	0.65 (0.43-0.96)	0.67 (0.45-1.00)	0.69 (0.46-1.03)	0.65 (0.44-0.97)
Ex-smokers	1.49 (0.98-2.26)	1.37 (0.91-2.07)	1.37 (0.91-2.07)	1.46 (0.97-2.20)
Smokers	2.24 (1.46-3.44)	2.43 (1.57-3.74)	2.34 (1.52-3.60)	2.45 (1.60-3.76)
Hx of UGI proc.	1.97 (1.28-3.04)	2.09 (1.35-3.23)	2.00 (1.29-3.08)	2.05 (1.33-3.14)

* Recent use of protective agents

****** History of upper gastro-intestinal procedures (marker of history of gastropathy)

<u>Note:</u> The actual sample size does not correspond to the total sample size minus the number of controls in the diagnostic category because there were also 110 patients with no information on smoking.



Sensitivity analysis

Effect of hospitals

	<u>Royal-Victoria</u> (n=636)	<u>Notre-Dame</u> (n=607)	<u>Maisonneuve-Rosemont</u> (n=536)	<u>Jewish General</u> (n=468)	
NANSAIDs	3.13 (1.85-5.29)	3.23 (1.85-5.65)	3.58 (1.92-6.70)	3.55 (1.93-6.56)	
ASA	1.66 (1.03-2.66)	1.38 (0.85-2.24)	1.48 (0.87-2.51)	1.82(1.05-3.14)	
Prot.ag. *	1.77 (1.05-2.98)	1.41 (0.81-2.46)	1.62 (0.94-2.82)	1.95 (1.07-3.54)	
Past NANSAID use	0.66 (0.43-1.02)	0.78(0.50-1.20)	0.52(0.32-0.85)	0.66(0.41 - 1.08)	
Ex-smoker	1.33 (0.85-2.08)	1.36 (0.87-2.12)	1.76 (1.08-2.88)	1.44 (0.86 - 2.42)	
Smoker	2.26(1.42 - 3.61)	2.75(1.71-4.42)	2.18(1.28-3.71)	2.30(1.37 - 3.87)	
Hx of UGI proc. **	1.57 (0.98-2.52)	2.51 (1.57-3.99)	2.01 (1.20-3.35)	2.20 (1.28-3.79)	

* Recent use of protective agents
** History of upper gastro-intestinal procedures (marker of history of gastropathy)

.

Sensitivity analysis

Effect of study years

<u>88/89</u> (n=369) <u>89/90</u> (n=380)

NANSAIDS	3.16 (1.59-6.29)	3.75 (1.78-7.93)
ASA	1.73 (0.94-3.19)	1.43 (0.76-2.68)
Prot.ag. *	2.01 (0.94-4.26)	1.59 (0.84-3.00)
Past NANSAID use	0.68 (0.39-1.18)	0.56 (0.31-1.00)
Ex-smoker	0.90 (0.49-1.64)	2.50(1.39 - 4.49)
Smoker	2.05 (1.12-3.76)	3.18 (1.71-5.90)
Hx of UGI proc. **	1.37 (0.70-2.67)	2.99 (1.66-5.37)

* Recent use of protective agents
 ** History of upper gastro-intestinal procedures (marker of history of gastropathy)

Distribution of past exposure to non-aspirin NSAIDs

into 3 different time windows

Past exposure to NSAIDs									
	31 days-1 year Exposed Unexposed		31 day Exposed	s-2 years Unexposed	31 days-3 years Exposed Unexpose				
Cases	80	164	95	149	115	129			
Controls	151	464	224	391	267	348			

* Recent exposure to NANSAIDs (prescription ending within 30 days of the event)

Effect of data truncation

Odds ratio (95% C.I.)

	<u> 31 days - 1 year</u>	<u> 31 days - 2 years</u>	<u> 31 days - 3 years</u>
Recent NANSAIDs	3.07 (1.80-5.24)	3.17 (1.85-5.43)	3.36 (2.05-5.52)
Recent ASA	1.55 (1.00-2.39)	1.54 (1.00-2.37)	1.56 (1.01-2.42)
Past NANSAID use	0.79 (0.49-1.26)	0.79 (0.49-1.27)	0.66 (0.44~0.97)
Recent protective agents	1.65 (1.02-2.66)	1.56 (0.96-2.52)	1.66 (1.03-2.67)
Ex-smokers	1.44 (0.96-2.16)	1.41 (0.94-2.12)	1.46 (0.97-2.20)
Smokers	2.41 (1.58-3.69)	2.42 (1.58-3.70)	2.40 (1.57-3.67)
History of * gastropathy	1.94 (1.27-2.95)	2.01 (1.31-3.08)	2.02 (1.32-3.09)
Deviance (741 DF)	812.286	804.479	808.777
Interactions:			
Recent NANSAIDs and Past NANSAID use	LRS=0.123 p=.726	LRS=4.678 p=.031	LRS=5.946 p=.015

N^{*} Past upper gastro-Intestinal procedures မ ୦





The relative risk for upper gastro-intestinal bleeding associated with recent use of non-aspirin NSAIDs for each pattern of duration of use

Level of duration	No. patients	Ca exposed	ses * unexposed	Cor expose	n trols d unexposed	Odds Ratio**	95% confidence interval
			n	·	n	<u>.</u>	<u></u>
None (1)	628	12	152	9	455	3.99	1.65 - 9.66
Short (2)	74	7	8	8	51	5.58	1.58 - 19.64
Intermediate (3)	85	17	15	18	35	2.20	0.90 - 5.41
Long (4)	72	30	3	34	5	1.47	0.32 - 6.68

Recent exposure to non-aspirin NSAIDs within 30 days prior to the event
 Crude odds ratio associated with recent exposure to non-aspirin NSAIDs for each pattern

(1) No prescription of non-aspirin NSAIDs ending between 31 and 365 days prior to admission

(2) At least 1 prescription of non-aspirin NSAIDs ending between 31 and 365 days prior to admission: 1-30 days

(3) At least 1 prescription of non-aspirin NSAIDs ending between 31 and 365 days prior to admission: 31-120 days

(4) At least 1 prescription of non-aspirin NSAIDs ending between 31 and 365 days prior to admission: > 120 days

The relative risk for upper gastro-intestinal bleeding

associated with recent use of non-aspirin NSAIDs for each switching pattern.

Switching pattern	No. pa	atients	Cases		Cont	rols	Odds Ratio**	95% confidence interval	
			exposed*	unexposed	exposed	unexposed			
None (1)		628	12	152	9	455	3.99	1.65 - 9.66	
Non-switch	ers (2)	181	18	2	14	16	2.45	1.30 - 4.61	
Switchers ((3)	50	36	24	46	75	10.29	2.02 - 52.36	

* Recent exposure to non-aspirin NSAIDs

** Crude odds ratio between recent use of non-aspirin NSAIDs and upper gastro-intestinal bleeding for each pattern

(1) No prescription of non-aspirin NSAIDs ending between 31 and 365 days prior to admission

(2) At least 1 prescription of non-aspirin NSAIDs ending between 31 and 365 days prior to admission, no switch between products

(3) At least 1 prescription of non-aspirin NSAIDs ending between 31 and 365 days prior to admission, at least 1 switch between products

Association between recent use of protective agents and

duration patterns of non-aspirin NSAIDs

Duration pattern	A11 pa	tients	Ca	585	Controls		
	Exposed *	Unexposed	Exposed	Unexposed	Exposed	Unexposed	
,			no. pa	tients			
None (1)	58	570	24	140	34	430	
Short-term (2)	8	66	2	13	6	53	
Intermediate (3)	19	66	7	25	12	41	
Long-term (4)	20	52	11	22	9	30	

* Recent use of protective agents (prescription ending within 30 days prior to the event)

(1) No prescription of non-aspirin NSAIDs ending between 31 and 365 days prior to admission

(2) At least 1 prescription of non-aspirin NSAIDs ending between 31 and 365 days prior to admission: 1-30 days

(3) At least 1 prescription of non-aspirin NSAIDs ending between 31 and 365 days prior to admission: 31-120 days

(4) At least 1 prescription of non-aspirin NSAIDs ending between 31 and 365 days prior to admission: > 120 days

TABLE 4.33a

Association between history of upper GI procedures and duration of past non-aspirin NSAID use during the year before admission

Past UGI procedure	Never Exposed		Short-term 1-30 days		Intermediate 31-120 days		Long-term >120 days	
	<u>Cases</u>	Controls	<u>Cases</u>	Controls	<u>Cases</u>	<u>Controls</u>	<u>Cases</u>	Controls
Positive	41	66	4	5	7	9	7	7
Negative	123	398	11	54	25	44	26	32
Total	164	464	15	59	32	53	33	39

Duration pattern of NANSAID use

TABLE 4.33b

Association between past use of protective agents and

duration of past non-aspirin NSAID use during the year before admission

Duration pattern NANSAID use

Past prot. agents	Never Exposed		Short-term 1-30 days		Intermediate 31-120 days		Long-term >120 days	
	<u>Cases</u>	Controls	<u>Cases</u>	Controls	<u>Cases</u>	Controls	<u>Cases</u>	Controls
Positive	64	90	5	15	12	23	13	14
Negative	100	374	10	44	20	30	20	25
Total	164	464	15	59	32	53	33	39

:

The relative risk for upper gastro-intestinal bleeding

according to recency of use of non-aspirin NSAIDs

Recency of use		Cases (n=244)	Controls (n=615)	Odds Ratio*	95% Confidence Interval		
		n	n		<u> </u>		
Recent	(1)	99	149	2.54	1.63 - 3.96		
Former	(2)	17	82	0.82	0.49 - 1.39		
None	(3)	128	384	1.0	Reference		

* Adjusted odds ratio

- (1) Last prescription ending less than 30 days before the GI event.
- (2) Last prescription ending between 31 and 365 days before the GI event.
- (3) Reference group: No prescription of non-aspirin NSAIDs during the year preceding admission (non-recent, non-former).

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

5.1 STUDY FINDINGS

Findings on which is based the following discussion are summarized in chapter 4, section 4.12. Each element is addressed in greater detail in the following sections of this chapter. The discussion consists of the interpretation of the results as well as of a comparison with previous findings from the literature when applicable. The strengths and limitations of the study are discussed thereafter. Finally, recommendations for future research are made.

5.1.1 Association between NSAID use and UGIB

NANSAIDs: In this elderly population, recent users of NANSAIDs were 3.36 times more likely to be hospitalized for UGIB than non-users. This estimate of relative risk was compared to those found in the literature for the elderly population. The estimate was similar to that reported by Griffin et al. (1991) of 4.1 but was smaller than those reported by Laporte et al. (1991) and Holvoet et al. (1991): 7.7 and 7.4, respectively. The estimate was also smaller than the summary OR of 5.52 obtained for individuals age 60 and over in the meta-analysis by Gabriel et al. (1991). As discussed in chapter 2, differences between studies regarding various factors could explain the discrepancies namely, time window, method of exposure ascertainment, age structure of the study population etc.

It is interesting to note that both studies that used automated databases (the present study and that by Griffin et al.) found smaller estimates of relative risk than those based on interviews. In the literature, it has been reported that estimates obtained from cohort studies were smaller than from case-control studies. This study suggests that the difference is not a design issue but is related to the source of information on drug use.

ASA: The estimate of relative risk associated with recent use of ASA was 1.87, which was smaller than those previously reported. Levy et al. (1988) found 3.07 while Laporte et al. (1991) obtained 6.7 for men age 60 and over, and 6.4 for women. Several possible explanations for the difference between NANSAIDs and ASA may be considered. The first one is a true difference while the other 3 are biases. These are described below:

1) In this study population, and probably generalizable to the entire Quebec elderly population, most prescribed ASA was entericcoated, which could explain the smaller relative risk. However, the very small number of users of non-coated ASA does not allow to verify this hypothesis. This association is indirect and inferences regarding differences in toxicity between modes of

administration cannot be made.

2) The difference could also be due to misclassification of exposure due to the availability of ASA over-the-counter (OTC). However, patient interviews were conducted in both the Laporte et al. and Holvoet et al. studies and ascertainment included OTC drugs. Yet in these studies, the risk associated with NANSAIDs use was also greater than with ASA use.

3) Indication bias may also be present. The illnesses for which patients use NANSAIDs may increase the risk of UGIB compared to those for which ASA is used. None of the studies that compared both classes of products controlled for indication.

4) Similarly, the doses at which NANSAIDs are used may be greater than those of ASA, maybe because of differences in indication. Doses of NANSAIDs and ASA were not compared in this study.

In summary, these results confirm that NANSAIDs and ASA increase the risk of UGIB in the elderly population. The magnitude of the risk associated with NANSAIDs was lower than that of published case-control studies based on interviews but similar to the one that used automated databases. This study also supports previous findings from comparative studies whereby the effect of NANSAIDs was greater than that of ASA. It was not possible to document whether there was a true difference in the risk due to differences in the form of administration or dose, or whether it was due to misclassification biases. Regardless of the reason, these results demonstrate that it is important to distinguish between NANSAIDs and ASA because of the difference in the risk of UGIB as well as differences in patterns of utilization (eg. men versus women), which suggest different indications.

5.1.2 Past NSAID use

Results obtained in this study provide empirical evidence that patients who used NANSAIDs for the first time in 3 years were at greater risk of experiencing UGIB than those who used them during this time period. The estimate of relative risk associated with past use was 0.66 (0.44-0.97). Such an effect was not present with past use of ASA. Comparison with previous findings cannot be made because none of the studies published so far examined the independent effect of past experience with the drug.

Furthermore, the estimate of relative risk between recent NANSAID use and UGIB was greater for first-time users than for those who used the drugs in past 3 years. It is hypothesized that past users who were also recent users tolerated the drug well, and past users who were intolerant selected themselves out of the population at risk because of symptoms of gastropathy. This selection process is similar to the well known "healthy worker effect" in

epidemiology. In chapter 1 was described one of the assumptions of the concept of incidence density namely, that early stages of the adverse event do not lead to changes in exposure and that censoring is not related to exposure (O'Neill, 1988). Results found in this study suggest that this assumption is violated in the framework of the risk associated with drug exposure.

Another reason for the difference in relative risk is the reference population. In the group of patients with no past exposure in the 3 years prior to the event, the reference population consisted of individuals who were not exposed before and not currently exposed. These patients are probably healthier, which would over-estimate the relative risk.

The effect of past NANSAID use was independent of that of history of gastropathy because the lower risk remained after controlling for history of gastropathy. This suggests that other factors may be responsible for the selection out of the population at risk, such as symptoms (before developing severe UGIB).

However, because NANSAIDs are widely used among the elderly, there were very few patients who were using the drugs for the first time in 3 years. Past exposure is thus an independent predictor of UGIB but the assessment of its modifying effect is limited by the small number of patients who used NANSAIDs for the first time in 3 years. Nevertheless, these findings show that past experience with the

drug should therefore be taken into account in the assessment of the risk of UGIB.

5.1.3 Patterns of non-aspirin NSAID use

Recency: According to the estimate of relative risk, there was no risk associated with former exposure to NANSAIDs (last exposure between 31 days and 365 days before admission). Effects of a similar direction were found for NANSAIDs by Griffin et al. (1991) where there was a small significant risk associated with former use (defined as exposure between 60 and 365 days before the index date) of 1.3 (1.1-1.6). The estimate of relative risk for current use (on the day of admission) was 4.1 (3.5-4.7).

Results from the present study indicate that the risk becomes nonsignificant more than 30 days after the discontinuation of treatment. In the Griffin et al. study, there was still a small risk more than 60 days after discontinuation. Such a discrepancy between findings does not allow us to determine the period at risk after the discontinuation of the drug.

<u>Duration</u>: The estimate of relative risk for UGIB decreased as the duration of NANSAID use during the year before admission increased. The difference in risk observed was much smaller than that reported by Griffin et al. (1991) where estimates of relative risk were: 7.2

(4.9-10.5) for incidental users, 3.7 (2.7-5.2) for 31-90 days and 3.9 (3.3-4.6) for duration greater than 90 days. The reference group in that study consisted of never exposed during the year. Factors influencing the reference risk consisted of no current exposure to NSAIDs as well as no past experience with NSAIDs. Therefore, as described in chapter 2, the assessment of duration in recently exposed individuals only, does not allow to partition the effect of recent exposure to NSAIDs and that of patterns of NSAID use.

This study showed that past experience with NANSAIDs was associated with UGIB, independently of recent use. Duration was defined in relation to the date of admission. Long-term users were more likely to be recent users because of length-biased sampling. Because the risk decreases with an increase in duration of use, to measure duration only in the recently exposed patients would bias the magnitude of the association towards the null. Furthermore, because of the inability to partition the effects of recent and past exposure, as well as length-biased sampling, it appears that the assessment of duration of use in recent users only using the never exposed during the year as the reference group is not appropriate to assess the modifying effect of past experience.

Based on these results, it can also be concluded that descriptive studies on drug utilization that are based on cross-sectional data

would over-estimate the proportion of long term users.

Studies on patterns found in the literature are population-based. Hence, for comparison purposes, figures obtained in the control group will be used. Of controls who were exposed between 31 and 365 years prior to admission, 39.1% were short-term users, 35.1% were intermediate users and 25.8% were long-term users. This is in contrast to the Leufkens et al. (1990) study where 74.0% of NANSAID users in a period of 12 months were short-term users. Three factors may explain the discrepancy between findings:

1) The age structure of the 2 populations differs. Patients of all ages were included in the Leufkens et al. study. It was possible to derive from published data the distribution of levels for patients above the age of 60. According to the calculations, it was found that 49.5% of patients in this age group were incidental users, which is still greater than what was found in the present study.

2) In the present study, duration of exposure was determined in relation to an event (date of admission) and data before 365 days were truncated. Therefore, it did not consider time since initiation of therapy. Individuals in the Leufkens et al. study were followed prospectively and the date of entry was chronological, starting at the beginning of the study year.

3) The Leufkens et al. study was population-based whereas in the present study, controls were a non-random sample of the secondary base. Even if the control population is a valid sample of the secondary base, exposure patterns in the control population are not expected to reflect exposure patterns of the entire Quebec elderly population (see discussion below on selection bias).

4) The time period was 1 month longer in the Leufkens et al. study (12 months versus 11 months), and the youngest individual was 60 years old which could inflate the proportion of incidental users in the Dutch population.

Switches between NANSAIDs: Patients who switched at least once between products appeared to be at greater risk than those who did not. In the present study, 19.9% of controls who had used a NANSAID between 31 and 365 days prior to admission switched at least once between products. The proportion was two times greater in the Leufkens et al. (1990) study where 42.2% of patients switched at least once between NANSAIDs during this time period. Previous work conducted on a random sample of the Dutch population (Abenhaim et al., 1991) reported that 26.9% of patients switched, which is closer to the results found in this study. However, the 3 studies are not comparable for the following reasons:

1) In the Leufkens et al. study, the denominator consisted of patients who received more than 1 NANSAID prescription. In the

present study, it was not felt that the denominator should include only these patients because it is the switch that influences the number of prescriptions and not the converse.

2) Here, included in the definition of a switch was the condition that the dates of dispensing of the 2 consecutive NANSAID prescriptions had to be 60 days apart or less. This condition was not used by Leufkens et al. nor by Abenhaim et al.

3) Leufkens et al. used the ATC codes (i.e. the World Health Organization Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification) to refer to individual NANSAID products whereas generic names were used in the present study.

4) Age structure: Walker et al. (1992) reported that switches occurred more frequently in the young population. All ages were considered in the Leufkens et al. study, which could explain the greater proportion of switchers in that population.

Switches between average daily doses: A greater proportion of controls who used NANSAIDs between 31 and 365 days prior to admission increased the ADD of a given product than decreased. In contrast, in the Leufkens et al. study, a slightly greater number of switches were reductions in ADD. Here, only 20% of patients who switched ADDs switched more than once compared to the Leufkens et al. study where it was one third. Several factors may be responsible for the discrepancy between the 2 studies:

1) A different measure of dosage was used by Leufkens et al. It consisted of the prescribed daily dose divided by the defined daily dose ratio (DDD). The DDD is a measure that consists of the average daily dosage for the drug when used in its main indication. The numerator of this estimator corresponds to the average daily dosage used in the present study. However, the differences between the measures used in the 2 studies should not cause noncomparability of the results as far as switches are concerned because the DDD used by Leufkens et al. is constant within each product.

2) Possible explanations for the discrepancy are the same as those for switching between products namely, definition of a switch, time period, denominator and base population (especially, the age structure).

Switches between forms of administration 2.6% of controls who used NANSAIDs between 31 and 365 days before admission switched between forms of administration compared to 3.5% in the Leufkens et al. study. Here 60% of switchers switched more than once while in the Leufkens et al. study most switches were incidental.

To summarize, switching products was more common than switching doses. Overall, there appears to be a smaller proportion of patients who switched products than in published studies. The reason for the discrepancy most likely resides in the definition of a switch (different in both the Leufkens et al. and Abenhaim et al. studies) and the age structure of the population (compared to the Leufkens et al. study).

Effects of patterns of NANSAID use on the risk of UGIB The magnitude of the association between NANSAIDs and UGIB decreases as the duration of use increases. Patients who switched products at least once were at greater risk than those who did not switch. However, it cannot be concluded from the results that patterns are effect modifiers because the ORs were not significantly heteregeneous. The absence of a significant difference was due to the fact that the majority of NANSAID users in this elderly population were not short-term users and did not switch frequently. As a result, the variation in patterns of NANSAID use during the year preceding hospitalization was small which decreased the efficiency of the study. It may have been useful to characterize patterns on a longer term (eg. 3 years). However, this would have required the inclusion of an additional dimension: timing of patterns. This study did not offer the power to do so.

Walker et al. (1992) documented the reasons for switching and did

not find evidence to support a hypothesis that drugs frequently switched to because of patient intolerance for previous drugs would themselves show higher probabilities of discontinuation for intolerance, nor that drugs switched to for lack of efficacy of previously given NSAIDs would show lower apparent efficacy. These findings suggest that patients who switch are not more susceptible to UGIB, which would explain the absence of a significant difference between the estimates of relative risk.

5.1.4 Concomitant exposure to protective agents

Recent users of protective agents were 1.68 times more likely to experience UGIB than non-users. These data provide empirical evidence of the presence of a protopathic or susceptibility bias. One may wrongly conclude that these drugs increase the risk of UGIB. However, it is likely that individuals used these drugs because they were already experiencing symptoms of gastropathy.

Furthermore, the recent use of these drugs increased with an increase in duration of NANSAID use and switching between products. These results indicate that the elderly who use NANSAIDs on a long term remain on the drug and, if intolerant, use protective agents rather than discontinue or switch. Susceptibility bias in the association between NANSAIDs and UGIB would therefore be better appraised by the use of protective agents than by switching.

Because the effect of recent use of protective agents on UGIB remained even after controlling for history of gastropathy, it strengthens the allegation that even if patients experienced a gastropathy in the past, they do not modify therapy with NANSAIDs but supplement it with protective agents.

On the other hand, because NSAID-gastrotoxicity is well recognized within the medical community, physicians may prescribe more frequently protective agents to long-term users of NSAIDs for prophylactic purposes. At present, it is not known whether protective agents should be used as a marker for gastropathy or for susceptibility (as perceived by physicians who believe that some patients are in high risk groups).

5.1.5 History of gastropathy

Patients with a positive history of gastropathy, assessed by history of upper GI procedures, were at a greater risk of experiencing UGIB by a factor of approximately 2. When history was assessed as past visit to a gastroenterologist, similar results were found. None of the studies reviewed used these measures as markers for history of UGIB. As a result, the estimate obtained cannot be compared with previous findings. According to the results, past upper GI procedures and past visit to a gastroenterologist are predictors of UGIB but not of NANSAID prescription.

When history was assessed in the charts, an estimate of relative risk of 5.35 was found. It is likely that this effect is overestimated due to differences in the accuracy of the information. The admitting physician would inquire specifically about history of qastropathy in patients admitted for UGIB but not necessarily in patients admitted for an unrelated illness. If absent from the chart, it was coded as absent history. This would lead to a differential misclassification between cases and controls. However, it was useful to confirm the direction of the effect because this method of ascertainment (patient's interview by the physician) was completely independent of the others which were derived from the RAMQ databases. It is likely that the reliability of these data is lower than the hard data obtained from the RAMQ databases but on the other hand, there was no truncation before the 3 years preceding admission. Nevertheless, these results agree with those found in the Laporte et al. (1991) and Holvoet et al. (1991) studies which both reported an OR of 5.5 for history of peptic ulcer disease. In these studies, patients were interviewed and it was not mentionned whether interviewers were blinded or not. Recall bias may also inflate the estimates of the effect and the differential misclassification may have occurred in these settings as well.

When past use of protective agents was used as a marker, the estimate of relative risk was 2.68. The collinearity between past and recent use of protective agents suggests that they were in fact measuring the same underlying phenomenon. The effect was stronger for past use because of the greater prevalence in this wider time window compared to the 30 days of recent use (18.6% versus 12.2%). It is likely that recent use of protective agents is a continuation of treatment that started before the 30-day window. In the Jick et al. (1987) study, patients who ever used cimetidine and antacids were 5.1 times (2.6-10.0) more likely to experience a gastropathy. Carson et al. (1987) found no association between protective agents dispensed before NSAID use and UGIB (relative risk=1.1, 95% C.I.=0.6-2.3). The estimate found in the present study was therefore smaller than that found in the Jick et al. study but greater than in the Carson et al. study.

Results indicate that history of gastropathy does increase the risk of UGIB by a factor of approximately 2. Past use of protective agents does not seem to be a good marker because it does not allow to partition the marker effect (protopathic bias) and the real protective effect of these agents when used for prophylaxis. Past upper GI procedures and past visit to a gastroenterologist produced estimates of relative risk that were very similar while history assessed in the chart over-estimated the effect.

History of gastropathy was not associated with recent use of

NANSAIDS. Conversely, it was associated with recent use of protective agents. These results suggest that history of gastropathy does not influence prescribing behaviour for NANSAIDs and instead, patients use protective agents. Opposite results were found by Griffin et al. (1991) study where there was a negative association between history of gastropathy and current use of NSAIDs. In that study, the association was determined from hospital charts in cases only.

A possible explanation for the absence of an association between history of gastropathy and recent NANSAID use is the reliability of the markers used. Past upper GI procedures is sensitive but is non-specific, i.e. most patients with a gastropathy receive such diagnostic procedures but these procedures are also conducted for other pathologies. Past visit to a gastroenterologist is also nonspecific and is less sensitive than the previous marker because not all patients with a gastropathy consult a specialist. However, history assessed in the charts was also not associated with recent NANSAID use. This measure was not derived from automated databases and yet, results are the same as those obtained with the previous markers. Such consistency between the measures would favour a true absence of association between history of gastropathy and recent use of NANSAIDs.

Unlike NANSAIDs, the effect of past and recent use of protective agents were not independent of each other and both increased the

risk of UGIB. It is therefore likely that past use of protective agents does not specifically reflect a history of gastropathy.

5.1.6 Average daily doses of ASA

As discussed in chapter 3, it has been hypothesized that low doses of ASA may not be associated with a greater risk of UGIB. There was no estimated ADD below 325 mg dispensed to the patients of the study population, and the majority of prescribed ASA was entericcoated.

The distribution of the ADDs of ASA was not heterogeneous between cases and controls and this study did not support a dose-response relationship. Doses of ASA were considered only in the Holvoet et al. (1991) study and were expressed as a dichotomous variable: < 2 grams/week and > 2 grams/week. Although a dose-specific OR was not reported by Holvoet et al., the distribution of the population into the dose categories was not heterogeneous between cases and controls, which suggests no dose-response as well.

Four factors may explain the absence of a dose difference. The first one is a true effect and the other three are potential biases. These are described below:

1) Enteric-coating may be responsible for the absence of a

difference between doses. However, because of the small number of non enteric-coated ASA prescriptions, it was not possible to verify for this effect.

2) Because the exact drug regimen was not known, the ADD had to be estimated from the number of units of administration, dose per unit of administration, and number of days of therapy. This estimation may result in an extensive misclassification that could mask an existing trend. It was not possible to compare the distribution of estimated ADD with previous studies because of a lack of published data.

3) Because ASA can be purchased OTC at a relatively low cost, there may be differential misclassification of exposure among the dose categories. For example, if more low doses of ASA were purchased OTC than higher doses. It was not possible to verify this hypothesis. However, if this were the case then the estimate of relative risk for low doses of ASA would be biased towards the null. Results from this study do not support this given that the risk associated with the low dose category was greater.

4) Compliance: Higher ADDs are associated with a greater number of tablets per day. As a result, compliance may be reduced in higher dosages. Exposure would therefore be over-estimated in the higher doses.
In summary, the absence of a dose-response relationship may be attributable to differential misclassification between the dose categories due to OTC availability of ASA and/or compliance. There is also the possibility of a true absence of dose-effect due to enteric-coating. None of these hypotheses could be verified in the study. The scarcity of data in the literature and findings from this study suggest that this issue should be explored further.

5.1.7 Concomitant medications

This study was unable to demonstrate that recent use of corticosteroids, anticoagulants or anti-neoplastic drugs were associated with an increased risk of UGIB. Carson et al. (1987) reported a relative risk of 1.4 for corticosteroid use that was non-significant according to the 95% C.I. (0.8 to 2.2) whereas the effect of anticoagulants was significant 2.8 (1.4-5.6). Bigelow and Collins (1989) also reported a significant relative risk for the use of anticoagulants and/or corticosteroids of 1.7. Holvoet et al. (1991) found no difference between cases and controls in the use of corticosteroids, which suggests no effect. However, the prevalence of exposure was small and thus, the power to detect an effect was very small.

5.1.8 Smoking

Smoking increased the risk of UGIB. Compared to ex-smokers, only current smokers had a significant risk. The magnitude of the association was greater than that previously reported by Somerville et al. (1986) of 1.30 (0.88-1.91) using hospital controls. Bartle et al. (1986) and Holvoet et al. (1991) found that smoking did not have any effect on UGIB but these studies were not restricted to the elderly population. The absence of data on smoking in the medical charts was not differential between cases and controls which does not support a bias introduced by differential misclassification.

5.1.9 Exposure to NSAIDs

The prevalence of exposure to NSAIDs obtained in the present study was compared to figures found in the literature for the elderly population. It should be kept in mind that results obtained from various studies were not totally comparable because of different time windows used for exposure ascertainment. In the following section, comparisons are made always acknowledging the factors that could potentially jeopardize the comparability of prevalence figures.

NANSAIDs: For the purpose of comparability, results obtained using

a 7-day time window were used in the comparison with previous findings. In this study, it was found that 23.0% of cases and 7.8% of controls had been exposed to NANSAIDs within 7 days prior to admission. For the same time window, Laporte et al. (1991) reported slightly lower figures: 20.5% of cases and 4.2% of controls (pooling both genders together). The time window was smaller in the Griffin et al. study (1991) (exposure was ascertained on the day of the event). Yet, the proportion of NANSAID use was much greater: 34% of cases and 13% of controls. The corresponding figures in the Collier and Pain (1985) study were 47.0% of cases and 7.1% of controls.

Such a discrepancy between studies is not due to a difference in time window because, as shown in the present study, it would have biased the results in the other direction (a wider time window results in greater proportion of exposure). It is also not due to the source of information because the Laporte et al. study is based on interview and yet, results are similar. The study by Griffin et al. used automated databases and results differed from those obtained in this study.

Individual products The most widely used NANSAID was diclofenac which is consistent with the Dutch population (Leufkens et al., 1990) and results found by Laporte et al. (1991). Indomethacin came second, followed by naproxen. In the Dutch population, the second was ibuprofen. The probable reason for the discrepancy is

that all ages were included in the Leufkens et al. study which resulted in a greater variability of indications.

ASA: For the purpose of comparability, results obtained using a 7day time window were used in the comparison with previous findings. For cases, the prevalence of exposure to ASA was lower than that to NANSAIDs: 18.0% were recent users of ASA versus 27.0% for NANSAIDs. However, the reverse was true for controls: 12.4% were recent users of ASA versus 7.8% for NANSAIDs. The difference between cases and controls in the proportion of exposure to ASA was greater in the Laporte et al. (1991) study: 33.0% of cases versus 9.7% of controls. The larger difference between cases and controls observed in the latter study is likely to be due to recall bias.

Sexes: A greater proportion of women than men had been exposed to NANSAIDs: 17.8% versus 13.6%, whereas the reverse was true for ASA: 12.0% versus 20.6%. Among the studies reviewed, only the Laporte et al. (1991) stratified prevalence figures according to sexes. The use of NANSAIDs was also greater for women than for men over 60: 11.0% versus 5.9%. However, contradictory results were found for ASA. In the Laporte et al. study, a greater proportion of women than men had been exposed to ASA (17.5% for women versus 13.7% for men) while it was the reverse in the present study. Because exposure was ascertained by interviews in the Laporte et al. study, it also included over-the-counter (OTC) drugs which

could explain the discrepancy between results. If this were the case, then exposure misclassification due to OTC availability of ASA would be differential between men and women.

Age groups: Studies found in the literature agree that exposure to NSAIDs increases with age. Results obtained in the present study could not support this contention. The trend may therefore not exist in the age range included in the elderly population.

5.2 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

5.2.1 Causal associations with UGIB

NSAIDs: A significant association between NSAID use and UGIB was found in this study. This association appeared to be causal for the following reasons:

1) Biological plausibility: A vast amount of research has been conducted to describe the biological process involved in NSAIDgastropathy. In the present study, the risk associated with ASA was smaller than that of NANSAIDs. It is biologically possible that this difference is due to the enteric-coating but, as discussed above, it may also be attributable to biases.

2) Consistency: These results are in accordance with the majority of published case-control studies that were conducted in various settings where the use of NSAIDs increases the risk of UGIB in the elderly population.

This study did not detect a dose-response relationship for ASA because of the possible biases or true absence of effect, as described in section 5.1.1.

In summary, the causal relationship between NSAID use and severe UGIB is reasonably well established. However, the reality of the difference in the risk between NANSAIDs and ASA has not yet been elucidated.

Protective agents: The association between recent use of protective agents and UGIB is not biologically plausible. It is due to a protopathic bias. These agents were prescribed because of symptoms of GI problems or as prophylaxis.

Past exposure to NANSAIDs: Only possible explanations could be given regarding the lower risk of UGIB associated with past NANSAID use because the reason for interrupting treatment is not known. It could be due to intolerance as well as indication. There may be a selection bias whereby individuals who remain exposed are those who tolerate the drugs well while the susceptible patients selected themselves out of the population at risk (depletion of susceptibles). These results do not support the phenomenon of gastric adaptation previously suggested by Graham et al. (1988).

Switching between NANSAIDs: The reasons for switching between products, dosages or forms of administration were not documented. It is possible that patients switch because they were not tolerant and thus, were more susceptible to develop UGIB.

5.2.2 Selection bias

The study was restricted to patients who had been hospitalized for UGIB and who met the case definition. Differential admission or detection may have occurred if NSAID users were more likely to be hospitalized for UGIB than non-users. An attempt was made to minimize this bias by selecting cases that were severe enough to require hospitalization regardless of their drug exposure status. As confirmed by a gastroenterologist, bleeding in an elderly patient is a sufficient cause for admission.

The base population was secondary and corresponded to the hospital catchment populations for severe UGIB. Because the study was not population-based, it is not known with certainty whether controls were drawn from the same base as the cases. It is uncertain that a control would have been enrolled as a case had he(she) been diagnosed with UGIB at the time of the study.

It was not feasible to select a random sample of the study base, the major limitation being that the secondary base (i.e. the hospital catchment population for UGIB) was difficult to define. Hence, a non-random subset was selected. Controls were matched to cases on hospital in order to increase the probability that they originated from the same base as the case. It was assumed that the distribution of exposure was the same in the control series as in the random sample of the secondary base. This was equivalent to

assume that there was no relationship between NSAID use and the control diagnoses. Intuitively, it was felt that the control diagnoses were not associated. It is likely that the hospital catchment population differed according to diagnoses. The catchment population for UGIB was different from the catchment population for fractures. The assumption mentionned above would be violated only if NSAID prescribing practices differed between catchment populations. Because it was not possible to quantify this variation, a variety of control diagnoses were selected in order to attempt to minimize the extent of the bias. In addition, a sensitivity analysis was conducted to assess the effect of each control diagnosis and results remained stable. Results obtained by removing each control diagnostic category one at a time remained stable. It is therefore reasonably safe to conclude that none of the control diagnoses were associated with NSAID use.

As previously stated, exposure in controls should be representative of the secondary base. The distribution may differ from that obtained from a random sample of the population because they are sick individuals. They be more or less likely to take NSAIDs or have different utilization patterns and co-prescriptions if they have frequent contacts with a physician.

As described by Wacholder (1992), 2 conditions had to be met:

1) Cases would have been admitted to the same hospital for the

control diseases and conversely, controls would have been admitted as cases had they developed the disease. It is likely that this condition was not met given that the catchment population may vary according to specialties or services, especially geographically. However, this would not be a concern if it can be assumed that the prescribing patterns of NSAIDs were similar among the bases with respect to region, SES or ethnicity in this study. It is likely that this would be a greater problem in the comparison of individual NSAID products rather than for NSAIDs as a whole. Here, the problem may be more important for protective agents, where marketing pressures may vary among regions. The greatest number of patients come from urban regions and regional differences may arise between the island of Montreal and suburbs (mainly Montérégie). SES may vary according to the catchment areas of the various diagnoses. However, there was no evidence form the literature that SES was a confounder in the association between NSAID use and UGIB.

2) Exposure should be unrelated to the reason for admission of the control. This condition is likely to be met because there is no firm or intuitive evidence that patients with a fracture, pneumonia or cholecystitis would be more likely admitted if they were NSAID users than if they were not.

An alternative would have been to use a random sample of the Quebec elderly in order to obtain information on exposure patterns at the population level. However, this approach was not appropriate for

the following reasons:

1) non-comparability of information on exposure due to unknown data truncation (long-term hospitalization),

2) no information on smoking could have been obtained in the controls. The association between these factors and NSAID use in the cases only, as done by Griffin et al. (1991), would have allowed to assess confounding but not effect modification,

3) the exclusion criteria could not have been applied in the controls, which would have led to non-comparable pollations,

4) If prescribing practices vary between regions, SES or ethnic groups, then a population sample would not have been representative of the base from which originated the cases.

A prospective population-based study was not feasible because linkage from the Med-Echo discharge database to the RAMQ databases could not be done. Hence, a secondary base population had to be used.

Within the constraints of feasibility, the case-control design was the most appropriate. Hospital-based was better than communitybased for reasons described above. Results favour the absence of a bias brought by the control diagnoses or by differences between

the hospital catchment populations.

5.2.3 Information bias

Misclassification: The measure of exposure was the dispensing of a prescription for an NSAIDs, which is a proxy for actual drug consumption. Two major factors reduce the accuracy of this proxy, namely: 1) the availability of these drugs without prescription and, 2) poor compliance.

NSAIDs may be acquired through other distribution channels. ASA and ibuprofen are available OTC. In addition, samples of NSAIDs may be distributed at the physician's office. The acquisition of the drugs through these channels would result in an underestimation of actual exposure. The estimate of relative risk was lower than that found in case-control studies conducted in elderly populations based on interviews (which include OTC drugs). It could be concluded that OTC exposure biased the results towards the null but too many other differences between the studies may contribute to the discrepancy in results (eg. recall bias, time window etc.).

If there was under-estimation of exposure due to OTC availability of drugs, the proportion of exposed patients should be greater in studies based on interviews than on databases. Comparing with the

Laporte et al. (1991) study at the same time window, it is true for the cases (33.% versus 18%) but not for controls (9.7% versus 12.4%). Because a discrepancy is present in the cases and not in the controls, it seems that recall bias rather than misclassification of exposure is responsible for the difference between studies.

In addition, the sensitivity analysis has shown that there was no difference between study years despite the fact that ibuprofen was released OTC between the 2 years. These results suggest that OTC may not be an important factor in the assessment of exposure to NANSAIDS. However, for ASA it may play a larger role and could explain why the RR found with ASA was smaller than with NANSAIDS. However, such a difference was also found in other studies relying on interviews which included the assessment of OTC ASA. Given that elderly do not pay for their medications when prescribed, it is expected that few drugs are purchased OTC. A study from France, where prescribed medications are also free of charge, has shown that only 3% of medications, including ASA, among elderly were not prescribed (Avouac, 1989).

Because these data were collected for administrative purposes, it is certain that any misclassification of exposure occurring in the database would be non-differential between cases and controls. A major assumption in this study was that everything that was acquired was actually consumed. This assumption is violated due to

non-compliance to the prescribed regimen. Non-compliance would therefore result in an over-estimation of exposure during the defined time period. Griffin et al. (1991) suggested that these sources of bias are likely to be non-differential between cases and controls and would bias the results towards the null (underestimation). However, in the present study, it is plausible that non-compliance would be differential between cases and controls. being influenced by the presence of symptoms of adverse events. If cases discontinued therapy because of the presence of symptoms before the 30 days, they were not eligible for the study (according to the case definition). If they discontinued after, they were considered exposed. On the other hand, if controls discontinued a treatment that was supposed to end within the 30 days, it was unknown because symptoms of gastropathy could not be recorded. This would have resulted in an over-estimation of exposure in the controls. As a result, the OR would have been biased towards the null. As a whole, non-compliance is likely to have biased the results towards the null whether it was differential or not between cases and controls. In any event, the extent of the bias due to non-compliance is not expected to be too large in this population because most patients were on a long-term therapy.

The accuracy of using dispensing as evidence of exposure is limited by these 2 factors (i.e. OTC and compliance). These limitations exist in all studies that use automated databases. Another

alternative would be patient interviews. This method of ascertainment is less desirable because of several factors, namely:

1) the response rate in the elderly is expected to be poor, especially if the patient is hospitalized. This has been documented by Kelsey et al. (1989),

 the reliability of the resolution of the characterization of exposure would be much lower, especially for dosages and dates of dispensing of several drugs,

3) the accuracy of longitudinal data on drug exposure would be much lower. Patterns and duration of use were derived from the total duration for a period of one year based on the dates of dispensing of the various products. Hard data on the dates obtained from the database are expected to be more accurate than the total duration reported by an elderly patient during an interview. It is likely that interviews would not have been adequate to obtain reliable data on drug use for 3 years preceding hospital admission.

Data truncation: The RAMQ database is limited to prescriptions dispensed to the elderly in the community. It does not include drugs received in acute or long-term care institutions. As a result, misclassification of exposure would occur. In order to minimize this information bias patients in nursing homes or with prolonged hospitalizations during the previous 3 years were excluded. A bias could be introduced if NSAID users were more likely to be hospitalized for long periods of time. This bias. non-differential between cases and controls, would result in an under-estimation of exposure to NSAIDs and is expected to bias the results towards the null. In addition, Quebec residents may live outside of the province for significant periods of time before they loose their residency status. This is particularly a problem in the winter, where a significant number of elderly move to Florida for several months. In principle, several renewals cannot be dispensed on the same date. However, deviance exists in the system due to arrangements between the pharmacist and the patient. It is not known whether this bias would be differential between cases and controls. If other factors related to NSAID use and UGIB also influence moving to warmer regions (eg. SES, previous history of gastropathy or arthritis) then information bias could be differential. The importance of this source of bias cannot be appraised because the number of Quebec elderly who spend long time periods outside of Quebec is not documented.

Alcohol consumption could not be assessed accurately. This is a concern especially to assess confounding in the association between NSAIDs and gastropathy. However, based on findings found in the literature, there is no evidence that alcohol is a confounder. Even if effect modification by alcohol could also not be reported, it would not jeopardize the validity of the study.

5.2.4 Indication bias

The indication for the use of drugs was not available and may have introduced confounding in the results, although previous studies have not found this (Collier and Pain, 1985; Bartle et al., 1986; Carson et al., 1987). Furthermore, the variation in indications in the elderly population is likely to be smaller than when all ages are considered. Duration of exposure could not be used as a proxy for indication because it was determined in relation to the event. A patient was exposed to NSAIDs for a short time period either because of an indication that requires a short treatment or, was ascertained early in a treatment that was supposed to be chronic.

5.2.5 Time window

It has been argued that a time window of 30 day preceding the event may not be appropriate. If too long, it would result in an underestimation of the effect. However, no exact definition of the appropriate time window can be provided until the hazard function of UGIB following NSAID use is documented. Operationally, in the case-control design, the time window does not refer to time since initiation of treatment but also include а time since discontinuation. To limit the assessment of exposure to current does not seem appropriate because drug exposure should precede the onset of symptoms.

It was necessary to assume proportional hazard functions for exposed and unexposed subjects within each pattern of exposure. It may be that the appropriate time window to define the risk period associated with NANSAID use differs between the different patterns. However, at present, the presence and/or extent of the difference remains unknown.

5.3 STRENGTHS OF THE STUDY

5.3.1 Validation of diagnosis

Unlike many studies relying on automated databases, all charts were individually reviewed to validate the diagnosis. This practice was proven to be necessary because the percentage eligibility of cases originally ascertained from ICD-9 codes was only 46.6%.

5.3.2 Exclusion criteria

Several exclusion criteria were applied in order to minimize selection and information bias. Patients transferred from another hospital were excluded to ensure that they originated from the hospital catchment population. As mentionned above, patients with previous long-term hospitalizations were excluded to minimize data truncation. Symptoms had to be present for less than 30 days to ensure that exposure preceded the outcome.

These validity issues would not have been possible to consider if only a computerized database had been used to conduct the study.

5.3.3 Unique data source

The universal nature of the program avoids any data truncation due to changes in eligibility. With the exception of the Saskatchewan database, this feature is not present in other databases such as COMPASS or Medicaid. Although there is a potential for data truncation due to long-term hospitalizations or moving out of the province for long periods of time, the extent of the bias should not be as important as data truncation due to eligibility.

Entry in the cohort is determined by an event: becoming 65 years old. Hence, data on drug exposure prior to this age are not available. Hard data on a very long term (3 years) were sought. In order to ensure that misclassification of exposure due to data truncation would be non-differential among age groups, the minimum age for inclusion in the study was 68. No allowance for this factor was made in previous studies where the minimum age in the study population corresponded to the minimum age at entry in the cohort. With this restriction, the extent of the bias is expected to be minimum for NSAIDs because most prescriptions are for 30

days.

In order to predict extent of bias, sensitivity analysis showed that data truncation reduced the efficiency of detecting a significant effect of past NANSAID use on UGIB but not for history of gastropathy, assessed by upper GI procedures or past use of protective agents. The magnitude of the bias was small.

Cohort studies that use automated databases are limited by the quality and depth of data available in those databases. Casecontrol studies, which often use interviews to determine exposure, suffer from numerous biases in the determination of exposure. In this study, a case-control design was selected, using hospital records for the identification of cases and controls, validation of diagnosis and data on some potential confounders, as well as records from a computerized prescription database for exposure determination. This study was the first to incorporate the benefits of both sources. Griffin et al. (1991) also reviewed hospital records but only for the cases. It was therefore not possible to assess effect modification by some of factors.

5.3.4 History of gastropathy

No gold standard was available to assess past history of gastropathy. As a result, 4 different measures were used and their

effects compared. These were: history of upper GI procedures (including gastroscopy, duodenoscopy, upper GI X-ray etc.), past visit to a gastroenterologist, history of protective agents use and history assessed in the medical chart. According to the literature, the comparison of several markers is unprecedented. The independent effect on UGIB was similar for history assessed by past upper GI procedures and past visit to a gastroenterologist. These results demonstrate the presence of differential misclassification between cases and controls when only hospital records are used.

5.4 GENERALIZABILITY OF THE RESULTS

Results are consistent with those obtained in several epidemiologic studies conducted in other elderly populations. Inferences made in the present study apply to the elderly population receiving prescribed NSAIDs as outpatients. The elderly represents the largest group of NSAID users and are at special risk for untoward GI problems. Such findings should not be extrapolated to the younger population as patterns of use, indications and comedications are likely to be different.

5.5 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

In the literature, it has been suggested that some NSAID products are more toxic than others. Hence, the variability in drug utilization patterns between products may be greater than between individuals. Patterns may be useful to compare the toxicity between individual NSAID products by accounting for susceptibility bias. However, a larger sample size would be needed in order to distinguish between the various products.

Because of the effect of past experience with the drug on the risk of UGIB, further studies are needed to document past toxicity in current users and reasons for discontinuation in former users.

A major deficiency in the literature is that the hazard function for UGIB after the initiation of NSAID use is unknown. So far, the time windows to define the risk period have been selected semiarbitrarily. As a result, the width of the time windows varies to a great extent between studies. Because the width of the time window has a great influence on the estimation of the effect, results from the various studies are not comparable. A prospective study should be conducted in order to describe the hazard function necessary to assess the risk during and after termination of treatment with NSAIDs. The appropriate time window could therefore be defined and the duration of surveillance for the adverse event could be determined.

The use of protective agents was considered as a whole and the major limitation was the inability to partition between the prescription of these drugs for prophylaxis and for the treatment of a gastropathy. In order to distinguish between the 2 effects, timing of the dispensing of protective agents should be considered in relation to the the dispensing of NSAID use. If prescribed before or after NSAIDs then it is more likely that it is to treat a gastropathy than when it is dispensed concurrently, where it is probably for prophylaxis in high risk patients.

As shown in this study, the use of protective agents increased with duration of NANSAID use. It is not known whether these drugs were prescribed for prophylactic purposes or for the treatment of a gastropathy. It would therefore be useful to document the indication for the use of protective agents in order to describe the differences in susceptibility between patients of the different patterns.

As in any case-control study, the greatest concern was the validity of the selection of cases and controls. It was assumed that controls and cases originated from the same base population and a sensitivity analysis suggests that it was met. Several factors that could violate this assumption were discussed. In order to avoid such a bias, it would be more desirable to conduct a population-based study. If feasible, a cohort study would be more preferable. Study subjects would be selected on the basis of

exposure and followed in time. However, in the context of risk assessment, such a design would be preferable only if access to patients charts could be obtained in order to verify the diagnosis, apply the exclusion criteria and obtain information on potential confounders. Given that the probability of being exposed during the time window increases with duration, duration of use would be based on personal time and not chronological time. Nevertheless, attention should be given to correct for data truncation before entry in the cohort.

If interests resides on the effect of ASA, then information bias due to OTC availability is of concern. Information obtained from databases should be supplemented by patient interviews in order to obtain information on OTC drugs. A specific study should be conducted in order to investigate if there is a true difference between ASA and NANSAIDs controlling for the form of administration and correcting for the differential bias due to OTC availability of ASA.

5.6 CONCLUSIONS

The results obtained from this case-contol study allow to evaluate the impact of patterns of drug utilization in non-experimental risk assessment. This, it can be recalled, was the main objective of the thesis. Patterns of drug utilization that are clinically relevant, quantifiable and amenable to be used in pharmacoepidemiologic studies were characterized empirically.

In this study, patterns of non-aspirin NSAIDs (NANSAIDs) were associated with the risk of hospitalization for upper gastrointestinal bleeding (UGIB). Patients who used these drugs in the past were at a lower risk than first-time users. Furthermore, the risk decreased with an increase in duration of exposure. The effect may be due to the selection of susceptible patients out of the population at risk, a process analogous to the "healthy worker effect" that has been described in the epidemiologic literature. In the elderly, most NANSAID users are not short-term and patients do not switch products frequently. Instead, they use gastro-This study provides the first empirical protective agents. evidence of the importance of patterns of drug utilization in risk assessment. The identification of high risk groups should therefore take into account not only the drug of interest but also past experience with the drug as well as comedications. Further studies are needed to document past toxicity in current users and reasons for discontinuation in former users.

The system of linkage of data that was developed makes the conduct of pharmacoepidemiologic studies based on automated databases feasible in Quebec. In this elderly population, recent NANSAID use and a prior history of gastropathy were the major factors associated with hospitalizations for UGIB. Recent use of

protective agents was also associated with a greater risk of UGIB. This association reflects prescribing practices or early symptoms of gastropathy rather than a true effect of these drugs. This was an empirical evidence of the presence of a susceptibility or protopathic bias previously described in the pharmacoepidemiologic literature.

These results suggest that clinicians should inquire about past experience with the drug whenever they intend to prescribe it and follow first-time users carefully.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abenhaim L, Moride Y. Le risque et sa mesure. In: Analyse d'incidence en pharmacovigilance, ed. Arme-pharmacovigilance Editions, Bordeaux: 1992, p. 141-154.

Abenhaim L, van Staa T, Leufkens H. Switching patterns of non-steroidal and anti-inflammation drugs. J.Clin.Res.Pharmacoepidemiol. 1991; 5: 131.

Anonymous a. SAS users guide, version 6 edition. SAS Institute Inc., Cary: 1987.

Anonymous b. Statistical and Epidemiology Research Corporation. Egret-reference manual. 1991.

Armstrong CP, Blower AL. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and life threatening complications of peptic ulceration. **Gut** 1987; 28: 527-532.

Bartle WR, Gupta AK, Lazor J. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and gastrointestinal bleeding. Arch.Intern.Med. 1986; 146: 2365-2367. Baum C, Kennedy DL, Forbes MB. Utilization of NSAIDs. Arthrit.Rheumatol. 1985; 28: 686-692.

Beard K, Walker AM, Perera DR, Jick H. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and hospitalization for gastroesophageal bleeding in the elderly. Arch.Intern.Med. 1987; 147: 1621-1623.

Beardon PHG, Brown SV, McDevitt DG. Gastrointestinal events in patients prescribed non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: A controlled study using record linkage in Tayside. Quart.J.Med. 1989; 266: 497-505.

Bégaud B, Tubert P, Haramburu F, Moride Y, Salamé G, Péré JC. Comparing toxicity of drugs: Use and misuse of spontaneous reporting. **Post Marketing Surveillance** 1991; 5: 69-76.

Bigelow, W. and Collins, T. Impact of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory agents on general gastrointestinal upset in an elderly population. In: *Pharmacoepidemiology*, *vol.I*, edited by Edlavitch, S. Lewis Publishers inc., 1989, p. 243-260.

Breslow NE, Day NE. Statistical methdos in cancer research. International Agency for research on Cancer, Lyon 1980. Vol.I. The analysis of case-control studies. Buchanan WW. Implications of NSAID therapy in elderly patients. J.Rheumatol. 1990; 17(suppl.20): 29-32.

Calin A, Elswood J. A prospective nationwide cross-sectional study of NSAID usage in 1331 patients with ankylosing spondylitis. J.Rheumatol. 1990; 17: 801-803.

Carson JL, Strom BL, Morse ML, West SL, Soper KA, Stolley PD, Jones JK. The relative gastrointestinal toxicity of the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Arch.Intern.Med. 1987; 147: 1054-1059.

Carson JL, Strom BL, Soper KA, West SL, Morse ML. The association of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs with upper gastrointestinal tract bleeding. Arch.Intern.Med. 1987; 147: 85-88.

Caselli M, Pazzi P, LaCorte R, Aleotti A, Trevisani L, Stabellini G. Campylobacter-like organisms, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and gastric lesions in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. **Digestion** 1989; 44: 101-104.

Chalmers A, Lee P. Monitoring of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs in populations. A clinician's point of view. J.Rheumatol. 1988; 15(suppl.17): 3-4.

Clinch D, Banerjee AK, Ostick G, Levy DW. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and gastrointestinal adverse effects.

Journal of the Royal College of Physicians of London 1983; 17: 228-230.

Cockel R. NSAIDs: should every prescription carry a government health warning? Gut 1987; 28: 515-518.

Coggon D, Langman MJS, Spiegelhalter D. Aspirin, paracetamol, and haematemesis and melaena. Gut 1982; 23: 340-344.

Collier DSJ, Pain JA. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and peptic ulcer perforation. Gut 1985; 26: 359-363.

Del Favero A, Patoia L. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: seven year's experience in preparing an annual review. Clin.Exp.Rheumatol. 1989; 7/s-3: 171-175.

Doherty M. NSAID drug in patients with peptic ulcer disease: to be considered in certain circumstances. BMJ 1989; 298: 176-179.

Duggan JM, Dobson A, Johnson H, Fahey P. Peptic ulcer and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents. Gut 1986; 27: 929-933.

Faich GA, Stadel BV. The future of automated record linkage for postmarketing surveillance: A response to Shapiro. Clin.Pharmacol.Ther. 1989; 46: 387-389.

Flier JS, Underhill LH, Soll AH. Pathogenesis of peptic ulcer and implications for therapy. N.Engl.J.Med. 1990; 322: 909-916.

Florent C, Desaint B. Frequency and severity of gastric and duodenal lesions induced by non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents and aspirin. Gastroenterol.Clin.Biol. 1989; 13: 235-238.

Fries JF, Miller SR, Spitz PW, Williams CA, Hubert HB and Bloch DA. Towards an epidemiology of gastropathy associated with nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug use. **Gastroenterol.** 1989; 96: 647-655.

Fries JF, Miller SR, Spitz PW, Williams CA, Hubert HB, Bloch DA. Identification of patients at risk for gastropathy associated with NSAID use. J.Rheumatol. 1990; 17(suppl.20): 12-19.

Fries JF, Williams CA, Bloch DA, Michel BA. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug-associated gastropathy: Incidence and risk factor models. Am.J.Med. 1991; 91: 213.

Gabriel SE, Bomb: Jier C. NSAID induced ulcers. An emerging epidemic? J.Rheumatol. 1990; 17: 1-4.

Gabriel SE, Jaakkimainen L, Bombardier C. Risk of serious gastrointestinal complications related to use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs - A meta-analysis. Ann.Intern.Med. 1991; 115: 787-796.

Giercksky KE, Huseby G, Rugstad HE. Epidemiology of NSAID-related gastrointestinal side effects. Scanc.J.Gastroenterol. 1989; 24(suppl.163): 3-8.

Graham DY, Smith JL, Holmes GI, Davies RO. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory effect of sulindac sulfoxide and sulfide on gastric mucosa. **Clin.Pharmacol.Ther.** 1985; 38: 65-70.

Griffin MR, Piper JM, Daugherty JF, Snowden M, Ray WA. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug use and increased risk for peptic ulcer disease in elderly persons. Ann.Intern.Med. 1991; 114: 257-263.

Guess HA, West R, Strand LM, Helston D, Lydick EG, Bergman U, Wolski K. Fatal upper gastrointestinal hemorrhage or perforation among users and nonusers of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in Saskatchewan, Canada 1983. J.Clin.Epidemiol. 1988; 41: 35-45.

Haslock I. Prevalence of NSAID-induced gastrointestinal morbidity and mortality. J.Rheumatol. 1990; 17(suppl.20): 2-6.

Hawkey CJ. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and peptic ulcers. BMJ 1990; 300: 278-284.

Henry DA, Johnston A, Dobson A, Duggan J. Fatal peptic ulcer complications and the use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, aspirin, and corticosteroids. Br.Med.J. 1987; 295: 1227-1229.

Holvoet J, Terriere L, Van Hee W, Verbist L, Fierens E, Hautekeete ML. Relation of upper gastrointestinal bleeding to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and aspirin : a case-control study. Gut 1991; 32: 730-734.

International Agranulocytosis and Aplastic Anemia Study . Risks of agranulocytosis and aplastic anemia. A first report of their relation to drug use with special reference to analgesics. JAMA 1986; 256: 1749-1757.

Jick H. Effects of aspirin and acetaminophen in gastrointestinal hemorrhage. Arch.Intern.Med. 1981; 141: 316-321.

Jick H, Vessey MP. Case-control studies in the evaluation of drug-induced illnesses. **Am.J.Epidemiol.** 1978; 107: 1-7.

Jick H, Walker AM. Uninformed criticism of automated record linkage. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 1989; 46: 478-479.

Jick SS, Walker AM, Perera DR, Jick H. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and hospital admission for perforated peptic ulcer. **The Lancet** 1987; i: 380-382.

Johnson GE, Hannah KJ. Pharmacology and the nursing process.

Toronto: 1983.

Kelsey JL, O'Brien LA, Grisso JA, Hoffman S. Issues in carrying out epidemiologic research in the elderly. **Am.J.Epidemiol.** 1989; 130: 857-866.

Kelsey JL, Thompson WD, Evans AS. Methods in observational epidemiology. New York: Oxford University Press, Inc.; 1986.

Kirkwood BR. Essentials of medical statistics. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific, 1988: 179-183.

Kleinbaum DG, Kupper LL, Morgenstern H. Epidemiologic research. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold; 1982.

Knottnerus JA. Subject selection in hospital-based case-control studies. J.Caron.Dis. 1987; 40: 183-185.

Kopec JA, Esdaile JM. Bias in case-control studies - A review. J.Epidemiol.Commun.Health 1990; 44: 179-186.

Kramer MS. Apport des méthodes épidémiologiques à l'évaluation des médicaments. In: Epidémiologie Clinique, vol.3; Pharmacoépidémiologie et bénéfices des médicaments. Lyon: Ed. Fondation Marcel Mérieux, 1991: 75-89.

Kramer MS, Lane DA, Hutchinson TA. Analgesic use, blood dyscrasias, and case-control pharmacoepidemiology. **J.Chron.Dis.** 1987; 40: 1073-1081.

Laporte JR, Carne X, Vidal X, Moreno V, Juan J. Upper gastrointestinal bleeding in relation to previous use of analgesics and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. **The Lancet** 1991; 337: 85-89.

Last JM. A dictionary of epidemiology. New York: Oxford University Press; 1983.

Leufkens HG, Ameling CB, Heskster JA, Bakker A. Utilization patterns of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in an open Dutch population. **Pharm.Weekbl.** 1990; 12: 97-103.

Levy M, Miller DR, Kaufman DW, Siskind V, Schwingl P, Rosenberg L, Strom B, Shapiro S. Major upper gastrointestinal tract bleeding. Arch.Intern.Med. 1988; 148: 281-285.

Meisel AD. Clinical benefits and comparative safety of piroxicam. Analysis of worldwide clinical trials. **Am.J.Med.** 1986; 81(suppl.5B): 15-21.

Melnychuk D, Moride Y, Abenhaim L. Monitoring of drug utilization in public health surveillance activities: A conceptual framework.

Can.J.Publ.Health (in press).

Miettinen OS. The "case-control" study: valid selection of subjects. J.Chron.Dis. 1985; 38: 543-548.

Miettinen OS, Caro J. Principles of nonexperimental assessment of excess risk, with special reference to adverse drug reactions. J.Clin.Epidemiol. 1989; 42: 325-331.

Mitchell DM, Spitz PW, Young DY. Survival, prognosis, and causes of death in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthrit.Rheumatol. 1992;

Moride Y, Abenhaim L. Patterns of individual drug utilization: Methodology and applications using the RAMQ database. J.Clin.Res.Pharmacoepidemiol. 1990; 4: 121.

O'Brien JD, Burnham WR. Eleeding from peptic ulcers and use of NSAIDs in the Romford area. **BMJ** 1985; 291: 1609-1610.

O'Neill, R.T. Assessment of safety. In: *Biopharmaceutical* statistics for drug development, edited by Pearce, K.E. New York: 1988.

Pearce N, Checkoway H. Case-control studies using other diseases as controls: problems of excluding exposure-related diseases. Am.J.Epidemiol. 1988; 127: 851-856.
Peltier AP. Practical management of NSAID gastropathy in rheumatic patients. Scand.J.Rheumatol. 1989; Suppl.78: 12-17.

Petri H, Urquhart J. Channeling bias in the interpretation of drug effects. Stat.Med. 1991; 10: 577-581.

Petri H, Urquhart J, Herings R, Bakker A. Characteristics of patients prescribed three different inhalational beta-2 agonists: an example of the channeling phenomenon. **Post Marketing Surveillance** 1991; 5: 57-66.

Pincus T, Callahan LF. Taking mortality in rheumatoid arthritis seriously - predictive markers, socioeconomic status and comorbidity. J.Rheumatol. 1986; 14: 841-845.

Rainsford KD. Current concepts of the mechanisms of side effects of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs as a basis for establishing research priorities. An experimentalist's view. J.Rheumatol. 1988; 15(suppl.17): 63-70.

Ray WA, Griffin MR, Downey W, Melton III LJ. Long-term use of thiazide diuretics and risk of hip fracture. **The Lancet** 1989; i: 687-690.

Roth SH. New understandings of NSAID gastropathy. Scand.J.Rheumatol. 1989; Suppl.78: 24-29.

Rothman KJ. Modern epidemiology. Boston/Toronto: Little, Brown and Company; 1986.

Shapiro S. The role of automated record linkage in the postmarketing surveillance of drug safety: A critique. **Clin.Pharmacol.Ther.** 1989; 46: 371-386.

Soll AH, Kurata J, McGuigan JE. Ulcers, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs, and related matters. Gastroenterology 1989; 96: 561-568.

Somerville K, Faulkner G, Langman M. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and bleeding peptic ulcer. The Lancet 1986; i: 462-464.

Strom BL, Carson JL. Automated databases used for pharmacoepidemiology research. Clin.Pharmacol.Ther. 1989; 46: 390-394.

Strom BL, Morse ML. Use of computerized databases to survey drug utilization in relation to diagnoses. Acta Med.Scand. 1988; Suppl.721: 13-20.

Swift GL, Henegham M, Williams GT, Williams BD, O'Sullivan MM, Rhodes J. Effect of ranitidine on gastroduodenal mucosal damage in patients on long-term non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs.

Digestion 1989; 44: 86-94.

Tarnawski A, Stachura J, Klimczyk B, Mach T, Ivey KG. Endoscopic appearance, transendoscopic potential difference, pH, histologic and ultrastructural changes in human gastric mucosa after alcohol. Gastrointes. Endosc. 1982; 28: 145.

Tilson HH. Pharmacoepidemiology: The lessons learned; the challenges ahead. Clin.Pharmacol.Ther. 1989; 46: 480.

van Staa TP, Abenhaim L, Leufkens H. The time-window in automated record linkage studies. Post Marketing Surveillance 1992;

Wacholder S, McLaughlin JK, Silverman DT, Mandel JS. Selection of controls in case-control studies: I. Principles. Am.J.Epidemiol. 1992; 135: 1019-1028.

Walker AM, Chan K-WA, Yood RA. Interchange in the dispensing of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. **J.Clin.Epidemiol.** 1992; 45: 187-195.

Wolfe F, Kleinheksel SM, Spitz PW, Lubeck DP, Young D, Mitchell D, Roth SH. A multicenter study of hospitalization in rheumatoid arthritis: frequency, medical surgical admissions and charges. Arthrit.Rheumatol. 1986; 29: 614-619.

APPENDIX A

Literature review on NSAID - gastropathy

Tables of the elements to be considered in risk assessment

Authors	Outcome	Study population	Study population Matching	
Coggon et al. (1982)	Haematemesis Melena	277 matched pairs patients from local community clinics	Age, Sex	ASA used more often by cases than by controls (p<.001)
Clinch et al. (1983)	Peptic ulcer	100 cases 50 controls (normal endoscopy)	none	Significant association between lesion and Non- aspirin NSAID use (p=.002)
Collier and Pain (1985)	Peptic ulcer perforation	Hospital based 269 cases 269 controls (surgical emergencies)	Age, Sex	Significant difference between cases and controls in ingestion of NSAIDs (p<.001)
Bartle et al. (1986)	Acute UGIB	Hospital based 57 cases 123 controls (1/2 hospitalized 1/2 visitors)	Age, Sex	42.1% of cases versus 18.1% of controls were taking NSAIDs (p<.005)
Duggan et al. (1986)	Peptic ulcer	180 cases 180 controls (surgical and dermatologic outpatients)	Age, Sex, SES	Statistical and clinical significant association with non- aspirin NSAIDs OR=5 (1.4-26.9)

Description of published case-control studies on the effect of NSAIDs on gastropathy.

Somerville et al. (1986)	Bleeding peptic ulcer	≥ 60 years 230 cases 230 hospital controls 207 community controls	Age, Sex	Significant difference in non-aspirin NSAIDs use (p<.001)
Armstrong and Blower (1987)	Life threatening complications of peptic ulcerations	Hospital based 235 cases 1246 controls (admitted to hospital with no peptic ulcer disease)	none	60.0% of cases versus 9.9% of controls were non-aspirin NSAID users
Henry et al. (1987)	Fatal peptic ulcer complication	80 cases 160 controls (survivors)	Age, Sex, Site of ulcer, Nature of complication	No evidence that NSAID use was associated with an increase in mortality OR= 1.1 (0.6-2.1)
Smedley et al. (1988)	Bleeding and perforated peptic ulcer	Hospital based 272 cases 272 controls (type not specified)	Age, Sex	20% of cases versus 6% of controls were NSAID users (p=.003)
Jick et al. (1987)	Hospital admissions for perforated	GHC, > 10 years old 6 controls/case (number not specified)	Age, Sex, GI history, Date of entry	No significant association OR= 1.20 (0.45-3.50)

Hospital based

2417 controls (independent of

57 cases

exposure)

18-69 years old

Major UGIB

peptic ulcers

of controls had taken

ASA regularly OR = 15(6.4-34)

26% of cases versus 4%

in health plan

поле

277

Levy et al. (1988)

Laporte ec al. (1991)	UGIB	Hospital based 875 cases 2682 controls (acute clinical disorders)	Age, Sex, Centre, Time from admission	Significant association with NSAID use OR = 7.2 (5.4-9.6)
Henry et al. (1991)	IJGIB	2 studies: A) ≥ 50 years Hospital controls 1:1 ratio (numbers not specified)	Age, Sex	Significant association OR= 2.9 (1.8-4.8)
		B) All ages Hospital controls 1:2 ratio	Age, Sex	OR = 3.1(2.3-4.1)
Holvoet et al. (1991)	UGIB	Hospital based 161 cases 161 controls (next patient admitted to dept. Internal Medicine)	Age, Sex	Significant association - non-aspirin NSAID use OR = 7.4 (3.7-14.7) - ASA OR = 2.2 (1.3-4.0)

Description of published cohort studies on the effect of NSAID on gastropathy

Authors	Outcome	Study population	Findings
Beard et al. (1987)	Gastro-oesophageal bleeding	GHC Puget Sound, >64 years old 6.1 x 10 ⁶ person-days exposed 38.0 x 10 ⁶ person-days unexposed	Non-significant rate difference: 1.3 hospitalizations/10 ⁶ (-0.2 - 3.4)
Jick et al. (1987)	Perforated peptic ulcer	GHC Puget Sound, >10 years old 23.4 x 10 ⁶ person-days exposed 558.6 x 10 ⁶ person-days unexposed	No significant association with NSAID use: RR _{adj} = 1.2 (0.50-2.8)
Carson et al. (1987)	UGIB	COMPASS 47,136 persons exposed 44,634 persons unexposed	Significant association RR _{adj} = 1.5 (1.1-1.9)
Guess et al. (1988)	Fatal UGIB or perforation	Saskatchewan residents 134,060 users 834,051 non-users	Age-specific rates Rate highest in women >75 years
Beardon et al. (1989)	GI events	Prescription Pricing Division 25,959 users non-users population matched for age, sex, general practitioner (number not specified)	Attributable risk was significant only for ≥ 60 years old
Bigelow and Collins (1989)	General GI upset	Wisconsin Medicaid ≥ 65 years 18,771 users 59,134 non-users	NSAID use positively related to general GI upset

Description of published nested case-control studies on NSAIDs and gastropathy.

Authors	Outcome	Study population	Matching	Pindings
Henry et al. (1987)	Death from peptic ulcer complications	Hospital based Cohort: patients with peptic ulcer complications 80 deaths 160 survivors	Age, sex, ulcer site, nature of complication	39% of cases versus 37% of controls were NSAID users Non-significant association: NANSAID: OR= 1.1 (0.6-2.1) ASA : OR=1.2 (0.6-2.4)
Carson et al. (1987) [3IB		Saskatchewan none Cohort: patients exposed to only 1 NSAID during the observation period number of cases and controls not specified		-Linear dose-response relationship (p<.01) -Quadratic duration- response (p<.001)
Griffin et al. (1991)	Peptic ulcer disease	Cohort: Tennessee Medicaid Elderly 1415 cases hospitalized 7065 controls (stratified random sample of cohort)	Birth year, sex, race, nursing home status	34% of cases versus 13% of controls were NANSAID users OR=4.1 (3.5-4.7)





Estimates of excess risk of UGIB associated with NSAID uses

<u>Btudy</u>	<u>Drugs</u>	Outcome	<u>Reference risk</u> /100,000 persons	<u>ER (95% C.I.)</u> /100,000 persons
Jick (1981)	Aspirin	Hosp. adm. for major GIB	13.0	15.0
Beardon et al. (1989)	NANSAIDS	GI events	males: 9110 females: 8020	2250 (1380-3120) 4680 (4000-5360)
		GI hem./perf.	males: 710 females: 750	790 (490-1090) 810 (470-1150)

Estimates of excess rates of UGIB associated with NSAID use

<u>Study</u>	<u>Druqs</u>	<u>Outcome</u>	<u>Reference rate</u> /10 ⁶ person-days	<u>ER (95% C.I.)</u> /10 ⁶ person-days
Beard et al. (1987)	NANSAIDS	hosp. for gastro- esophageal bleeding	3.4	1.3 (0.2-3.4)*
Jick et al. (1987)	NANSAIDS	hosp. perf. gast. + duod. ulcers	0.09	0.15 (-0.06 - 0.36)
Carson et al. (1987)	NANSAIDS	UGIB	2.77	1.46**
Guess et al. (1988)	NSAIDS	fatal UGIB	0.051	1.11

* We could not duplicate this value from published results

** Insufficient data published to calculate a 95% C.I. with the approximate method.

We used an approximate estimation of the 95% C.I. of the rate difference. The number of exposed and unexposed cases can each be assumed to have a Poisson distribution (Rothman, 1986).

Incidence rate ratios and relative risks in studies of NSAID-gastropathy

	Reference	Outcome	<u>RR (95% C.I.)</u>
Incidence rate			
	Beard et al.(1987)*	hosp.eosaphageal	1.1 (0.7-1.7)
	Jick et al.(1987)	perforated peptic ulcer	1.2 (0.5-2.8)
	Carson et al.(1987)	UGIB	1.5 (1.1-1.9)
<u>Relative risk</u>			
	Eliakim et al. [*] (1987)	bleeding in patients with duodenal ulcers	5.5 (4.0-7.5)
	Beardon et al. [*] (1989)	GI events	1.5 (1.5-1.6)

* Crude estimates derived from published data

Published odds ratios for the effect of NSAIDs on gastropathy

Study	Drug	Outcome	OR (95% C.I.)
Coggon et al. (1982)	ASA	Haematemesis	3.7 (2.2-6.4)
Clinch et al. (1983)*	NSAIDS	GI adverse events (lesions) Maelena	4.6 (1.7-12.8)
	NANSAIDS	17	3.9 (1.4-10.7)
Collier and Pain (1985) [*] (n i	NSAIDs not specified f incl. ASA)	PU perf.	7.3 (4.2-12.5)
Duggan et al. (1986)	NANSAIDS ASA	Peptic ulcer	5.0 (1.4-26.9) 3.0 (0.7-21.3)
Somerville et al. (1986)	NANSAIDS	Bleeding PU	2.7 (1.7-4.4)
Bartle et al. (1986) [*]	NSAIDS	11	3.2 (1.6-6.3)
	NANSAIDS	GI bleeding hosp.	4.3 (2.8-12.3)
	ASA		2.7 (1.2- 6.0)
Armstrong and Blower [*] (1987)	NANSAIDS	Life threat. complications of peptic ulce	13.7(9.9 -18.9) er
Henry et al. (1987)	NANSAIDS ASA	Fatal PU complications	1.1 (0.6-2.1) 1.2 (0.5-1.9)
Jick et al. (1987)	NANSAIDS	Hosp. adm. perforated gast. + duod. ulcers	1.2 (0.45-3.5)
Levy et al. (1988)	NANSAIDS ASA	major UGIB	9.1 (2.7-31.0) 15.0 (6.4-34.0)

Study		Drug	Outcome	OR (95% C.I.)	
)	Henry et al. (1991)	A)	NANSAIDS	hosp. UGIB	2.9 (1.8-4.8)
		B)	•1	11	3.1 (2.3-4.1)
	Laporte et al. (1991)		NANSAIDS ASA	UGIB	9.89 ^{**} 7.2 (5.4-9.6)
	Griffin et al. (1991)		NANSAIDS	hosp. PUD	4.1 (3.5-4.7)
	Holvoet et al. (1991)		NANSAIDS	UGIB	7.4 (3.7-14.7)
			ASA	99	2.2 (1.3- 4.0)

Derived from published data
 ** adjusted for age and sex by the Mantel-Haenszel method

Severity of outcome in studies on NSAID-gastropathy

<u>Study</u>	<u>Exposure</u>	Outcome	Estimate of RR (95% C.I.)
Clinch et al. (1983)	NANSAIDS	Endoscopic lesions	3.86 (1.39-10.68)
Beardon et al. (1989)	NANSAIDs	GI event	men: 1.25 women: 1.58
Laporte et al. (1991)	NANSAIDS	UGIB	9.89
Beard et al. (1987)	NANSAIDS	hospitalized for gastro- oesophageal bleeding	l 1.88
Bartle et al. (1986)	NANSAIDS	Hospitalized GIB	4.32(2.84-12.25)
Holvoet et al. (1991)	NANSAIDS	Hospitalized UGIB	1 7.4 (3.7-14.7)
Jick (1981)	ASA	hosp. adm. major UGIB	2.1
Jick et al. (1987)	NANSAIDs	perforation	1.20 (0.45-3.5)
Beardon et al. (1989)	NANSAIDS	GI bleed/per	cf. men: 2.11 women: 2.08
Henry et al. (1991) A)	NANSAIDS	hosp. bleed or perforat	ing 2.9 (1.8-4.8) ion
В)	11	17	3.1 (2.3-4.1)
Collier and Pain (1985)	NSAIDS	PU perforat:	ion 7.25 (4.22-12.45)
Henry et al. (1987)	NANSAIDS	Life threat complication	. 13.7 (9.9-18.9) ns

STUDY	DEFINITION OF CASES	CONFIRMATION	INCLUSION CRITERIA	EXCLUSION CRITERIA	METHOD OF RECRUITMENT
1- Jick et af. (81)	 Patients hospitalized for major and minor GI bleeding Outpatients admitted because of serious GI bleeding Major = Transfusion req't Minor = No transfusion req't 	?	Consecutive patients admitted in medical wards	- Known disease predisposing to GI bleeding	Database
2- Coggon et al. (62)	Gi bleeding defined symptomatically as haematemesis and melaena	None	 Patients admitted to City Hospital with haematemesis and melaena between Ncv. 76 and Feb. B0 	 Clinically trivial bleeding Doubtful occurrence of bleeding Death soon after admission Patients too confused to cooperate 	Admissions
3- Clinch et al. (83)	Patients referred for OGD with lesions: - Ulcer: (acute and chronic) - Benign gastric ulcer - Duodenal ulcer, duodenitis, gastritis, oesophagitis	Gastroscopy: mucosa had to be grossly red and inflamed for Dx of oesophagitis, gastritis, duodenitis	- All cases referred for endoscopy where lesion was found	 Patients on medications besides NSAIDs that might have caused the lesion Suspected malignant tesion 	Referrals to Gf clinic
4- Collier and Pain (85)	Perforated peptic ulcers (gastric and duodenal)	- Operative findings (87%) - Radiological findings (5.6%) - Necropsy (7%)	- All patients admitted to one hospital with perforated peptic ulcers between 1973 and 1982	None	Admissions
5- Bartle et al. (86)	Acute non-variceal UGIB	 Presence of haematemesis and/or black stool on admission All patients had gastroscopy 	All patients admitted to gastroenterology service in one hospital between Nov. 15, 1982 and June 21, 1983	None	Admissions
6- Duggan et al. (86)	Duodenal or gastric ulcers but not both	Gastroscopy	All patients presenting for first time at gastroenterology unit (not specified if outpatients or inpatients or both)	Patients with both duodenal and gastric ulcers	?

TABLE 9 - Case definition and ascertainment in studies on NSAID-gastropathy



STUDY	DEFINITION OF CASES	CONFIRMATION			METHOD OF RECRUITMENT
7- Sommerville et al. (86)	. • Presence of haemalemesis or melaena ? Admitted between April March 85 with primary diagnosis of bleeding gastric or duodenal ulcers		Admitted between April 83 and March 85 with primary diagnosis of haematemesis or melaena	 Unable to reply clearly to questionnaire Early discharge/interviewer not available Death before interview Refusal of consent 	Admissions
8- Armstrong and Blower (87)	Death from or requirement for emergency surgery for bleeding or perforation of benign peptic ulcer	 For deaths (at home or before operation): coroner's autopsy For those presenting with haematemesis or melaena: at surgery gastroscopy (0.85%) 	Consecutive series of patients who died or required emergency surgery for bleeding or perforation of benign peptic ufcer between Jan 83 and Dec. 85	Gastric carcinoma Bleeding ulcers that settled without surgical intervention	?
9- Beard et al. (87)	Gastrooesophageal bleeding Diagnoses: gastritis, gastric ulcer with bleeding, haematemesis, peptic ulcer with bleeding		 Members of GHC > 64 years from 77-83 Hospitalized for gastrooesophageat bleeding 	 Disseminated cancer GI bleeding secondary to severe trauma or chronic alcoholism GIB occurring while in hospital or resulted from recorded duodenal ulcer current steroid or anticoagulant therapy Presence of diagnosed bleeding disorder 	Discharges (ICD- 8)
10- Henry et al. (87)	Death from peptic ulcer complication	Review of notes of all patients who had died during their hosp. adm. and whose records contained any mention of P.U. complication in discharge diagnoses	Patients who had admission of death from P.U. complication between Jan. 80 and June 86	None	Admissions
t 1- Smedley et al. (88)	Admission for bleeding and perforated peptic ulcer	?	?	?	Admissions



STUDY	DEFINITION OF CASES	CONFIRMATION	INCLUSION CRITERIA	EXCLUSION CRITERIA	METHOD OF RECRUITMENT
12- Jick et al. (87)	Hospital admission for perforated ulcer with the following discharge diagnoses: (531.23, 532.23, 533.23)	Confirmed with discharge summary	 Members of GHC ≥ 10 years Admitted between Jan. 1, 1977 and Dec. 31st, 1983 	 Previous surgery at perforation site Malignant disorder that might involve the stomach other known etiological factors (eg. car accident) 	Discharges
13- Carson et al. (87)	Diagnosis of UGIB during a day at risk	None	 Members of COMPASS from states of Michigan + Minnesota (eligible to Medicaid benefits) March Aug. 80 Diagnosis of UGIB during days at risk (within 30 days of Px in E) 	 Patients who had been given aspirin Patients with no claim for medical service in 1980 Diagnosis of UGIB in 1980 prior to the 6-month observation 	Billing data Inpatients and outpatients (ICD-9)
14- Levy et al. (87)	Admission for frank haematemesis or melaena, discharged with UGIB, gastric ulcer, gastritis without known earlier predisposition: UGIB, gastric ulcer, gastritis	Presence of discharge diagnosis in discharge summaries	 18-69 years First episode of major UGIB (Irank haematemesis, melaena or both) no more than 1 month before admission No endoscopic or radiologic evidence of duodenal ulcer no symptoms referable to upper GI tract that had lasted more than 30 days 	 History of PUD, cirrhosis, oesophageal varices, chronic alcoholism, cancer, corticosteroid, anticoagulant H₂ antagonist 	Discharge summaries
15- Guess et al. (88)	Hospitalizations with fatal UGI haemorrhage and/or perforation. More specifically: Gastric, duodenal or peptic ulcer with bleeding and/or perforation, gastritis and duodenitis, (except alcoholic or atrophic gastritis), haematemesis, melaena or unspecified haemorrhage of GI tract UGI perforation = perforation of duodenum or stomach confirmed at surgery or autopsy	Review of written hospital discharge summaries and autopsy reports UGIB: (1) described In discharge summary as UGIB, haematemesis or melaena or (2) documented by gastroscopy, surgery or autopsy as originating from duoctenum or stomach	- Members of Saskatchewan health plan in 1983 with one of the discharge diagnoses of UGIB	 Discharge summaries with cancer, aplastic anaemia, acute hepatitis or chronic active hepatitis, cirrhosis or alcoholism, current use of anticoaguants Surgical procedure within a month of UGIB or perforation 	Discharge diagnoses Database (primary and secondary)



STUDY	DEFINITION OF CASES	CONFIRMATION	INCLUSION CRITERIA	EXCLUSION CRITERIA	METHOD OF RECRUITMENT
16- Beardon et al. (89)	 Disease of digestive system Symptoms involving the digestive system Diagnosis of perforation or haemorrhage of peptic ulcer 	None	 Patients with admission diagnosis between Jan. 1st, 83 and Dec. 85. Members of Edinburgh Prescription Pricing Division on completion of mandatory one- year retention period 	None	Database of inpatient morbidity
17. Bigelow and Coltins (89)	GI upset A. Diagnostic codes indicative of GI upset presumed to be attributable to NSAID use B. Bills submitted for H ₂ antagonists and antackds (markers)		 Members of Wisconsin Medicaid Billing Data from April 1, 84 - March 31, 87 2 65 years Received services for which a bill was received by Medicald 	 History of GI upset during first 90 days: diagnostic codes indicative of GI upset, bill submitted for H₂ antagonists or antackds during first 90 days of observation Patients with fewer than 90 days' worth of bills submitted (not sufficient observation period to determine prior hx of GI upset) Diagnostic codes indicative of alcohol abuse at any point during period of observation Diagnostic codes indicative of GI difficulties but not presumed to be causally related to NSAID use Prescription of H₂ antagonists or antacids started on same day or day after initiation of NSAID drug therapy 	Database: diagnostic codes or bills for H ₂ antagonists and antacids
18- Campbell and Steele (91)	Severe complications of diverticular disease: pericolic abscess, generalized peritonitis, bleeding requiring surgical intervention and fistula formation		- Admitted between 83 and 88	- No adequate drug history available from case notes	Admissions



STUDY	DEFINITION OF CASES	CONFIRMATION	INCLUSION CRITERIA		METHOD OF RECRUITMENT
19- Laporte et al. (91)	 Hospitalization with haematemesis and melaena Primary diagnosis of acute UGIB At least one diagnosis of benign gastric ulcer, duodenal ulcer, acute lesions of gastric mucosa, erosive duodenitis 	- Endoscopy - Surgery	- Patlents presenting at participating hospitals between Feb. 1st, 87 and Dec. 31, 88	 Other endoscopic diagnoses: oesophageal varices, anastomotic ulcers, gastric carcinoma, Mallory Weiss syndrome History of liver cirrhosis or coagulopathy People on holiday from other countries Illiterate Not reliably interviewed Death 	?
20- Henry et al. (91)	Admitted with UGIB or ulcer perforation	Endoscopy with 24 hours of admission	 A) ≥ 50 Admitted with UGIB or ulcer perforation to 2 public hospitals: between 85 and 87 B) All ages Consecutive admission with haemorrhage or perforation to all public hospitals mid-88 -> mid-90 	?	?
21- Griffin et al. (91)	 Hospitalized with diagnosis of confirmed peptic ulcer or UGIB (gastric or duodensi) UGIB of unknown causes: haematemesis, presence of blood in nasogastric aspirate, melaena <u>Codes</u>: Gastric, duodenal, peptic, gastrojejunal ulcer, other disorders of stomach and duodenum, Gi haemorrhage 	<u>Peptic ulcer</u> : - Surgery - Endoscopy - Roentgenogram - Autopsy <u>UGIB</u> : Review of hospital records	 Member of Tennessee Medicaid Program 2 65 years Confirmed peptic ulcer or UGIB 1984> 86 Enrolled 2 355 days before hospitalization 	 Esophageal varices Gastric cancer Other known causes 	Database: Hospital discharge(ICD-9) and state death certificate database
22. Holvoet et al. (1991)	Hospitalized with peptic oesophagitis, gastric erosion, gastric ulcer or duodenal ulcer	Endoscopy within 48 hours of admission	May 1 [#] 87 to May 1 [#] 89	Oesophageal varices, Mallory- Weiss, upper GI neoplasia, vascular maitormation	Admission



TABLE 10 - Exposure characterization in studies on NSAID-gastropathy

<u> </u>	DEFINIT	ION		CAT	ION		ASCERTAIN	A E N T	CHARACTERIZATION
Reference	NSAID.	Consideratio n of Multiple Drug Use	Number of categories	Dose	Route	Duration	Method	Types of Drugs	Time Window
1- Jick et al. (61)	Combined	No	Dichotomous	Yes	Yes	Yes	Clinical records, interview		1 week before
2- Coggon et al (82)	Aspirin Paracetanol	No	8 - sometimes in past 2 days - sometimes in past week - sometimes in each of past 2 weeks - Regularly ≥ 3 months for aspirin and paracetamol	No	No	Yes	Interview	Taken	3 months before admission
3- Clinch et al. (83)	- NSAIDs at least 1 week - Individual products	Yes*	Dichotomous	Yes*	Yes*	Yes*	 Referring doctor's letter Admitting doctor's case history Nursing records (lamily doctor when not enough information) 	Not specified	Not specified but at least 1 week before admission
4- Collier and Pain (85)	Combined	No	Dichotomous	No	No	No	Retrospective note review	ingestion	On admission
5- Bartle et al. (86)	Individual*	Yes*	2 • ASA • non-asp. NSAID	Yes*	No	Yes"	Interview	Use	Not specified (but presumed at least 6 months)
6- Duggan et al. (86)	Regular use (2 2 doses weekly in last 3 months)	Yes*	6 - Aspirin alone - Aspirin as compound preparation containing aspirin and caffeine - Paracetamol alone - NSAIA alone - NSAIA and aspirin or aspirin and catteine - Others: - irregular - non-respondents - < 2 doses/week	Νο	No	Yes (frequency, quantity)	Questionnaire	Consumption	3 months

• = Recorded but NOT considered in analyses

•

	DEFIN	TION	QUA	NTIFI	САТ	10 N	ASCERTAINMENT		CHARACTERIZATION
Reference	NSAIDs	Consideratio n of Multiple Drug Use	Number of categories	Dose	Roule	Duration	Method	Types of Drugs	Time Window
7- Sommerville et al. (86)	- NANSAIDs - Individual products*	Yes*	Dichotomous	No	No	No	Questionnaire Case notes and general practice records for those not directly questioned	Use	Day of interview for community controls Day of event for cases and hospital controls
8- Armstrong and Blower (87)	- Individuals products*	Yes*	Dichotomous	No	No	Yes	 Ouestioned by admitting physician GP record for those who died 	Use	1 month (although analyzed a duration of 3 years (?))
9- Beard et al. (87)	- Individuals products*	'Yes	Dicholomous	No	No	Yes (number of prescriptions)	Dalabase	Prescription	່າງ days
10- Henry et al. (87)	3 categories: - Aspirin - NSAIDs - Conticosteroids	Νο	Dichotomous	No	No	No	Clinical notes	Use	Week before admission
11- Smedley et al. (88)	Combined	No	Dichotomous	No	No	No	?	Ingestion	?
12- Jick et al. (87)	Individual products*	No	Dichotomous	No	No	Yes	Dalabase	Prescriptions for all outpatient drugs (incl. OTC)	90 days = current users (but went back ≥ 5 years for duration)
13- Carson et al. (87)	Combined	Yes (but excluded from study)	Dichotomous	Yes (low, medium, high)	No	Yes (number of prescriptions)	Database Billing data	Outpatient drugs dispensed	30 - 90 days

= Recorded but NOT considered in analyses



	DEELN				T I O I	<u> </u>	ASCE	отајим с N Т	
Reference	NSAIDs	Consideratio n of Multiple Drug Use	Number of categories	Dose	Route	Duration	Method	Types of Drugs	Time Window
14- Levy et al. (68)	3 categories: - Aspirin - Acetaminophen - Others	No	3 - Regular (₂ 4 days during 7 days before) - OccasIon3I - Discontinued (last use 8-90 days before)	No	No	Yes (frequency)	Questionnaire	Use of prescriptions for indications such as pain, headache, backache, fever, cough, colds, arthritis, muscle spasms, menstrual cramps, stomachache	90 days before index day
15- Guess et al. (88)	Combined	No	Dichotomous	No	No	No	Database	Prescribed medications	Variable time window <u>Smallest of:</u> 1. 30 days 2. Nbr. of days until next NSAID prescription 3. Nbr. of days to the end of 1983 4. Nbr. of days to date of death
16- Beardon et ai. (89)	5 Ibuprofen Indomethcain Naproxen Osmosin Piroxicam	Νο	Dichotomous	No	No	No	Database	Written prescriptions	Variable From date of first pres- cription to end of study period
17- Bigelow and Collins (68)	Individual products	No	2 - long-acting (half-life > 12 hours) - short-acting	Yes % of maximum recommended daily dose 3 categories: Full, thera- peutic, low	No	Yes (Control for individual period of observation)	Database	Bills for service received	1 episode = 30 days Total observation period variable for each patient (variable nbr. of episodes)

= Recorded but NOT considered in analyses



DEFINITION			Q U A	NTIFIC	ATION	ASCERTAINMENT		CHARACTERIZATIO N	
Reference	NSAIDs	Consideratio n of Multiple Drug Use	Number of categories	Dose	Route	Duration	Method	Types of Drugs	Time Window
18- Campbell and Steele (91)	Yes	No	Dichotomous	No	No	No	Case notes		On admission
19. Laporte et al. (91)	Yes	No	Dichotomous	Yes	No	No	Interview - Open questions and list of common symptoms to prompt - Relative invited to help to recall - Only Information confirmed by patient was collected	All	28 days before admission
20- Henry et al. (91)	Individual products* a) Combined b) Piroxicam vs other NSAIDs	No	Dichotomous	Yes*	No	Yes*	Interview - Mixture of open followed by closed questions	Use	Week before admission

21- Griffin et al. (91)	- Non aspirin NSAIDs - Individual products	Yes (sum doses)	4 <u>Current</u> : supply ending on or after Index date <u>Indeterminate</u> : supply ending 1-60 days before index date <u>Former</u> : px in 365 days before index date but supply ended > 60 days before index date <u>Non users</u> : No px in 365 days before Index date	Yes ADD = qty/days 4 categories 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 > 3.0 slandard doses	Νο	Yes {quantity, days)	Database	Prescriptions filled for outpatients and nursing home residents	365 days before Index date
22. Holvoet et al. (1991)	Individual products NANSAIDs ASA	No	Dichotomous	Yes ASA: <2g/week >2g/week	No	Yes < 1 week tweek-1mo. 1mo1year > 1 year Unknown	Interview	Prescriptions and OTC	7 days before admission

• = Recorded but NOT considered in analyses

Effect of	history	of	gastropathy	in	published	studies
-----------	---------	----	-------------	----	-----------	---------

Study	Definition of history	Relative risk (95% C.I.)		
Carson et al. (1987)	Preexisting abdominal conditions	1.5 (0.9-2.5)		
Laporte et al. (1991)	- Symptoms - Peptic ulcer disease - GI bleeding	2.6 (1.9- 3.5) 5.5 (2.8-11.0) 14.5 (7.5-28.2)		
Jick et al. (1987)	Cimetidine, antacids (markers for history)	5.1 (2.6-10.0)		
Holvoet et al. (1991)	Peptic ulcer disease	5.5 (3.2-9.6)		

Confounding by comedications

Study	Comedications	Association with gastropathy	Association with NSAIDs
Collier and Pain (1985)	corticosteroids	3.1 (1.4-6.7)	2.9 (1.3-6.7)
Carson et al. (1987)	anticoagulants corticosteroids	$\begin{array}{c} 2.8 & (1.4-5.6) \\ 1.4 & (0.8-2.2) \end{array}$	
Bigelow and Collins (1989)	anticoagulants and/or corticosteroids	1.7 (p<.001)	

* Crude estimate derived from published data

APPENDIX B

Descriptive analyses

Additional Tables

Causes of non-eligibility of cases by sex

Cause	Men	Women
Lower GI bleeding	18.6	23.8
Unconfirmed diagnosis	18.6	21.7
Chronic	15.0	19.6
Cancer of the GI tract	10.7	6.4
Past gastric surgery	7.9	3.7
Transfer	6.4	7.4
Allergic to ASA	5.0	3.2
Non-incident	2.9	1.6
Long-term or multiple	2.1	3.1
admissions in past		
3 years		
Alcoholism	1.4	0.0
Non-resident	0.7	0.5
Elective admission	0.7	0.5
Other pathologies	6.4	5.8
Total:	140	189

Causes of non-eligibility of cases by age group

<u>Age group</u>	Cause	Prequency (%)
68-69	Lower GI bleeding Unconfirmed diag. Cancer of GI tract	18.9 18.9 10.8
70-74	Chronic Lower GI bleeding Transfer	18.0 17.0 13.0
75-79	Unconfirmed diag. Lower GI bleeding Chronic	23.1 22.0 20.9
80-84	Lower GI bleeding Unconfirmed diag. Chronic	26.6 23.4 18.8
<u>></u> 85	Unconfirmed diag. Lower GI bleeding Chronic	33.3 25.0 13.9



Causes of non-eligibility of controls by sex

		Percent	causes
		<u>Men</u>	<u>women</u>
Chronic		26.8	28.3
Cancer of the GI trad	ct	14.2	18.8
Past gastric surgery		11.8	5.8
Transfer		8.7	14.2
Non-resident		4.7	4.2
Allergic to ASA		3.9	8.3
Long-term or multiple	2	3.9	1.7
admissions in past			
3 years			
Cancer of site		3.9	2.5
related to admission	on dx		
Elective admission		3.9	0.0
Non-incident		2.4	2.5
Error of diagnostic	code	1.6	0.8
Past surgery for		0.8	0.8
current admission			
Cirrhosis		0.8	1.7
Lower GI bleeding		0.0	0.8
Unconfirmed diagnosi	s	0.0	1.7
······································			
	Total:	127	120

.

Main causes of non-eligibility of controls by age group

<u>Age group</u>	Cause	Frequency (%)
68-69	Chronic Transfer	28.6
	Past stomach surgery	14.3
70-74	Chronic Transfer	33.7 10.1
	Allergic to ASA	9.0
75-79	Chronic Transfer Cancer of the GI tract	25.5 14.6 14.6
80-84	Cancer of the GI tract Chronic Gastropathy	31.0 28.6 11.9
≥ 85	Cancer of the GI tract Past stomach surgery Transfer Chronic	22.9 14.3 11.4 11.4

.

Main causes of non-eligibility of controls by hospital

Hospital	Cause	Frequency (%)
RVH	Chronic Allergic to ASA Past stomach surgery	29.0 18.4 13.2
HND	Chronic Transfer Unknown reason	36.2 15.9 13.0
HMR	Chronic Transfer Cancer of the GI tract	37.5 18.1 9.7
JGH	Cancer of the GI tract Past stomach surgery Diag. of gastropathy	30.9 16.2 13.2



* RVH = Royal-Victoria Hospital
 HND = Hôpital Notre-Dame
 HMR = Hôpital Maisonneuve-Rosemont
 JGH = Jewish General Hospital

Distribution of case principal diagnosis

Number of cases		<u> </u>
Gastric ulcer	72	29.0
Duodenal ulcer	67	27.0
GI bleeding	27	10.9
Gastroduodenitis	13	4.2
Peptic ulcer	6	2.4
Other	63	25.4
	248	



.

Distribution of case principal diagnoses other than upper GI bleeding

Number of cases		<u>% cases</u>
CVD	16	25.4
Respiratory	10	1.6
other GI disorders	10	1.6
Malignant tumours 6 (excl. GI)		9.5
Mental disorders	4	6.3
Endocrinologic	3	4.8
Others	14	22.2
	63	

Other GI disorders included:

Number of cases

.

Oesophagitis	3
Pyloric stenosis	1
Metaplasia of	1
intestinal mucosa	
Hernia with	1
occlusion	
Intestinal adhesion	1
Alcoholic lesion	1
of the liver	
Acute pancreatitis	1
Chronic peptic ulcer	1
Total:	10

Distribution of comorbidity of men and women

	\$	Comorbidity	
	Men	-	Women
CVD*	29.01		26.43
Respiratory	9.77		7.53
Other GI	9.77		7.38
Endocrinologic	7.14		8.35
Genito-urinary	6.57		5.56
Sensory organs	5.83		7.34
Trauma	5.04		5.90
Osteo-muscular	4.21		7.25
Mental	3.29		3.75
Infection	2.19		2.70
Tumour	2.15		1.26
Hematologic	2.10		3.16
UGIB	1.40		1.35
Gast/Duod.	1.31		1.43
Gastric ulcer	0.83		0.72
Duodenal ulcer	0.61		0.25
Dermatologic	0.57		1.56
Peptic ulcer	0.44		0.13
Other	7.76		7.80

* Cardio-vascular disease ** Other gastro-intestinal disorder
Medical history

comparison between men and women

Percentage
Women
18.8
11.5
9.0
11.1
7.6
6.0
8.3
2.0

* Cardio-vascular disease





	<u>All NSAIDs</u>	<u>NANSAIDs[*]</u>	<u>ASA</u>
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Cases	145 (59.4)	115 (47.1)	88 (36.1)
Controls	362 (58.9)	267 (43.4)	188 (30.6)
Men	258 (60.4)	177 (41.5)	155 (36.3)
Women	249 (57.6)	205 (47.5)	121 (28.0)
68-69	35 (46.7)	32 (42.7)	16 (21.3)
70-74	130 (64.7)	103 (51.2)	74 (36.8)
75-79	166 (60.6)	118 (43.1)	96 (35.0)
80-84	108 (60.3)	80 (44.7)	55 (30.7)
≥85	68 (52.3)	49 (37.7)	35 (26.9)
Total:	507 (59.0)	382 (44.4)	276 (32.1)

Distribution of past NSAID use, between 31 days and 3 years prior to admission

* Non-aspirin NSAIDs

	<u>No.patients</u>	<pre>% study population</pre>	
Cases	44	18.0	
Controls	61	9.9	
Men	51	11.9	
Women	54	12.5	
68-69	11	14.7	
70-74	34	12.4	
75-79	34	12.4	
80-84	18	10.1	
≥ 85	8	6.2	
Total:	105	12.2	

Exposure to protective agents within 30 days prior to admission

Distribution of duration non-aspirin NSAIDs

between 31 and 365 days prior to admission

Neve	r ex	s sosed ≤	hort Term 30 days	Intermediate <u>31-120 days</u>	Long-term <u>>120 days</u>
Cases	164	(67.2)	15 (6.2)	32 (13.1)	33 (13.5)
Controls	464	(75.5)	59 (9.6)	53 (8.6)	39 (6.3)
Men	324	(75.9)	37 (8.7)	43 (10.1)	23 (5.4)
Women	304	(70.4)	37 (8.6)	42 (9.7)	49 (11.3)
68-69	57	(76.0)	5 (6.7)	8 (10.7)	5 (6.7)
70-74	137	(68.2)	19 (9.5)	22 (11.0)	23 (11.4)
75-79	200	(73.0)	28 (10.2)	26 (9.5)	20 (7.3)
80-84	134	(74.9)	15 (8.4)	15 (8.4)	15 (8.4)
≥ 85	100	(76.9)	7 (5.4)	14 (10.8)	9 (6.9)
Total:	628		74	85	72



Distribution of patients who switched non-aspirin NSAIDs between 31 and 365 days before admission

	Nbr. Switchers	past NANSAID users	<u>Percent</u>
Cases	20	80	25.0
Controls	30	151	19.9
Men	18	103	17.5
Women	32	128	25.0
68-69	2	18	11.1
70-74	15	64	23.4
75-79	13	74	17.6
80-84	10	45	22.2
≥ 85	10	30	33.3
Total:	50	231	21.6

* Patients who were exposed to non-aspirin NSAIDs between 31 and 365 days prior to admission.

Description of switches between forms of administration

between 31 and 365 days prior to admission

Product	Type of switch	<u>No. switches</u>
Indomethacin	Caps> L.A. ca L.A. caps> Caps. Supp> Caps. Caps. L.A> Supp. Supp> Caps. I	aps. 4 3 3 1
Naproxen	Tabl> Supp. Supp> Tabl.	l l
Piroxicam	Caps> Supp. Supp> Caps.	1 1
Ketoprofen	L.A. tabl> Supp.	1 17

